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Chair’s Introduction 
Dr Janet Walker, Governing Body Chair 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“To bridge the significant 

health inequalities of our 

population, especially within 

financial austerity,  

necessitates organisations 

working differently” 

We are pleased to welcome you to this 

second annual report for the NHS South 

Tees Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG). It has been a year of change, 

with new beginnings and some things 

drawing to a close.  Notably, Dr Henry 

Waters retired as our clinical Chair and 

we wish him well for a very happy 

retirement. 

We are proud to be able to celebrate 

the progress of the IMProVE (Integrated 

Management and Proactive Care for the 

Vulnerable and Elderly) programme 

through 2014. After public consultation 

during the summer the Governing Body 

made the decision to take forward the 

phased approach to improving 

community care over the next few 

years. We now have a stroke early 

supported discharge team in place that 

is enabling patients to get home from 

hospital sooner with the support of a 

dedicated team of therapy staff. Our 

post-acute stroke rehabilitation for 

those not able to go home has been 

centralised onto the site at Redcar 

Primary Care Hospital with dedicated 

staff and its excellent gym and 

hydrotherapy facilities. These 

developments would not have been 

possible without a strong enhanced 

working relationship with our health and 

social care partners, to whom we extend 

our appreciation. The IMProVE 

programme demonstrated that working 

together, standing shoulder to shoulder 

with a shared goal across organisations 

to develop and support change to 

improve 

care can 

make real positive differences for 

patients. The centralisation of stroke 

rehabilitation to Redcar saw the closure 

of Carter Bequest Hospital in April 2015. 

We thank the staff for their many years 

of dedicated service and wish them well 

in their new roles.  

This year our report has followed a 

theme of integration, recognising that 

the way forward to bridge the 

significant health inequalities of our 

population, especially within financial 

austerity, necessitates organisations 

working differently. This has many 

strands including the formation of an 

Integration Programme Board that aims 

to develop a more effective approach 

to multi-agency working, with a 

particular focus on the support of the 

frail elderly.   

Through a variety of innovative 

approaches our GP integration leads 

have developed stronger relationships 

between GPs and hospital consultant 

colleagues to increase the 

understanding and knowledge of life in 

primary and secondary care, to work 

together to develop better pathways of 

care for patients and to share 

knowledge and improve patient care 

through education.   

Enhancing the medical professional 

community is just one of the actions 

that we have in place to respond to the
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national recognised workforce pressures within primary 

care and aid clinical recruitment and retention. We 

have been developing our primary care strategy 

gathering input from our clinical and practice staff 

working on the ground. We believe that strong 

sustainable general practices are a fundamental 

cornerstone of effective primary and community care 

provision. Without this there will not be the effective 

frontline communities of care that the health and social 

care system needs to deliver care and be able to 

respond to the increasing demands of an aging 

population with increasing need. 

Our public consultation events around IMProVE helped 

us to develop our partnership with patients and the 

public of South Tees. We have strengthened our 

relationship with our member practice patient 

participation groups and have continued to grow our 

membership of my NHS.  We will be working hard next 

year to have even greater public involvement with our 

commissioning functions which will include a new 

Patient Participation Advisory Group and increased use 

of social media to widen those we reach. 

Financially the CCG has performed well against its 

budgetary target achieving a 2.1 % surplus, showing 

effective stewardship of the ‘South Tees pound’.  

Bucking the national trend, we have seen a 3.9% 

reduction in emergency admissions compared to last 

year. 

We have seen a rise in the number of cases of the 

healthcare acquired infection Clostridium difficile (C. 

difficile) in our hospital and in the community. We 

continue to work closely with our providers of services 

in the acute hospital setting to reduce this, but 

recognise it as a whole system issue. C. difficile is linked 

to antibiotic choice and usage and we have planned a 

quality engagement scheme for 2015/16 working with 

our member practices to use antibiotics appropriately. 

To be successful there needs to be a greater public 

understanding that antibiotics are not effective against 

vital infections, and that patients have a role to play in 

not expecting or demanding them. A variety of patient 

and public education materials will accompany the 

scheme.  

Looking to the year ahead, in addition to our 

commissioning of secondary care we will take every 

opportunity to strengthen our primary care 

infrastructure. We will work closely with NHS England 

through joint committee arrangements for primary 

care co-commissioning.  We are also very proud to be 

able to support the South Tees Access and Response 

scheme, a successful bid by our member practices for 

£2.9 million funding from the Prime Minister’s 

Challenge Fund, which will really gain momentum in 

2015/16. Under the scheme GP practices will work 

together to provide integrated urgent care during early 

evenings and at weekends. This may be the foundation 

of future working, with benefits for patients and 

practices.  

Dr Janet Walker 

Governing Body Chair 

 

28 May 2015 
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What we bring to the table are 

core general practice values. The 

ability to anticipate the needs of 

our patients, putting the patient at 

the centre of our decision making 

is second nature to us.  

The CCG is evolving.  

As member practices, we are becoming more familiar 

with the new roles that we have had to adopt. It has 

been uncomfortable at times, and life changing for 

some general practitioners, but I feel we are becoming stronger and more 

self-aware.  

Working with the CCG has provided an opportunity for all member practices 

and general practitioners to meet each other, to put faces to names and 

voices to opinions and has created a better understanding in our fraternity. 

We have had interesting, productive and sometimes amusing times at our 

Clinical Council of Members meetings. It is comforting to see a room full of 

colleagues facing the same dilemmas that we all face in our own consulting 

rooms, weary from morning surgeries and visits yet up for the challenges that 

NHS management presents.  I have seen a real strength in our shared 

knowledge and problem solving and I am sure our ability to adapt to future 

changes in the NHS comes in part from our ability to work as a coherent 

group. I hope people feel empowered enough to speak freely at our Clinical 

Council of Members meetings.  It is often those with the quietest voices that 

have the most valuable insights into strategies –do “speak up”.  

Although we may struggle with the politics, the ‘management speak’ and the 

understanding of the complex web that is the organisational structure of the 

NHS, what we bring to the table are core general practice values. The ability to 

anticipate the needs of our patients, putting the patient at the centre of our 

decision making is second nature to us. We are naturally austere and have 

always managed with the resources that are available to deliver care of a 

standard that has led for many practices to higher year on year patient 

satisfaction. I do not think there is any other strand in the NHS that would be 

able to deliver on those parameters as successfully as we have.   

This ‘new’ way of working has undoubtedly been challenging for all the 

management staff who have coped admirably with the idiosyncrasies of the 

member practices. Throughout the entire hierarchy of the CCG, I have found 

every tier of staff professional, friendly, resourceful and patient.  Thank you for 

your efforts. 

It has been exciting to see the CCG promote innovation and support practices 

through various funded programmes that have been made available over the 

last 12 months.  There have been a number of local enhanced services that 
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have been very appropriate and relevant to general 

practice quality outcome measures and they have been 

adopted successfully throughout member practices 

and that has been very refreshing.  It is very exciting 

that members of our CCG have secured funding from 

the Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund to improve access 

in general practice and everyone who has been 

involved should be congratulated.  I hope this proves 

to be a catalyst for more engagement and gives us all 

more opportunity to work together. 

The CCG has tried very hard in engaging with 

secondary care and encouraging “cross-pollination” 

between colleagues at various events.  I feel it is really 

important that we understand the pressures of 

secondary care better and they become more aware of 

the real pressures that general practice face and I hope 

that we can engage with all providers to produce a 

balanced healthcare economy in the area.   

My work for our member practices as the south of Tees 

decision maker for the funding panel has highlighted 

issues around patient expectation, available treatment 

and what is accessible locally. The NHS needs to care 

for those in need, in a timely way, delivering high 

quality care that is free at the point of delivery - there 

is no question of that. The challenge is for both 

primary and secondary care to be able to fulfil this 

promise within the resources that are available.  

As General Practitioners, it feels that we are being 

pulled in every direction by numerous agencies and 

more is requested from us with no hint of additional 

resources. However, we must dig deep and create time 

to engage with our CCG. We have been given this 

opportunity to influence change towards sensible, 

patient-centred outcomes. 

Dr Tony Chahal 

GP, Linthorpe Surgery 

Hon Lecturer in Medicine, University of Durham 

Independent Chair of the Clinical Council of Members 

meetings in 2014/15.  

 

6 May 2015 
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Strategic Report 
Amanda Hume, Chief Officer 

We are pleased to present our strategic report which sets out who we are; describes 

our organisation and what we do; how we deliver on our duties as well as and sharing our priorities. It 

also describes the way we are working to deliver our priorities, engaging with partners and the public to 

make improvements in local services for the people of Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland 

highlighting our role in the communities we serve, as well as our role as a local employer. 

 

About us 

The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is an NHS 

organisation licensed from 1 April 2013 under 

provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 

2012, which amended the NHS Act 2006. We are 

responsible for commissioning healthcare for the 

population registered with GP practices within the 

boundaries of Middlesbrough Council and Redcar and 

Cleveland Council. We are also responsible for the 

population living within the boundaries of these two 

local authorities who are not registered with a GP 

practice.   

We are a membership organisation made up of all GP 

practices in Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland, 

spanning a population of 292,342. Our budget is 

£403.5 million which equates to £1,380 per person. In 

2013/14 there were 49 member practices in 

Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland; following 

review and public consultation led by NHS England, the 

number of practices across Middlesbrough and Redcar 

and Cleveland was reduced to 46 with patients from 

these practices registering at nearby GP surgeries.   

We commission a specific set of healthcare services 

that include; 

 General non-specialised planned inpatient and day 

case hospital services 

 General non-specialised urgent care services from 

hospitals and walk-in centres, NHS 111 and local 

‘out of hours’  services 

 General non-specialised maternity and children’s 

services 

 Community services 

 Non-specialised mental health services 

 Continuing health care and free nursing care 

services 

 Medicines prescribed by the GP practices within 

the CCG boundary 

 Other non-specialised diagnostic and treatment 

services such as x-ray or hearing aid services 

Of the services that we do not commission the majority 

are commissioned by NHS England including; 

 Specialised services  

 Primary care services, GP services, Dentists, 

Opticians and Pharmacists 

 Oral surgery and dental services from hospitals 

 Healthcare for members of the armed forces  

 Healthcare for people in prison 

Specialised services are those that are typically 

provided in less than 50 hospitals in England. 

Definitions of the services are listed on the NHS 

England website. 

Public Health England is the national body responsible 

for commissioning screening, vaccination services, as 

well as Health Visitor services. Local public health 

services are commissioned by the local authorities. 

Our Priorities  

Our responsibility for commissioning starts with 

assessing the needs of the population and then 

planning services to meet identified needs. Services are 



Strategic Report: Introduction 

9 

 

secured through contracts with the organisations that 

provide health services. We then monitor those 

services through the contracts to ensure high quality 

care is delivered. 

In the South Tees area we face some big health 

challenges.  These include: 

 Overall health inequalities with significant 

differences in the health of some groups within our 

population 

 Heart disease and stroke 

 Cancer 

 Illnesses caused by smoking 

 Illnesses caused by alcohol 

 Managing hospital admissions and demand within 

primary care services 

 Financial pressures 

This is an overview of how the CCG spent our allocated 

budget for 2013/14 to deliver the best possible health 

services and health outcomes for local people.  

 

To tackle the health challenges our population face we 

have developed a clear vision to improve health 

together, working with our local partners. 

We continue to work closely with our two Health and 

Wellbeing Boards, in Middlesbrough and Redcar and 

Cleveland.  We have already produced and published a 

Clear and Credible Plan which sets out our five year 

commitment to tackling health inequalities and 

improving the health of local people. The plan is 

aligned to the health and wellbeing strategies that 

have been developed by the Boards in the two 

localities. This year we have each committed to 

working in a more integrated way to transform the way 

local health and social care services are delivered and 

together this year we established an Integration 

Programme Board to drive forward this work.  More 

details about this Board and the important work 

partners are doing can be found on page 11. 

This year we refreshed our corporate objectives; these 

are our strategic high level goals that set out our 

ambitions and importantly how we will achieve them. 

We developed the objectives so that we could measure 

progress throughout the year enabling our Governing 

Body to receive assurance updates that describe the 

progress that the CCG is making against the delivery of 

our objectives. 

Our strategic objectives are to: 

 improve the quality, safety and patient experiences 

of commissioned services 

 develop a primary care strategy promoting the role 

of primary care in the broader health and social 

care economy 

 develop as an organisation engaging with local 

people and our member practices 

 deliver financial balance reducing waste and 

increasing productivity  

 develop and implement plans for out of hospital 

care  

 maximise healthy life expectancy and independent 

living  by developing innovative, integrated health 

and social care services  

 improve opportunities for planned care through 

the development of an urgent care strategy 

enabling access to right care at the right time  

Progress against these objectives along with indicators 

of performance and risk are reviewed by the Governing 

Body.  

Our organisational model 

Our CCG is built around our GP member practices, led 

by the Governing Body. This includes six GPs elected 

by the member practices; an executive nurse and a 

retired secondary care doctor; as well as two lay 

members; the Chief Officer and a Chief Finance Officer. 

Commissioned Services 2014/15 

Other Expenditure £5.41M 

NHS Services 

£278.86M 

Non-NHS 

Services 

£57.02M 

Prescribing 

£51.92M 
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The clinicians form the majority of the Governing Body 

membership meaning that they lead and shape local 

commissioning. 

We have a small team of 18 core staff; 15 we directly 

employ (including our Chief Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer) and three members of our quality team which 

we share with our neighbouring CCG, NHS Hartlepool 

and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group.  

We purchase a wide range of support functions, which 

enables us to deliver our duties and plans from a 

commissioning support unit (North of England 

Commissioning Support). This organisation spans the 

North East and Cumbria which enables us to achieve 

value for money by providing the traditional back office 

functions at scale. It also means that we can draw upon 

knowledgeable and experienced commissioning 

support experts from across the region and best 

practice from other CCG organisations.  

Further information on our management functions is 

provided in the governance statement on page 86  of 

this report.
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What do we mean by integration? 

This is when a number of organisations come together with a shared 

vision to deliver care for local people.  Systems and processes are 

developed that work well together rather than conflict with each other 

and duplicate. All organisations keep the person receiving care, their 

experience and their outcomes at the centre of their unique and 

collective contribution to care.  

 

Focus on: Integration 

Integration: Improving Health Together 

 

 

 

“For any public service 

concerned with protecting 

people, ensuring there is 

joined up working for our 

most vulnerable people is 

critical. The concordat 

working group has helped 

erase organisational 

boundaries and understand 

what needs to be done from 

the perspective of those who 

need the service. The 

relationships that have been 

built will, I am sure, deliver 

the improvements that we all 

seek” 

Simon Nickless, Assistant 

Chief Constable, Cleveland 

Police 

Our vision as a CCG has always been to improve health together; we recognised 

from the outset we could not achieve the best for our local population without  

working with our partners in health, social care, housing and the voluntary and 

community sector to name but a few. In an increasingly complex health and social 

care system and a challenging economy, the case for taking an integrated 

approach to deliver health and social care has never been more compelling.  

Integration Programme Board  

To support delivery of our vision and plans, with our partners we made strides this 

year in laying the foundations for establishing and commissioning an integrated 

health and social system across Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland. This 

work is driven by the Chief Executives of local health and social care organisations 

through an Integration Programme Board. Chaired by the CCG Chief Officer, each 

organisation has made a commitment to delivering this vision of high quality, 

integrated services for local people.   

Together through the Board we are working towards all care being planned care 

and the system we create will be person centred, focusing on prevention, control 

and choice; have integrated health and social care pathways; reduce duplication, 

delays and gaps with improved information sharing; ensure good arrangements for 

safeguarding and management of risk whilst promoting independence; drive 

improvement and innovation through joint commissioning and remain focused on 

ensuring care and compassion for people using our services.  

Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat  

The Concordat is a joint statement from national bodies including NHS England, 

the Care Quality Commission, Mind, the Home Office, the Local Government 

Association and the Association of Chief Police Officers. It sets out what people in 

mental health crisis should expect of public services. It outlines key principles and 

priorities and calls on local public services to work together on their own mental 

health crisis declaration and putting in place the necessary services to support these 

aims.
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To support delivery of the Concordat, the CCG’s Chief 

Officer and the Chief Constable of Cleveland Police 

have established a Task and Finish Group with 

representatives from primary and secondary 

healthcare services, public health, local authorities, 

ambulance services, Cleveland Fire Brigade and the 

voluntary sector to plan and implement changes for 

the benefit of people experiencing mental health 

crises. 

The group has put together an initial action plan and 

started work on understanding how preventative 

measures can be put in place to help the most 

vulnerable people in local communities and stop crises 

escalating using case studies, sharing key information 

and intelligence across agencies for the benefit of 

those in crisis. 

Much work is already ongoing to improve care in this 

area, including a Tees-wide investment in an open 

access Crisis Assessment Suite at Roseberry Park 

Hospital in Middlesbrough and the development of a 

dedicated crisis service for children and young people. 

Integration between primary and secondary 

care 

This year we appointed Dr Heather Wetherell and Dr 

John Bye as our Integration Leads for Primary and 

Secondary Care. They have begun work to create the 

arrangements for better understanding across 

organisational boundaries, and improvements in this 

important working relationship. 

 

 

“Imagine a health service where GPs and consultants treat 

each other with mutual respect; understand the challenges 

that each of them face in their respective roles; and work 

together to deliver excellence in patient care through a 

seamless service. Our aim is to improve communication, 

relationships and continuity between primary and 

secondary care with the common goal of optimising 

outcomes for the patients we share.”  

Dr John Bye and Dr Heather Wetherell, Primary-

Secondary Care Integration Leads 

The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat Task Group 
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Strategic Report: Review of the year 
The rest of this report describes what we have achieved this year, the risks and challenges we have faced as well 

as describing some of our plans for the year ahead. 

How did we do? 

We have performed well in a number of areas though 

we always aim to do better. In addition to our locally 

defined commitments, we have delivered on the 

statutory duties placed upon us under the NHS Act 

2006; for details as to how we delivered on duties 

relating to quality improvement see page 26, 

reducing health inequalities see page 20, 33-34 and 

public involvement see page 49.  

Our focus on our corporate objectives (see page 9) 

has been maintained throughout the year and good 

progress has been made particularly in relation to 

partnership working to improve health and wellbeing, 

reflected in the implementation of our Better Care 

Fund plans resulting in an in-year reduction of risk in 

relation to the delivery of these plans. However, we 

have faced challenges with regards to the delivery of 

our objectives regarding quality and safety. Our 

commissioned service providers have continued to 

report healthcare acquired infections and clearly 

there is more we need to do to reduce infection. We 

have also continued to experience pressures during 

the winter months; however as a health and social 

care system we generally coped with these seasonal 

pressures well (see page 19 for more information). 

We have performed well with regards to emergency 

admissions, waiting times for elective (planned) care 

and cancer care – exceeding nationally set targets for 

maximum waiting times in many areas – exceeding 

performance in all cases for cancer services waits. At 

some times throughout the year, when there is 

typically less pressure on services, every single person 

in South Tees referred for cancer care received that 

care within the nationally set waiting times (see pages 

35-44 for details).  

However, we were not successful in reaching our 

ambition and performance measures relating to 

healthcare acquired infections. We had five cases of 

MRSA last year in our commissioned services and at 

our local hospital for the second year the trajectory 

for C. difficile was also exceeded. We have monitored 

and scrutinized the Trust’s C. difficile recovery plan, 

which has been informed by external reviews and the 

Trust’s commitment to deliver harm-free care. We will 

continue to seek assurance that adequate steps are 

put in place to reduce the number of healthcare 

associated infections 

Furthermore, this year our ambulance services failed 

to meet the nationally set response time in around 

1.5% of calls. The principal contributing factor has 

been a lack of staff capacity. In order to remedy this, 

the ambulance service has recruited more 

paramedics, secured additional ambulance crews 

from third party providers, increased the number of 

students it trains, and begun work to change the skill 

set of Paramedics and Emergency Care Technicians. 

Finally, our mental health services have continued to 

ensure people are cared for using the care 

programme approach (CPA) which ensures 

collaborative assessment, planning, coordination and 

reviews of mental health care and recovery. There has 

been continued progress, improving upon work 

undertaken last year with 99% of people in 2014/15 

using mental health services now having care 

planned and managed in this way.  

We have delivered a 2.1% surplus at the end of our 

first year. Throughout 2014/15, we have applied 

good financial governance principles enabling us to 

meet the health needs of local people delivered 

through our commissioned services as well as 

releasing additional resource to support our second 
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Community Innovations Fund, investing over £400k in 

community based services for local people doubling 

our investment from the previous year with 200k 

allocated exclusively for mental health innovations 

initiatives.  

In 2013/14 we achieved 50% of our quality premium 

which rewards efforts to tackle key priorities and this 

has released funds for us to invest in local health 

services; as a result we received £684,775 to invest 

locally. At time of writing the forecast is that we will 

again partially achieve the quality premium for 

2014/15; however, the some of the data upon which 

our final performance is measured will not be 

available September 2015. Further details can be 

found on page 44.  

None of this could be achieved without effective 

partnership working which is crucial to all that we do.  

In addition, to meet our duties regarding promoting 

research and innovation to transform local services 

we established a Primary Care Research and 

Innovation Fund. We supported five exciting new 

initiatives developed by local GPs to improve the care 

and treatment they give to their patients. These were 

research in the areas of drug and alcohol addiction; 

and prehabilitation – helping patients get ready for 

surgery at the point of referral to improve their 

outcomes. In addition, we supported innovative 

approaches to improving access to and advice from 

primary care such as online GP consultations and 

digital patient information and advice.  

We will evaluate the impact of these new ways of 

working in 2015/16 and if there are significant 

benefits to patients we would look to implement or 

commission some of these initiatives across 

Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland.      

Working with our membership 

We have continued to work with and engage our 

membership to ensure that all of the GPs, nurses, 

allied health professionals and practice managers 

have had opportunity to influence the commissioning 

and delivery of services for their patient population.  

For a second year, the Chair and Chief Officer have 

visited each of our practices to talk with our members 

about their experience of clinical commissioning and 

the local NHS and social care system. We get 

valuable insight into the quality of care provided to 

local people and ideas for how we could further 

improve the services we commission.   

We have continued to have well attended quarterly 

Clinical Council of Members meetings, bringing 

together all practices to engage in commissioning 

matters and the group is independently chaired by a 

non-Governing Body clinician. This year, we have met 

five times and have  

 Regularly discussed our plans for the 

significant transformation of services for the 

vulnerable and elderly to bring care closer to 

where people live  

 Held a series of clinical debates focusing on 

matters such as access to primary care, and 

community nursing services 

 Considered the impact of orthopaedic service 

pressures 

 Explored co-commissioning opportunities 

 Reviewed and refreshed our constitution to 

enable us to enter in to co-commissioning  

 Received the CCG Annual Report 2013/14 

 Agreed succession planning arrangements for 

the Governing Body 

 

Responding to feedback from our practice managers 

we have implemented a fortnightly ‘Headlines’ 

bulletin which shares information about 

commissioning matters with our practices, including 

opportunities to help shape our work and share 

progress on work clinical colleagues are taking 

forward on their behalf.  
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Focus on: IMProVE 
 

Bringing care closer to home 

The number of people who are elderly, vulnerable and living with a long-

term condition in South Tees is increasing.  Over the next seven years the 

number of people aged over 65 will increase by 20%.  It is good news that 

people are living longer.  However, older people experience more ill health than other groups which represents a 

challenge for our CCG but also an opportunity to improve the way we care for our elderly population.  In our area 

we know that elderly and vulnerable people go into hospital more often than in other parts of the country.  

People spend longer there than they need to because we don’t currently have enough support available in the 

community.   

Over the last two years, we have therefore been working closely with key partners in health and social care across 

Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland to agree a joint vision and develop plans to improve services for the 

vulnerable and elderly. Working with partners and talking to local people about what they want from local 

services, we were able to develop proposals to take forward a new model 

of care, bringing care closer to home. These proposals are to be taken 

forward in a carefully managed way over the next two years, making step-

by-step decisions about the changes we are making and the impact that 

they have on patients before continuing to the next step.  Changes 

include: 

 Stroke rehabilitation  - delivered in line with national best practice  

 Step up in-patient care - beds for elderly patients requiring 

stabilisation or treatment in order to avoid deterioration and potential acute hospital admission  

 Step down in-patient care - high quality packages of planned care supporting vulnerable adults in effective 

recovery and reablement 

 An assessment hub - where elderly patients could be quickly assessed and diagnosed.  

 Community based medical day treatments - where treatments such as intravenous therapies and cancer 

therapies can be delivered closer to patients’ homes. 

 A greater range of outpatient clinics - with supporting diagnostics to help clinicians make quicker diagnoses 

and reduce travelling for patients. 

 Improved palliative/end of life care - where the individual’s preferred place of death would be in hospital, 

buildings will be conducive to providing privacy and dignity for individuals and their carers. 

This work has resulted in a number of changes to the care provided for local people, the way clinicians and 

support staff work and to our local community. 

Making better use of our community estate 

Not all of our four community hospitals were designed to provide the modern flexible health services local people 

now require.  Two of our hospitals have high running and maintenance costs and would need a large amount of 

money invested in them to bring them up to modern standards.   Our community beds and facilities are under-

used, costing us around £1.9 million.  We therefore set out proposals to support better utilisation of our estate, 

Integrated Management 

and Proactive Care for 

the Vulnerable and 

Elderly 

IMProVE 
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transferring some community services in order to enhance care and closing 

buildings which are not fit for the future.   The money saved from underutilised 

space and high maintenance costs will be reinvested directly into patient services.  

Carter Bequest Hospital closed on the 31 March 2015 with services transferring to 

other community venues.  Under-utilised minor injury services at East Cleveland and 

Guisborough have now transferred to Redcar Primary Care Hospital in order to 

provide a 24/7 doctor led service with additional x-ray opening. 

 

Transferring services from an acute to a community setting 

We are working with South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (FT) to identify a 

greater range of out-patient clinics and medical day treatments that could be safely 

and efficiently delivered in a community setting.  Implementation will be phased 

enabling more patients to receive diagnosis and treatment at local venues. In the 

autumn we are planning to pilot a new community assessment unit based in Redcar 

Primary Care Hospital.  The unit, staffed by a multi-disciplinary team of consultants, 

nurses, therapists and social workers, will provide rapid assessment, diagnosis and 

appropriate management for elderly patients who have become ill and need early 

support and treatment to avoid deterioration.  

 

Transforming stroke services - Early Supported Discharge  

Stroke services provided by South Tees Hospitals NHS FT are highly rated nationally 

but there were areas that need to be improved in line with best practice.  National 

guidance recommends one dedicated unit for rehabilitation and stroke therapy to 

be delivered at home to enable early discharge and better recovery.  In South Tees, 

patients received in-patient rehabilitation in a number of different units and 

specialist stroke therapy was not available in patients’ homes.  

On 1 April 2015 commissioned stroke services and rehabilitation teams were 

centralised at Redcar Primary Care Hospital, making it a centre of excellence for 

stroke rehabilitation with dedicated beds, specialist staff and excellent facilities.  Staff 

are reporting that by bringing specialist teams on one site, they have more time to 

care for patients. 

Less ‘complex’ stroke patients can now also receive rehabilitation at home instead 

of in hospital through the new community stroke therapy scheme, known as the 

Early Supported Discharge Team. The service is expected to benefit up to 40% of 

patients admitted to hospital with a stroke   

Staff from occupational therapy, physiotherapy, speech and language therapy and 

dietetics visit each patient in their own home as appropriate.  Patients who are well 

enough return home from hospital much faster and receive up to six weeks of 

therapy in the familiarity and comfort of their own home. They will receive the same 

intensity of therapy that they would have been given in hospital. Treatment will be 

based around each individual’s needs and normal routine. This may include 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“I’m proud to be a pioneer. 

Everything is familiar here 

and we are not limited to 

walking 50 yards down a 

busy hospital corridor.” 

Michael Paranics, the first 

patient to take advantage of 

the Stroke Early Supported 

Discharge service 
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rehabilitation for mobility, communication, swallowing difficulties, personal care and 

meal/drinks preparation as well as emotional support. 

Michael Paranics of Redcar was the first patient to take advantage of the new 

service. The retired ICI worker suffered a heart attack while on holiday in India in 

February. Following his return home and admission to The James Cook University 

Hospital in Middlesbrough, he was also treated for a stroke which has affected his 

peripheral vision. A week later he was discharged and receiving rehabilitation 

therapy in the comfort of his own home thanks to the new stroke ESD scheme. 

Michael was only too happy to be the first to take advantage of the service, and his 

wife Anne said having him back at home had certainly helped to speed up his 

recovery: “I think familiarity gives you confidence.” 

 

 

 

 

Mr Paranics taking part in therapy at his home following his 

stroke 
Many thanks to South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for use of the case 

study. 
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Strategic Report: Risks and challenges 
However, this year has not been without its challenges.  We have identified a number of risks that have the 

potential to adversely impact on the delivery of our duties and plans. They include the following risks:  

 Adverse impact on quality of care if providers cannot manage the incidences of C. difficile, together with the 

CCG’s contribution to reducing C. difficile via primary care. 

 Intercollegiate guidance requires greater involvement of GPs in Children’s Safeguarding.  

 Staffing pressures and high levels of restitution requests in the Continuing Healthcare Team could impact 

upon the service delivery. 

 Surges in activity throughout the year could negatively impact the performance of providers with potential 

impact on service quality and the CCG’s reputation. 

 Agreed QIPP plans fail to deliver reductions in unplanned care. 

 Uncertainty of impact upon the CCG of the Commissioner Requested Service process. 

 Potential impact on quality and access of services across the broader health economy as a result of main 

provider’s financial challenges. 

 Inability to transform primary care system if the established joint working arrangements for the Better Care 

Fund fail to deliver agreed schemes. 

 Inability to adequately engage with the public on the development of our commissioning intentions and 

subsequent decision making. 

We have plans in place to reduce the likelihood and impact of these risks and we have kept these risks under 

close review throughout the year. More detail can be found in our Annual Governance Statement on page 86.
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Some of the schemes to 

manage pressures 

included: 

 Communication campaign 

 Children's ailment booklet 

 Seasonal Ailment Scheme  

 GP in A&E at JCUH and 

Redcar Primary Care Hospital 

with HCA support  

 12 ‘Time to Think’ Beds 

 Short Stay provision in care 

homes or packages of care 

at home         

 A&E screening team 

 An Alcohol Recovery Centre 

 Mental Health Crisis 

Assessment Suite 

 

Focus on: Managing Winter Pressures 
System Resilience – £2 million for South Tees 

System Resilience Groups (SRG) were established in response to pressures that 

were experienced around the country in winter 2012/13. Ours is led by Dr 

Mike Milner. After the initial success that these groups achieved, they were 

asked to expand their remit to include planned as well as urgent care. They 

became the forum where capacity planning and operational delivery across 

the health and social care system is coordinated. The groups were charged 

with bringing stakeholders together to develop schemes to manage surge and 

demand over winter 2014/15. The national funding provided for South Tees 

Clinical Commissioning Group to support this work was £2,098,774.  

In response to this, the SRG requested providers to put forward potential 

schemes to support winter demand. Along with ourselves, mental health and 

ambulance services, local authorities, and acute and community services all 

developed schemes. 

The SRG are currently evaluating the schemes with a view to identifying those 

that contributed to the effective management of winter pressures. Whilst we 

did continue to experience high levels of demand throughout the winter, our 

local services coped well and we saw a reduction on emergency admissions.  

Keep Calm Winter Campaign 

For the second year running, the Keep Calm campaign urged local people 

to look after themselves to combat the usual winter 

coughs, colds, aches and ailments that are 

common in usually healthy people in winter, and 

address the increasing demand for NHS services, 

particularly pressure on A&E.  

The campaign, which was run in collaboration with 

other CCGs in the region, lasted six weeks and 

used a variety of media with a reach of 1.9 million, 

which equates to 73% of the entire north-east 

population having seen or heard the campaign. 

Flu Campaign 

We supported the NHS Flu campaign encouraging those who are eligible 

for a free flu vaccination to take up the offer. We saw an increase in uptake 

of vaccinations by pregnant women and also healthcare workers when 

compared to previous years.

 

 

 

“As part of winter planning the 

system resilience group has 

worked together as a multi-

agency team to support pilots 

and projects. The acute trust 

was supported with various 

schemes internally but also 

benefitted from working closely 

with external agencies who 

provided in reach into the 

organisation and specifically the 

A&E department.” 

Adrian Clements, A&E Clinical 

Director, James Cook 

University Hospital 

 

 

http://www.gandstlpc.net/uploads/9/9/0/1/9901392/7915234_orig.png
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Strategic Report: How we deliver our plans  

Planning 

The CCG analyses demographic and historical 

information to assess the levels of services that are 

likely to be required in future years. This is principally 

based on the expected population growth and 

anticipated changes in the age and gender profile of 

the population. This is combined with an assessment 

of historic trends experienced up to the current 

period. In addition, more specific factors are reviewed 

that take account of the latest national guidance for 

some services, introduction of new technology and 

new medicines. This overall assessment of service 

requirements is then analysed over the 12 month 

period to identify the appropriate seasonal profile. 

We review patients’ pathways or journeys through 

our local services; these reviews of ‘patient pathways’ 

form the core of the CCG’s workstream activities. The 

results of these reviews are combined with the overall 

activity planning information to form the CCG’s 

potential commissioning intentions for each year. The 

CCG then works with its contracting team to agree 

contracts with health providers based on the 

commissioning intentions. 

Clinical Workstreams  

In order to deliver our plans for improving people’s 

health and local services, we established a number of 

clinically led groups called ‘workstreams’ which have 

been leading improvements in local services over the 

last 12 months.  

Our workstreams are led by local clinicians working 

with doctors, nurses and practice managers from our 

membership, along with other NHS, local authority, 

and voluntary and community sector partners to 

understand how services need to be delivered and, 

where required, change. Our workstreams have been 

developed to implement new ways of working to 

ensure the best use of NHS resources and the best 

outcomes for patients drawing upon the clinical and 

non-clinical expertise of our membership.   

Over the last year our workstreams have developed 

commissioning plans, considered opportunities for 

innovation and new ways of working, which have 

been commissioned from local providers.  Our 

workstreams have demonstrated positive partnership 

working particularly in our IMProVE programme, 

winter planning and urgent care and health 

inequalities.   

Our workstreams and clinical leads are: 

Health Inequalities - Dr Steve McIlhinney (Until 

31 March 2015) 

Health inequalities are preventable 

differences in health where some 

people within a community 

experience much poorer health 

than others; this is true of the South 

Tees population. We work with 

partners including public health 

experts from local authorities to explore ways we can 

prevent people from becoming unwell; improve the 

early detection of illnesses so people can get help 

quickly; and to reduce health inequalities. We are also 

working hard to improve the quality of life for people 

with long-term conditions, to improve the health and 

wellbeing of carers, increase awareness of cancer, 

and to support patients to understand diabetes and 

respiratory conditions to improve their own health. 

Achievements include increased number of services 

populated on the 111 Directory of Service (DoS) with 

plans to increase the usage of the DoS in primary 

care which could support social prescribing; working 

with partners to align plans to maximise the 

effectiveness of cancer campaigns; and working to 

develop a Health Inequalities strategy to map out our 

plans to address variation across the next five years. 

 



Strategic Report: How we deliver our plans 

21 

 

Urgent Care and Systems Resilience Group 

Dr Mike Milner 

The Systems Resilience Group 

comprises of partners who have a 

role in identifying system wide 

issues and solutions to manage 

pressures in health and social care 

services. We have worked on the 

development of a strategy for 

urgent care; reviewed walk-in services; and are 

reviewing how paediatric patients access urgent care 

services and the current pathways that are in place. 

Achievements include the implementation of winter 

resilience schemes to help urgent care services cope 

during times of pressure. These schemes included a 

Seasonal Ailment Scheme with pharmacies; increased 

staffing in the A&E department at James Cook 

University Hospital and increased social worker cover 

at James Cook to help discharge patients to the right 

place of care. 

Care Closer to Home 

Dr Teik Goh and Dr Ruth Johnson  

The Care Closer 

to Home 

workstream 

focuses on non-

urgent, planned 

and responsive 

services delivered 

in local hospitals as well as the community with an 

emphasis on delivering care closer to patient’s homes 

were it is safe and appropriate to do so.    

The group meets regularly with hospital clinicians to 

discuss and review the services we commission, 

making changes when needed.   The workstream also 

supports the implementation of the IMProVE 

programme by managing projects which support the 

development of our community infrastructure. 

Achievements include revised patient pathways for 

dermatology and musculoskeletal services to ensure 

patients are seen by the right person at the right 

time, new ways of working in order to reduce general 

anaesthetic procedures, reducing hospital stay for 

women experiencing miscarriage, implementation of 

an early supported discharge service for stroke, and 

improvements to rapid response and district nursing 

services. 

Mental Health and Learning Disability 

Dr Angel and Sister Pam McNeice 

Dr Angel Carrasco 

and Sister Pam 

McNeice are our 

mental health and 

learning disability 

clinical leads 

respectively, each with a distinct portfolio. Dr 

Carrasco has been leading the development of our 

mental health strategy as well as focusing on 

ensuring effective transition arrangements from Child 

and Adolescent Mental Health Service to Adult 

Mental Health Services.  Pam McNeice has been 

leading work to improve the number of GP annual 

health checks offered to, and taken up by, people 

with a learning disability.  

The workstream has also established a Dementia 

Collaborative to redesign services and links between 

services. This is a joint programme with Tees, Esk and 

Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, South Tees 

Hospitals NHS FT, Middlesbrough and Redcar 

Borough Councils and representatives of carers, 

service users and the voluntary and community 

sector. 

Achievements include the development of the CCG 

Mental Health Strategy; a CCG Learning Disability 

Strategy and the implementation of a child and 

adolescent mental health services crisis pilot – 

supporting young people in crisis and aiming to 

reduce self-harm admissions. 
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Medicines Optimisation – Dr Roger Wheeler 

 

The Medicines Optimisation 

workstream ensures that we are 

making the most cost effective use 

of medicines.  Prescribing is one of 

our largest areas of spend and our 

workstream has successfully kept 

prescribing within budget this year.  

Members consider how best to support clinicians and 

patients to agree on the most appropriate 

medication, choosing the most clinically and cost 

effective option where possible. We have also worked 

hard at reducing waste in medicines and ensuring 

robust arrangements are in place for specialist drugs, 

and the shared care between primary and secondary 

care for the patients receiving them.   

Achievements include the electronic prescription 

service implemented into all practices across South 

Tees CCG; a regional antibiotic formulary; agreement 

is in place to move the prescribing of enteral feeds 

administered via a peg tube back to the local hospital 

trusts to be managed by the specialist staff who 

initiate them; and a new robust drug approval 

process which meets the constitutional requirements 

of the CCG is now operational. 

Quality Improvement in Primary Care – Dr Tony 

Boggis  

This group is crucial to the delivery 

of many of our other workstream 

initiatives and we have a statutory 

duty to support NHS England to 

improve the quality of primary care 

services. The workstream has 

developed an education strategy to 

support the on-going professional development of 

primary care teams through education sessions 

including a training needs analysis for practice nurses. 

In addition, the workstream has focused on assessing 

quality in general practices and how to support 

practices to continually improve. The group has also 

supported the implementation of the national Friends 

and Family Test to seek the experience of people 

using primary care services.  

The workstreams will continue to actively address our 

priorities moving into the next financial year. 

Achievements include the delivery of a 

comprehensive training programme with sessions 

including obstetrics and gynaecology; neurology; 

paediatrics and cancer; and the development of the 

CCG’s Research and Innovation Strategy.
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Focus on: Clinically led commissioning – local 

GPs improving services  
In addition to the local clinicians leading our workstreams, we also have a number of our clinicians in leadership 

roles who work with primary and secondary care colleagues to ensure the services we commission meet the 

needs of local people, are of a high standard, provide a good patient experience and make best use of our local 

NHS resources.  We have nurses and doctors leading the following areas of work: 

 

Back Pain 

Dr Rajesh Khapra 

Part of regional network of peers 

(sponsor group) in an initiative 

supported by the Academic Health 

Science Network, Dr Khapra is working 

with local clinicians in the development of a standardised 

back pain pathway. The work will ensure local services 

across the North East meet national NICE guidance which 

is based on best evidence using right time and right place 

principle. This work is aiming to introduce a new 

combined physical and psychological treatments 

programme. 

NHS 111 

Dr Peter Heywood 

NHS 111 has been running for over 

two years across the North East and 

responds to more than 50,000 calls 

each month from the public. Along 

with clinical colleagues from other CCG areas we have 

helped develop and adapt the service through local and 

regional structures to improve the experience for 

patients. We conduct regular ‘end-to-end’ reviews of 

patient pathways to assess the effectiveness of the 

service and identify areas for improvement. Current 

areas of work include integrating special patient notes 

into the 111 clinical systems and reviewing the level of 

clinical input for complex calls and 

ambulance dispositions. 

Deep End Project 

Dr Charles Cornford  

A great deal of progress has been made 

within our ‘Deep End’ project which 

brings together GPs working with people 

living in some of our most deprived 

communities.  Drawing on the experience of these GPs 

about the particular needs of their patients, and the 

challenges faced in trying to help them, this creative 

group has produced innovative approaches to increasing 

screening uptake in areas such as cancer.  It has made 

suggestions as to how the social prescribing model might 

more effectively be used by practices serving deprived 

groups and how the ‘Troubled Families’ agenda might fit 

with such practices.  Further work includes enabling 

communities to engage in self-care through support with 

learning language skills. These proposals will be 

considered as part of our approach to appraising 

innovation and new ways of working. 

NHS 111, GP Information 

Technology & Learning Disability 

Dr David Royal  

Sharing of information across 

organisations to benefit patients is vital 

but must be managed appropriately. 

Dr Royal is working with colleagues through the 

Academic Health Science Network to find solutions for 

the integration of data systems and the sharing of data 

across organisations. He is also working with primary 

care colleagues to assess capacity and demand. He also 

works closely with Sister Pam McNeice regarding our 

learning disabilities work and Dr Peter Heywood around 

NHS 111. 
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Maternal and Child Health 

Dr Ellen Hoida  and Dr Girish Chawla 

There is significant focus across the South Tees partnership on giving children the 

best start in life; this is particularly important to us as we have significant health 

inequalities within the population we serve. We have been shaping the review of 

maternity services, exploring with local authority colleagues how we can reduce 

smoking in pregnancy and encourage more breastfeeding. We have also responded to national changes with 

regards to services for children with special educational needs and disabilities, and as a CCG we have engaged with 

young people about their emotional health and wellbeing. 

 

Integration with Secondary Care 

Dr John Bye and Dr Heather Wetherell 

The case for better integration between all parts of the health and social care 

system is well established.  Our role is to improve communication, relationships 

and continuity between primary and secondary care. It’s a significant task and we 

have a list of things we'd like to address together with our hospital trust colleagues 

working in both community and acute hospital settings. This includes antibiotic prescribing, healthcare acquired 

infections, quality and timeliness of referral and discharge letters, and general prescribing issues. There is a need for 

us to better understand each other’s roles and our ways of working in practices in the community and hospital 

settings so that we can all deliver excellence in patient care through a seamless health service. 

 

Cancer 

Dr Jonathan Berry and Dr Nicky Miller  

Preventing and tackling cancer is one of the CCG’s priorities as it is one of our 

biggest health challenges.  This year, working with partners we have been 

developing a Tees cancer strategy that will set out how we will do more to prevent 

cancer, detect it early and support those going through treatment and recovery.   

Dr Berry has also been working on the development of patient held treatment summaries at the hospital trust and 

exploring the provision of follow up and self-care in the community with fast track access to clinics for those 

recovering from cancer.  Dr Miller, Middlesbrough Macmillan GP, has facilitated a 24-hour professionals’ palliative 

advice line, engaged with palliative and cancer consultants to deliver focused training sessions to community 

clinicians, represented the CCG on the board of the James Cook University Hospital Macmillan cancer integration 

project and advised on palliative aspects of other clinical pathways. 

In addition, the CCG welcomed and have responded to the Healthwatch Redcar and Cleveland report on people’s 

experience of cancer, sharing details of work underway and scheduled work on the horizon. 
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Research and Development 

Dr Charles Cornford (until 31 March 

2015) 

CCGs have a duty to promote research 

and innovation and ensure patients have 

the opportunity to be part of health 

research and trials. Working with our Quality in Primary 

Care workstream we published our first Research and 

Innovation Strategy.  To support this we established a 

primary care research and innovation fund to encourage 

clinical and non-clinical staff innovating or contributing 

the evidence base to provide better care.  

Primary Care Education 

Dr Fiona McHardy 

Working with our Quality in Primary 

Care workstream members we have 

been identifying the training needs of 

primary care staff to ensure they are 

equipped to support the CCG’s vision of care closer to 

home and delivery of high quality care. We have 

implemented an education programme for clinicians to 

ensure they are up-to-date on current local and 

national guidelines and piloted a series of lunch and 

learn sessions to fit around practice and patient 

commitments.  
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Strategic Report: Quality 
Quality at the centre of all we do  

The CCG has a responsibility to ensure that we 

commission safe, good quality and effective services 

that result in positive experiences for patients.  

We understand that securing continuous quality 

improvement in our commissioned services is an 

ongoing process.  We have established robust internal 

and external quality assurance mechanisms to ensure 

we remain sighted on all aspects of quality, and are 

able to constructively challenge, scrutinise and assess 

individual provider’s performance and service delivery. 

These mechanisms are described in our Quality 

Framework, which was refreshed in June 2014. It 

outlines the CCG’s approach to quality: to manage and 

champion the local clinical quality agenda, improving 

clinical effectiveness, safety and patient experience as 

described in the NHS Outcomes Framework. 

In order to effectively address quality issues with our 

commissioned services and seek assurance, we 

systematically undertake a range of activity. This activity 

informs and shapes the CCG Quality and Safeguarding 

(Q&S) annual Work Programme. 

Our priorities this year 

Our strategic priorities for improving quality in 2014/15 

have centred on:  

 Implementation of a comprehensive Francis Work 

Programme which responds to the Francis reports I 

and II recommendations, whilst ensuring 

adherence to any new national reports findings 

and guidance. This has included in 2014/15 

incorporating: Culture Change in the NHS, 

applying the Lessons of the Francis Inquiries (DH, 

Feb 2015). This programme approved and 

overseen by the CCG, will continue to be refined in 

2015/16.  

 Transforming Care - ensuring that patients in 

inpatient settings are safely and appropriately 

discharged to community settings wherever 

possible. This has involved the CCG working with 

NHS England in the implementation and 

monitoring of a programme of work associated 

with clinical assessment, treatment and review 

processes and outcomes for individuals.  

 Care Homes - this has involved working 

collaboratively with local authorities to respond 

effectively to quality and safeguarding issues 

through a planned, as well as responsive, 

programme of clinical quality audits. It has also 

enabled close liaison with the Care Quality 

Commission, gaining an understanding of their 

new inspection process and key lines of enquiry 

approach which evaluates if services are safe, 

caring, responsive, effective and well led. 

Achievements 

One of our key areas of progress this year has been to 

test our systems and processes for assessing and 

measuring quality and providing the Governing Body 

with assurance. As part of this approach, we have 

developed regular information sharing flows and 

worked across agencies to verify and share our 

findings. We have also undertaken more commissioner 

assurance visits than last year, which has given us an 

opportunity to scrutinize providers’ accounts of patient 

experiences. 

We have introduced greater rigour in our scrutiny of 

routine data flows, looking for variance and positive or 

negative outliers. This informs where we concentrate 

our attention – for example, if there is a 

disproportionate increase in reports of harm caused by 

patient falls or healthcare associated infections (HCAI). 

We have also undertaken work to improve patient 

experience in hospital. This year we invited Professor 

Tricia Hart, Chief Executive of South Tees Hospitals 

NHS FT and joint author of the Clwyd-Hart report into 

hospital complaints procedures, to present her report 

at our Governing Body. In response to this report’s 
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findings, we supported the trust’s relocation of its 

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) to allow it to 

be more patient-facing. We also supported the “Hello, 

My Name Is” campaign, which is a grassroots initiative 

to improve patient experience. 

This year also saw the introduction of a da Vinci 

surgical robot. It has already been used to perform the 

first robotic diaphragm plication and for the treatment 

of prostate cancer, and will be used to treat other 

cancers in future. The robot should reduce surgical 

complications, side effects and hospital length of stay 

because of its increased precision compared to 

conventional surgical techniques. 

Inter-agency working 

In 2014/15, we have worked more closely with 

providers, other commissioners and partners to 

improve quality. An example of this is the work 

undertaken by Professor Mark Wilcox, an expert 

advisor on Clostridium difficile for Public Health 

England.  Professor Wilcox visited South Tees Hospitals 

FT in order to review the trust’s infection prevention 

and control procedures. 

We have also developed good working relationships 

with our neighbouring clinical commissioning groups, 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton CCG and NHS 

Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG, which 

has resulted in the implementation of a pressure ulcer 

peer review process and the establishment of a 

Clostridium difficile (C. difficile) panel. 

We also work together with NHS England, identifying 

concerns and sharing information and intelligence. 

Groups and Committees 

We continue to operate the following groups that play 

different roles in the quality assurance process: 

Quality, Performance and Finance Committee 

This committee is a formal committee of the CCG’s 

Governing Body and its role is to ensure that the 

services we commission are examined as to their 

quality, considering clinical effectiveness, patient safety 

and patient experience , informed by quality metrics 

and ‘soft intelligence’. 

Information pertaining to the Francis Work 

Programme, Transforming Care and Care Homes has 

all been received by this committee. The committee 

receives bi-monthly Quality Exception Reports detailing 

the quality profiles of commissioned services. They 

identify quality issues, risks and actions and provide an 

opportunity for clinicians to seek assurance through 

further in-depth analysis of a specific issue, service or 

provider. 

 

Clinical Quality Review Groups 

The CCG works together with local providers to 

monitor, evaluate and drive forward quality standards 

we have held or contributed to 

regular Clinical Quality Review 

Group meetings. These meetings 

include clinicians from the Trust 

and are chaired by our Governing 

Body GP Dr Vaishali Nanda. This 

enables productive dialogue and 

provides an opportunity for the 

trusts to identify innovation, best 

practice, areas for improvement 

and increasingly evidence patient 

outcomes. It also enables the 

CCG through analysis of specific quality indicators to 

gain an insight into the quality of care delivered to 

local people as well as share and promote lessons 

learned from other parts of the health economy.  

 

Quality Surveillance Groups  

Local Quality Surveillance Groups are led by the Area 

Teams of NHS England. They bring together 

regulators, commissioners and providers of services to 

explore quality by sharing intelligence, particularly that 

which could help identify early signs of service failure 

or poor quality. They also include primary care services 

such as GP practices, dentists, pharmacists and 

optometrists.  

Dr Vaishali 

Nanda, 

CQRG Chair 
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Announced and Unannounced Visits 

This year we built on our programme of announced 

and unannounced assurance visits to provider trusts, 

including visits to Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS FT, 

who are our main provider of Mental Health and 

Learning Disabilities services.  

We are using the results of national audits and data to 

inform our assurance visits to providers; these include 

national statistics, the Friends and Family Test, 

workforce analysis, incident reporting, and peer 

benchmarking. 

Onsite visits are part of a wider ranging ongoing 

quality assurance and contract management process, 

which includes:  

 quarterly assurance visits at executive level to 

review quality markers from the previous quarter;  

 announced and unannounced site based visits;  

 involvement in provider’s own board to 

ward/service visits;  

 regular monitoring meetings as described above; 

 regular liaison between the CCG Chief Officer and 

provider Chief Executives; and 

 gathering of soft intelligence from GP practices and 

patient complaints. 

Our Executive Team talked with patients and staff in a 

number of different service areas. These are 

summarised in the table below: 

Service Area Date 

JCUH Ward 36 (Trauma and Surgery), Ward 

8 (Gastro Medicine) 
11/06/2014 

UHNT, Ward 33 (Orthopaedics), EAU 17/06/2014 

TEWV  Sandwell Park (Adult Inpatients) 26/6/2014 

UHNT, Ward 32 (Orthopaedics), Ward 40 

(Elderly Care) 
07/10/2014 

JCUH Ward 35 (ENT, Plastics & General 

Surgery), Ward 10 (Short stay Elderly 

Medicine, Stroke) 

15/10/2014 

TEWV Roseberry Park (Adult Inpatients) 06/11/2014 

JCUH Accident & Emergency 20/11/2014 

JCUH = James Cook University Hospital, South Tees 

Hospitals NHS FT 

UHNT = University Hospital of North Tees, North Tees 

Hospitals NHS FT 

TEWV = Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS FT 

Safeguarding   

The CCG has a statutory duty and responsibility to 

safeguard children and adults at risk from abuse and 

neglect. In addition, we must ensure robust 

arrangements are in place for Looked After Children 

(LAC) and contribute to the Child Death Overview 

process (CDOP).  

As a commissioning organisation, we also need to 

ensure that all our providers promote the welfare of 

children and protect adults at risk of abuse or neglect, 

and that they comply with contractual requirements, 

including quality standards and legislation.   

We have a team of designated safeguarding 

professionals who continue to work with local 

authorities, NHS England and other partners to deliver 

our duties. They contribute to Local Safeguarding 

Children Boards, the Teeswide Safeguarding Adults 

Board and its local arrangements, Serious Case 

Reviews, Adult Case Reviews, Lessons Learned Reviews 

and Domestic Homicide Reviews. 

In our second year the team has made progress in a 

number of areas with evidence of outcomes that 

demonstrate compliance with our statutory duties: 

Safeguarding children and Looked After Children 

(LAC) 

Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

revised and introduced new inspection and review 

frameworks for safeguarding children and looked after 

children during 2014.  

We have been working with health providers in 

preparation for an anticipated CQC inspection of 

Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) 
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Review, building on the learning from a neighbouring 

CCG. This inspection will be centred on the experiences 

and outcomes of children within the local authority 

area, and the performance of health providers serving 

the area including CCGs. 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

Following an independent review, the Child Death 

Overview Panel is now chaired by a Director of Public 

Health and has a more streamlined administration. 

The recommendation of the CCG’s Designated Nurse 

for Safeguarding Children and Looked After Children 

to introduce a rapid response process for unexpected 

child deaths across the Tees area is also being 

progressed.  

Adult Safeguarding  

The Care Act 2014 places adult safeguarding on a 

statutory footing, and has been the focus of adult 

safeguarding work locally and across the country. 

The key implications of this legislation for local 

authorities and their partners are as follows: 

 A legal duty in relation to enquiries: local 

authorities can make enquiries into cases where an 

adult has needs for care and support, is 

experiencing or is at risk of abuse or neglect and 

due to those needs is unable to protect themselves 

or can ask others including the CCG to undertake 

an enquiry.  

 Statutory Safeguarding Adult Boards (SAB) will be 

established with key membership from the police, 

local authority and CCG. The Teeswide 

Safeguarding Adults Board fulfils this statutory 

requirement.  

 A SAB will conduct Safeguarding Adult Reviews 

(SARs) where an adult has died and abuse or 

neglect is experienced or suspected to have been 

experienced by the adult at risk.  

In preparation for these changes, the CCG has 

contributed to a review of local governance 

arrangements with partners and agreed a revised 

structure that will be effective from April 2015.  This 

new structure includes the establishment of a Teeswide 

Business Unit function to coordinate and support the 

work of the Board. These changes will ensure 

compliance with the Care Act 2014 and with the CCG’s 

statutory duties and responsibilities. 

CCG Quality Metrics 

We have a number of indicators that give us an insight 

into the quality of care being delivered to local people 

by our commissioned service providers.  Our largest 

service providers are:  

 South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

(STHFT), providing the vast majority of physical 

secondary health services.  

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 

Trust (TEWV), who provide most of our 

learning disability and mental health services. 

  North East Ambulance Service (NEAS), 

providing ambulance services, as well as 111 

and 999 telephone systems. 

Our focus has been to hold providers to account for 

the quality of care they provide, while making targeted 

interventions where trusts are struggling to ensure high 

quality care for patients. 

Regulator Actions 

Has any local provider been subject to local 

enforcement action by the CQC? 

(During 2014/15) 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

     

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspects and 

regulates health and care services in England, to 

ensure that they are compliant with national standards. 

They can use legal powers to make sure services 

improve; in serious cases this can be an enforcement 

action to safeguard people from harm.  CQC 

inspections have been undertaken locally and the 

reports are available on the CQC website. 

The CQC issued an enforcement action to North East 

Ambulance FT (NEASFT) with regards to staffing, and 
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an improvement notice with regards to the quality and 

suitability of management; management of medicines; 

supporting workers, and assessing and monitoring the 

quality of service provision in April 2014. 

NEASFT revised their action plan and presented it in 

December 2014 to the Clinical Quality Review Group, 

including measures to increase staffing numbers. We 

are monitoring the impact of implementation of this 

action plan. 

Has any local provider been flagged as a 

'quality compliance risk' by Monitor and/or 

are requirements in place around breaches 

of provider licence conditions? (During 

2014/15) 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

Monitor, the independent regulator of Foundation 

Trusts, can direct action within trusts that may be in 

breach of their licence to deliver services. South Tees 

Hospitals NHS FT agreed undertakings with Monitor in 

July 2014 to address concerns around its governance. 

These concerns arose due to performance against the 

C. difficile objective in 2013/14, its financial planning, 

and performance against operational standards. 

Clinical effectiveness 

Has any provider been identified as a 

'negative outlier' on SHMI? (During 2014/15) 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

The Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) 

is the ratio between the actual number of patients who 

die following in-patient hospital treatment and up to 

30 days after discharge at the trust, and the number 

that would be expected to die on the basis of average 

England figures. Our local trust’s mortality figures were 

not higher than expected.  Our other providers are not 

required to report on mortality figures.  

 

Has any provider been identified as a 

'negative outlier' on HSMR? (During 2014/15) 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) 

compares the expected rate of death in a hospital with 

the actual rate of death.  South Tees Hospitals NHS 

FT’s mortality figures were higher than expected. 

Having had a ‘higher than expected’ HSMR for the 

majority of 2013/14, the trust continued to be an 

outlier until part way through the year, as data from 

January – December 2014 showed that the trust’s 

HSMR was within the expected range. The trust 

reported the steps taken to address this to the Clinical 

Quality Review Group. 

Patient experience 

Does feedback from the Friends and Family 

Test (or any other patient feedback) indicate 

any causes for concern for any provider? 

(During 2014/15) 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

 

The Friends and Family Test asks patients whether they 

would recommend hospital wards, A&E departments 

and maternity services to their friends and family if they 

needed similar care or treatment. Of our main 

providers, South Tees Hospitals NHS FT is the only 

organisation required to report on this metric in 

2014/15. 

At the end of Quarter Four (Jan-Mar 2015), the 

combined Friends and Family reponse rate was 32.3% 

and combined percentage of patients who 

recommended the services was 92.7%. These were 

above the England average. 

The trust was rated red on its inpatient response rate, 

which was 43.9%, which remains below the England 

average of 45.1%. 
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The CQRG have been assured that the trust is taking 

additional steps to improve uptake, including 

introducing a text messaging system. 

 

Safety 

Does any provider currently have any 

unclosed Serious Untoward Incidents? (As at 

March 2015) 

Grade 1 Incidents – 45 days 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

Grade 2 Incidents – 60 days 

    

A serious incident requiring investigation is defined as 

an incident that occurred in relation to NHS-funded 

services and care resulting in one of the following:  

 unexpected or avoidable death of one or more 

patients, staff, visitors or members of the 

public;  

 serious harm to one or more patients, staff, 

visitors or members of the public, or where the 

outcome requires life-saving intervention, 

major surgical/medical intervention, permanent 

harm or will shorten life expectancy or result in 

prolonged pain or psychological harm (this 

includes incidents graded under the National 

Patient Safety Agency definition of severe 

harm);  

 a scenario that prevents or threatens to 

prevent a provider organisation’s ability to 

continue to deliver healthcare services, for 

example, actual or potential loss of 

personal/organisational information, damage 

to property, reputation or the environment, IT 

failure or incidents in population programmes 

like screening and immunisation where harm 

potentially may extend to a large population;  

 allegations of abuse;  

 adverse media coverage or public concern 

about the organisation or the wider NHS; one 

of the core set of never events. 1 

Incidents are graded depending on their severity as 

either Grade 1 or Grade 2.   

NHS organisations are required to complete a report 

of any incident investigation classified as Grade 1 within 

45 days and Grade 2 within 60 days.  As at the end of 

March 2015, STFT and NEAS had at least one Grade 1 

investigation report outstanding. No provider had a 

Grade 2 investigation report outstanding. 

Has any provider experienced any 'never 

events' during the last year? (During 

2014/15) 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

Never events are serious, largely preventable patient 

safety incidents that should not occur if the available 

preventative measures have been implemented by 

healthcare providers. 

South Tees Hospitals NHS FT has reported one Never 

Event in 2014/15. We work with the Trust’s Serious 

Incident (SI) Scrutiny and Overview Panel to 

understand the issues and identify lessons learned. 

Do provider-level indicators from the 

National Quality Dashboard show that 

methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus 

(MRSA) cases are above zero? (During 

2014/15) 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

Hospitals are set a maximum number of cases of 

hospital acquired infection that they are required not 

to exceed.  The target was zero for cases of MRSA. 

                                                 
1
 NHS England Serious Incidents Framework 

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2013/03/sif-guide.pdf  
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During the year, four cases of MRSA were reported by 

South Tees Hospitals NHS FT, exceeding this target.  

Do provider level indicators from the 

National Quality Dashboard show that 

Clostridium Difficile cases are above 

trajectory? (During 2014/15) 

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

 

The Department of Health sets an annual trajectory, 

specific to each Trust, for the number of hospital 

acquired Clostridium Difficle (C. difficile) cases 

As a provider, during the year 76 cases of hospital 

aquired C. difficle  were reported by South Tees 

Hospitals NHS FT (including patients from other CCGs), 

against a trajectory of 49 resulting in a breach of this 

objective. 

We have monitored and scrutinized the Trust’s C. 

difficile recovery plan, which has been informed by 

external reviews and the Trust’s commitment to deliver 

harm-free care. We will continue to seek assurance that 

adequate steps are put in place to reduce the number 

of healthcare associated infections in the CCG 

population in 2015/16. 
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Jul Two Governing Body GPs 

identified along with local 

authority colleagues to 

participate in national 

Accelerating Systems 

Transformation Programme 

to focus on improving 

wellbeing and reducing 

health inequalities  

Sep Governing Body 

development session with 

local Directors of Public 

Health focusing on the 

CCG’s role in tackling health 

inequalities 

Oct  Agreed to refocus work of 

Health and Wellbeing 

Workstream on health 

inequalities. 

Work on CCG Health 

Inequalities Strategy begins.   

Nov  First meeting of the Health 

Inequalities Workstream  

Jan Support dementia support 

service among people from 

black, Asian and minority 

ethnic (BME) communities 

  

 

Focus on: Reducing Health Inequalities  
Health inequalities are preventable differences in health that are largely due to a person’s social environment, 

such as where they live or their economic status.  CCGs have a statutory duty to reduce health inequalities not 

only in terms of health outcomes but also in terms of access to health services.  In 2015/16 the CCG has given 

significant focus to the delivery of these duties at both a strategic and operation level (see table below). 

Understanding the needs of BME and migrant communities 

In early 2014, along with Middlesbrough Council, the CCG commissioned 

research to explore the health and social care needs of and black and 

minority ethnic communities (BME), Gypsy Romany Travellers and East 

European Migrants.  The insight work built on the council’s consultation 

with the voluntary sector which noted there were barriers to uptake of local 

public services. The research was user-led and the researchers consulted 

with leaders of communities to gain access to groups traditionally deemed 

hard to reach. The report provided valuable insight into the experience of 

these communities and their understanding and perception of health and 

health services which largely centred on a lack of awareness of available 

services, and language and communication problems. A number of 

recommendations were made for the local NHS and the local authority and 

this work will be used to inform out health inequalities strategy. The CCG’s 

Deep End work is now also exploring how we might better prevent 

language barriers to care.  

Welfare Rights 

We know that some people, for example those with chronic health 

conditions, experience financial hardship and can as a result have increased 

poor health outcomes. The CCG jointly commissions with local authority 

partners in Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland a range of services 

including one specifically for people with cancer, which provide advice on 

benefits and particularly for this year the impact of welfare reform. These 

important services aim to ensure people are receiving the support they are 

entitled to and for example can ensure they are able to heat homes; this is 

particularly important to people already experiencing poor health and 

requiring significant support from health services.  

Improving access to dementia services for black, Asian and minority ethnic (BME) communities 

This new service funded in January 2015 aims to improve dementia services and the use of dementia support 

services among people from black, Asian and minority ethnic (BME) communities. The service will raise awareness 

of the needs of these groups, set up referral and cross referral processes, sign post, establish early diagnosis 

through memory clinics working with local GP practices and facilitate individuals to access support services, 

providing support to carers and raising awareness of BME carers issues with local carers network 
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The Deep End report acknowledged that 

the principal causes of inequalities in 

health lie outside the health service, which 

is why policies to prevent health 

inequalities must address the wider social 

determinants of health.  

It is not sufficient to prevent future 

inequalities in health - it is essential to 

reduce existing inequalities in health and 

to prevent them getting wider.  

 

Why the Deep End?                                                    

42 of our 46 member 

practices have deprivation 

scores higher than the NHS 

England average. 

Focus on: the Deep End 
One of the ways in which we are working to discharge this duty is through our Deep End project, led by Dr 

Charles Cornford. The Deep End Project Group was established as part of the Quality in Primary Care 

Workstream’s work plan to replicate within our area, the same project model highlighted in the March 2013 

report “GPs at the Deep End: What can NHS Scotland do to prevent and reduce health inequalities – Proposals 

from General Practitioners at the Deep End”.  

The findings of the report indicated that the NHS can do a great deal to improve health by helping people to live 

well, preventing or postponing complications, reducing the use of emergency care and, in general, reducing the 

severity and progression of conditions. The report acknowledges 

the strengths of general practice - patient contact, population 

coverage, continuity, flexibility, cumulative knowledge, long term 

relationships and trust.  

We have nine practices working in 

some of our most deprived 

communities coming together 

with colleagues from both 

Middlesbrough and Redcar and 

Cleveland local authorities and public health teams, and the 

voluntary and community sector to explore how best to support 

the local population and the practitioners working with them.  

Monthly meetings commenced in September 2014 and this has proven to be a dynamic forum. Discussions have 

taken place around the uptake of screening in the most deprived areas of the locality; prompted by metrics 

regarding the uptake of cancer screening. Other matters for exploration have included the Troubled Families 

agenda; patient champions; and improving access and experience for patients where English is a second 

language. 

GPs working in the Scottish ‘Deep End Project’ 

reported the following shared observations: 

 The ‘Unworried unwell’. 

 Multiple problems and multiple morbidity including 

psychological co-morbidity, low patient 

enablement, high practitioner stress. 

 Complex consultations. 

 Different priorities of patients given the context in 

which they live.  Such as the lower priority, or 

difficulty, in giving up smoking in a life of anxiety 

and debt. 

 Alcohol- high rates of deaths and palliative care 

needs. 

 Vulnerable children. 

 Dysfunctional relationships with local authorities 

and community health providers. 

 Increasing time spent by GPs on benefits issues. 

Themes that the South Tees project group have 

identified and are focusing on are: 

 Substance misuse. 

 Families with complex medical problems 

 Service mapping. 

 Putting patients first- looking at processes in practice. 

 Benefits/ claims problems. 

 Patient communication difficulties. 

 Screening. 

 Education for GPs dealing with deprivation related 

issues. 
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Strategic Report: Performance 
Providers of NHS-funded services have a responsibility to comply with national and local performance standards 

to ensure that the public can receive care in a timely manner, and that common standards of quality are upheld 

across the health service. Monitoring performance also assists us in understanding the effectiveness of services, 

together with the role of quality assurance and financial management. 

Performance is recorded at the end of each month for the year beginning 1 April 2013 and ending 31 March 

2014.  

Our NHS Constitution Commitment  

The NHS Constitution sets out the rights of an NHS patient. These rights cover how patients access health services 

and the quality of care they will receive. Patients’ rights under the NHS Constitution and our performance against 

these indicators, is detailed below.  

The indicators are set out in the following layout:  

Name of standard 

 

Standard 90% 

 

2013-14 90.4% 

2014-15 94.37% 

Apr-Jun 2014 94.10% 

Jul-Sep 2014 95.68% 

Oct-Dec 2014 94.63% 

Jan-Mar 2015 92.37% 

Referral to treatment times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment 

Our performance against the 18-week referral to treatment standard for admitted patients has improved since 

last year, with each quarter’s performance being higher than 2013/14. This can mainly be attributed to initiatives 

in our main provider, South Tees Hospitals FT, to address pressures on waiting lists. 

For the other targets, which relate to non-admitted patients and patients on waiting lists, performance 

deteriorated slightly but remained well above the national standard. 

During February and March 2015, the CCG used retained reserves funding to invest in a waiting list initiative to 

improve the CCG’s position. 

 

85%

90%

95%

100%

2013/14 2014/15

Comparison of this 

year and last year - 

target line in orange 

94.1% 

95.7% 

94.6% 

92.4% 

Apr-Jun 2014

Jul-Sep 2014

Oct-Dec 2014

Jan-Mar 2015

Statistics shown in 

central table 

This year, divided into 

quarters to show trends 

within the year 
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Admitted patients to start treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from referral 

 

Standard 90% 

 

2013/14 90.4% 

2014/15 94.22% 

Apr-Jun 2014 94.10% 

Jul-Sep 2014 95.68% 

Oct-Dec 2014 94.63% 

Jan-Mar 2015 92.51% 

During the year 20,498 patients were admitted for elective treatment, of which 1,364 (5.78%) started treatment 

after more than 18 weeks. 

Percentage of our patients not requiring admission but receiving treatment within 18 weeks 

 

Standard 95% 

 

2013/14 99.2% 

2014/15 98.82% 

Apr-Jun 2014 99.07% 

Jul-Sep 2014 99.15% 

Oct-Dec 2014 98.60% 

Jan-Mar 2015 98.27% 

During the year 770 people (1.18%) out of of 65,461 people overall, who received treatment and were not 

admitted to hospital waited more than eighteen weeks. 

Percentage of patients incomplete pathways waiting no more than 18 weeks 

 

Standard 92% 

 

2013/14 97.0% 

2014/15 95.90% 

Apr-Jun 2014 96.80% 

Jul-Sep 2014 96.24% 

Oct-Dec 2014 95.07% 

Jan-Mar 2015 95.24% 

At the end of the year, 810 patients continued to wait in excess of 18 weeks for treatment. 

85%

90%

95%

100%

2013/14 2014/15

94.1% 

95.7% 

94.6% 

92.5% 

Apr-Jun 2014

Jul-Sep 2014

Oct-Dec 2014

Jan-Mar 2015

90%

95%

100%

2013/14 2014/15

99.1% 

99.2% 

98.6% 

98.3% 

Apr-Jun 2014

Jul-Sep 2014

Oct-Dec 2014

Jan-Mar 2015

90%

95%

100%

2013/14 2014/15

96.8% 

96.2% 

95.1% 

95.3% 

Apr-Jun 2014

Jul-Sep 2014

Oct-Dec 2014

Jan-Mar 2015
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Diagnostic test waiting times 

Following an awareness raising campaign for esophageal cancer, waiting times for diagnostic tests rose in the first 

half of 2014/15. The trust took actions to increase their capacity to respond and the situation has stabilized in the 

latter part of the year. 

During the year 366 people (0.9%) from a total of 33,054 people requiring a diagnostic test waited more than six 

weeks. 

Percentage of patients waiting six weeks or over 

 

Standard >1%  

 

2013/14 0.27% 

2014/15 0.92% 

Apr-14 1.1% 

May-14 1.2% 

Jun-14 0.9% 

Jul-14 0.9% 

Aug-14 1.6% 

Sep-14 0.8% 

Oct-14 0.8% 

Nov-14 0.4% 

Dec-14 1.6% 

Jan-15 0.8% 

Feb-15 0.8% 

Mar-15 0.3% 

Cancer Waiting Times 

We have met all the standards for waiting times for cancer assessment and treatment this year. However, our 

performance has declined relative to 2013/14 for the two-week wait targets, which can be attributed to issues 

within our main provider. South Tees Hospitals NHS FT has reissued guidance and increased its theatre sessions 

to attempt to improve patient flow. The trust has also attended a region-wide meeting to discuss how to improve 

pathways for patients that are proving more problematic. 

Our performance against other standards has improved, including on the 62-day targets where the patient is 

given an urgent GP referral or where the patient has been referred by an NHS screening service. 

 

 

 

 

0.0%

0.2%

0.4%

0.6%

0.8%

1.0%

2013/14 2014/15

1.1% 

1.2% 

0.9% 

0.9% 

1.6% 

0.8% 

0.8% 

0.4% 

1.6% 

0.8% 

0.8% 

0.3% 

Apr-14

May-14

Jun-14

Jul-14

Aug-14

Sep-14

Oct-14

Nov-14

Dec-14

Jan-15

Feb-15

Mar-15
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Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently with 

suspected cancer by a GP 

 

Standard 93% 

 

2013/14 96.5% 

2014/15 95.34% 

Apr-Jun 2014 94.43% 

Jul-Sep 2014 95.18% 

Oct-Dec 2014 96.10% 

Jan-Mar 2015 95.63% 

During the year 375 people (4.7%), from a total of 8,039 waited more than two weeks for an oupatient 

appointment when referred by their GP urgently with suspected cancer.    

Maximum two week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently with 

breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected) 

 

Standard 93% 

 

2013/14 97.9% 

2014/15 95.82% 

Apr-Jun 2014 95.51% 

Jul-Sep 2014 94.46% 

Oct-Dec 2014 96.39% 

Jan-Mar 2015 97.03% 

During the year 56 people (4.2%) from a total of 1,339 people who were referred urgently for an outpatient 

appointment with breast symptons waited more than two weeks. 

Maximum one month (31 day) wait from diagnosis to first definitive treatment for all cancers 

 

Standard 96% 

 

2013/14 98.9% 

2014/15 98.45% 

Apr-Jun 2014 95.51% 

Jul-Sep 2014 94.46% 

Oct-Dec 2014 96.39% 

Jan-Mar 2015 98.89% 
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95.6% 
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During the year 24 people (1.6%) out of 1,546 people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days for 

treatment to commence.   

Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is an anti-cancer drug 

regimen 

 

Standard 98% 

 

2013/14 99.4% 

2014/15 99.43% 

Apr-Jun 2014 97.88% 

Jul-Sep 2014 99.48% 

Oct-Dec 2014 97.61% 

Jan-Mar 2015 99.25% 

During the year 3 people (0.6%) from a total of 523 people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days 

for drug treatment to commence. 

Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is surgery 

 

Standard 94% 

 

2013/14 98.3% 

2014/15 97.47% 

Apr-Jun 2014 100.00% 

Jul-Sep 2014 99.15% 

Oct-Dec 2014 99.12% 

Jan-Mar 2015 98.71% 

During the year 8 people (2.5%), from a total of 316 people, who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 

days for surgery to commence.  
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100%
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Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a course of 

radiotherapy 

 

Standard 94% 

 

2013/14 98.3% 

2014/15 98.91% 

Apr-Jun 2014 100.00% 

Jul-Sep 2014 96.60% 

Oct-Dec 2014 100.00% 

Jan-Mar 2015 99.12% 

During the year 6 people (1.1%), from a total of 549 people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days 

for radiotherapy to commence. 

Maximum two month (62 day) wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for 

cancer 

 

Standard 85% 

 

2013/14 87.5% 

2014/15 89.25% 

Apr-Jun 2014 88.60% 

Jul-Sep 2014 88.71% 

Oct-Dec 2014 91.67% 

Jan-Mar 2015 91.66% 

During the year 79 (10.1%) out of 786 people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for treatment 

to commence, following urgent referral from their GP.  
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95%

100%

2013/14 2014/15

100.0% 
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Maximum 62 day wait from referral from an NHS screening service to first definitive treatment 

for all cancers 

 

Standard 90% 

 

2013/14 92.7% 

2014/15 98.25% 

Apr-Jun 2014 100.00% 

Jul-Sep 2014 95.83% 

Oct-Dec 2014 100.00% 

Jan-Mar 2015 96.00% 

During the year 2 people (1.8%), from a total of 114 people, who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 

days for treatment to commence, following referral from an NHS screening service. 

Maximum 62 day wait for first definitive treatment following a consultant’s decision to upgrade 

the priority of the patients (all cancers) 

 

2013/14 95.8% 

 

2014/15 92.00% 

Apr-Jun 2014 
100.00% 

Jul-Sep 2014 100.00% 

Oct-Dec 2014 76.92% 

Jan-Mar 2015 91.67% 

During the year 4 people (8.0%) from a total of 50 people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days 

for treatment to commence, following a consultant’s decision to upgrade the priority of the patient. 

Ambulance Response Times 

We commission ambulance services from North East Ambulance NHS FT (NEAS) and specify that they comply 

with operational standards. We are concerned with the decline in performance against the national standards for 

ambulance response times and as such have asked NEAS to provide an action plan. This plan has been monitored 

regularly in contract meetings and the Clinical Quality Review Group. 

The principal contributing factor to reducing NEAS’ ability to meet the standards has been a lack of staff capacity. 

In order to remedy this, NEAS have recruited more paramedics, secured 20 additional ambulance crews from 

third party providers, increased the number of students it trains, and begun work to change the skill set of 

paramedics and Emergency Care Technicians. 
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We continue to work in concert with other CCGs in the region to monitor NEAS’ changes and seek assurance that 

adequate steps are being put in place to reduce ambulance response times. 

Category A calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8 minutes (Red 1 & Red 2) 

 

Standard 75% 

 

2013/14 80.3% 

2014/15 73.57% 

Apr-Jun 2014 76.92% 

Jul-Sep 2014 74.37% 

Oct-Dec 

2014 
67.95% 

Jan-Mar 2015 75.28% 

During the year 5,651 people (26.4%),from a total of 21,384 people who required an ambulance urgently because 

their condition was considered immediately life threatening waited over 8 minutes for the ambulance to arrive. 

Category A calls resulting in an ambulance arriving at the scene within 19 minutes 

 

Standard 95% 

 

2013/14 97.5% 

2014/15 94.14% 

Apr-Jun 2014 95.42% 

Jul-Sep 2014 94.42% 

Oct-Dec 2014 91.78% 

Jan-Mar 2015 95.04% 

During the year 1251 people (5.9%), from a total of 21,362 people who required a fully equipped ambulance to 

attend urgently but did not have a condition considered immediately life threatening waited over 19 minutes for 

the ambulance to arrive. 

Healthcare Associated Infections 

CCGs also have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England; these are in addition to the objectives set for individual 

commissioned service providers. There has been an unfortunate rise in cases of both MRSA and C. difficile among 

our patients. Of the 112 cases of C. difficile, 48 were acquired in hospital and attributable to South Tees Hospitals 

NHS FT, one to Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS FT, and 63 were acquired in the community. As described in 

the Quality section of the strategic report, the CCG is working with the trust to put improvements in place 

following Professor Wilcox’s visit. We are also planning to work with NHS England to develop a quality prescribing 

scheme to help GP practices improve their prescribing of antibiotics.  
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Instances of Clostridium difficile 

 

Standard <51  

 

2013/14 59 

2014/15 112 

Apr-Jun 2014 28 

Jul-Sep 2014 18 

Oct-Dec 2014 32 

Jan-Mar 2015 34 

 

Instances of meticillin-resistant staphylococcus aureusis (MRSA) 

 

Standard 0 

 

2013/14 2 

2014/15 5 

Apr-Jun 2014 0 

Jul-Sep 2014 1 

Oct-Dec 2014 3 

Jan-Mar 2015 1 

Mixed-sex accommodation 

There were no breaches of the mixed sex accommodation standard in 2014/15, down from one the previous 

year. 

Mixed-Sex Accommodation Breaches 

 

Standard 0 
 

2013/14 1 

2014/15 0 
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Mental Health Care Programme Approach 

The Care Programme Approach is used by Mental Health providers to create and review joint care plans together 

across professional boundaries with the service user. In 2014/15 an increased percentage of service users from 

our area were on the Care Programme Approach. 

% on Care Programme Approach 

 

Standard 95% 
 

2013/14 98.1% 

2014/15 99% 

Quality Premium 

The quality premium is intended to reward CCGs for improvements in the quality of the services that they 

commission and the associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing inequalities. The quality premium 

paid to CCGs in 2014/15 reflects the quality of the health services commissioned by them in 2013/14, and is 

based on four national measures and three local measures.   

The total payment for a CCG based on performance against the four national measures and the three local 

measures is reduced if commissioned providers of health services did not meet NHS Constitutional rights or 

pledges for patients such as referral to treatment 18 week wait; A&E four hour wait; cancer 62 day wait & eight 

minute response time for ‘category A’ ambulance calls. Details of how our commissioned services performed in 

relation to these targets can be found in the Strategic Report pages 35-44.  

The total amount possible for CCGs to receive in achievement of the quality premium is £5 per patient in the 

CCG’s population; this amounts to £1,369,550 for NHS South Tees CCG. 

We achieved 50% of our quality premium in 2013/14 and therefore received £684,775 to invest locally. This was 

classed as above average performance when compared to both the regional and national achievements of other 

CCGs. 

We forecast that we may achieve some, but not all, of the quality premium for 2014/15. This is because waiting 

times for A&E services have narrowly missed the national target by 0.06 % and ambulance response times have 

not been reached over the winter resulting in the year end position being under target. However, we know that 

the cancer two week wait target and referral treatment within 18 weeks for a range of services as measured by the 

quality premium are exceeding national targets.
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95%

100%

2013/14 2014/15
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Financial Performance 2014/15 
 £000 

CCG Resources 2014/15 403,519 

Less Net Commissioned Services 388,916 

Less Net Administrative Costs 6,292 

Surplus 2014/15 8,311 
 

Our annual accounts have been prepared under a 

direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board 

under the National Health Service Act 2006 as 

amended and are set out on pages 126 to 155 of this 

report. 

We are pleased to report that we have achieved our 

financial duties in 2014/15. Our initial plan was to make 

a surplus of £3.9 million. During the year we increased 

our target surplus to £8.3 million.   Firstly the CCG 

funds that had been allocated to a central risk pool for 

old PCT continuing healthcare claims returned. This 

added £0.93 million to our surplus. In addition in 

partnership with NHS Property Services we saw a £2 

million reduction in estate void costs, this in 

combination with other unused contingencies allowed 

us to increase our total surplus for the year to £8.3 

million (2.1%). 

 

We commission services from a range of providers, 

 71% from NHS providers 

 15% with a range of non NHS organisations 

(including GP Practices and Local Authorities) 

 13% on primary care medicine prescriptions 

 1% on other items 

 

The costs of services provided by South Tees Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust represented 55% of our entire 

expenditure in 2014/15. Our two other significant 

providers are Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 

Foundation Trust (Mental Health and Learning 

Disabilities) 10.95% and North East Ambulance Services 

Foundation Trust 3%. 

 

Non NHS services expenditure includes our local 

authorities and care homes 7.5% of our costs in 

2014/15, specific care for patients with complex care 

needs (1.8%), acute and community care provided by 

independent sector organisations (2.5%) and our local 

walk in centres and out of hours doctor services 0.9%. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commissioned Services 2014/15 

Other Expenditure £5.41M 

NHS Services 

£278.86M 

Non-NHS 

Services 

£57.02M 

Prescribing 

£51.92M 

NHS Services 2014/15 

South Tees  
Hospitals FT 
£213.87M 

Other 
Providers 
£6.02M 

North Tees & Hartlepool FT £2.73M 
Newcastle FT £2.08M 

Tees, Esk & 
Wear Valleys 
FT £42.60M 

North East 
Ambulance 

FT 
£11.56M 

Non-NHS Services 2014/15 

Care 
Packages 
£6.86M 

Walk in &  
Out of Hours 

£3.42M 

Other £7.86M 

Commercial 
Providers 
£9.67M 

Local 
Authorities 
and Care 
Homes 

£29.21M 
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Planned Care accounts for 36.9% of our costs at South 

Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; this includes all 

day cases and non-emergency inpatients as well as 

outpatients and diagnostic services like x-ray and 

pathology. Emergency care (33.0%) includes accident 

and emergency as well as unplanned admissions. 

Other services include high cost drugs, intensive care 

and high dependency unit costs, audiology, wheelchair 

services and other smaller amounts of expenditure. 

 

 

Expenditure on Mental Health and Learning Disabilities 

excluding Continuing Healthcare amounted to £48.59 

million in 2014/15. Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 

Foundation Trust (TEWV) accounted for 87.4% of this 

expenditure for Inpatient and Community services for 

Children, Adults and Older People. 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

accounted for 4% of spend. This is an ‘any qualified 

provider’ contract and there are currently six 

organisations including NHS, independent and 

voluntary sectors that provide this service for the CCG. 

Complex packages of care in both Mental Health and 

Learning Disabilities accounted for 11.4% of spend. The 

majority of these care packages are provided by the 

independent sector, but a small number are provided 

by Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust. 

A risk share agreement with Hartlepool and Stockton –

on-Tees CCG is in place for these complex cases where 

we jointly share the total costs for our two CCGs. 

There are other small contracts that account for 2.2% 

of our spend. These include contracts with other NHS 

providers, voluntary sector organisations and our two 

Local Authorities. 

 

 

78.3% of Continuing Health Care costs relate to fully 

funded and shared care packages with our two local 

authorities. This includes payments to care homes and 

individual packages of care for patients with complex 

needs provided in a residential home, day care facility 

or in a patient’s own home. 

Funded Nursing Care accounts for 11.2% of the total 

annual cost, packages of care for children equate to 

5.8% and personal health budgets 4.7%.

South Tees Hospitals NHS FT 2014/15 

Emergency Care 

£70.59M 

Community 

£33.15M 

Maternity 

£5.87M 

Other 

Services 

£25.38M Planned Care 

£78.87M 

Mental Health & Learning Disabilities 

Specific Care 

Packages 

£4.08M 
TEWV Packages 

£1.44M 

TEWV IAPT 
£0.80M 

IAPT £1.17M 
 

Other 
£0.85M 

TEWV 

£40.25M 

Continuing Healthcare 2014/15 

Children’s 

Continuing 

Healthcare 

£1.47M 

Funded 

Nursing Care 

£2.86M 

Continuing 

Healthcare 

£19.96M 

Personal Health 

Budgets 

£1.19M 
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Financial Plans 

At the start of 2014/15 we finalised our five year plan 

for the period to March 2019. Since January 2015 we 

have been refining our plans for 2015-16 based on 

updated data, demographic information and guidance. 

Our financial resources for 2015-16 are £415.2 million 

(2014/15 £403.5 million). A significant element of the 

increased funds is because £6.8 million of resource for 

social care that was previously passed to the two local 

authorities by NHS England is now sent via the CCG in 

2015/16. 

 

Actual Plan 

 

2014/15 2015/16 

 

£ million £ million 

Acute Services 205.4 201.0 

Mental Health and Learning 

Disability 
48.4 49.9 

Community  Services 34.6 36.4 

Continuing care 25.5 26.0 

Primary Care 59.0 62.3 

Other Programmes 16.0 28.5 

Running Costs 6.3 6.1 

Surplus 8.3 5.0 

 

403.5 415.2 

 

One of our major challenges in 2015-16 will be to work 

with our local authorities and foundation trusts to 

enable better integrations of services with the Better 

Care Fund. The focus of this programme is to reduce 

emergency admissions into acute hospitals by 15% 

over the next five years. The aim for 2015-16 will be a 

3.5% reduction. The savings from reducing our 

dependency on emergency care will then support the 

new integrated health and social care services.  
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Strategic Report: Research and Innovation  
We are committed to delivering on our duties 

regarding the promotion of both research and 

innovation, and ensuring patients benefit from a 

continuously improving NHS.  This year we approved 

our first strategy to support research and innovation 

which sets out how we will embed a culture and ways 

of working within our organisation that encourages 

and nurtures research and innovation across our 

membership and within our commissioned services.  

Through the NHS Constitution a commitment has been 

made to make patients aware of research that they 

may be eligible to participate in. A number of our 

member practices are actively involved in research 

both conducting research and recruiting patients who 

may benefit from taking part. 

We have also invested in research and innovation 

through a number of innovation funds. This year we 

invested over £400k in community based services for 

local people doubling our investment from 2013/14 

with £200k allocated exclusively for mental health 

innovations initiatives.  

In addition, to meet our duties we established a 

Primary Care Research and Innovation Fund. We 

supported five exciting new initiatives developed by 

local GPs and their teams to improve the care and 

treatment they give to their patients. These were in the 

areas of addiction, online GP consultations, digital 

patient information and advice and prehabilitation – 

helping patients get ready for surgery at the point of 

referral to improve their outcomes.   

In addition, our commissioned service providers 

approach us with innovative proposals for our clinicians 

to consider.  This year we have supported new ways of 

working which have enabled women experiencing 

growths in the womb and women experiencing a 

miscarriage to receive treatment under local 

anaesthetic in the outpatients department. This means 

that they do not require an overnight hospital stay and 

can go home sooner. 

We are active partners in national and local networks 

such as the Academic Health Science Network (AHSN), 

clinical senates, and clinical research networks in our 

area.  

One of our GPs, Dr Rashpal Singh from the Endeavour 

Practice in Middlesbrough, and our Partnership and 

Innovations Manager are taking part in the AHSN 

‘Innovation Scouts’ programme. They are guided and 

supported by the AHSN in their ‘Scout’ role to seek 

out, support and spread innovation across the CCG 

and within our member practices.  
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Strategic Report: Listening, engaging and 

involving to improve health 
Listening to local people 

Our vision is to improve health together and to achieve 

this; good communication is vital. Although we have a 

statutory duty to involve people, we also believe 

passionately that people should be involved in 

decisions about healthcare and health services.  

Active engagement and involvement is a fundamental 

part of the process that enables us to identify the 

health priorities and service needs of people living 

locally. It helps ensure that we are able to commission 

high quality services that meet the needs of local 

people and provide the best possible quality of care. At 

the same time this helps to optimise effective spending 

of public money and develop our relationships.  

Independent assessment of our patient and public 

involvement  

In our annual report last year, we recognised the need 

to strengthen our involvement of and engagement 

with local people. To help us with this, we requested an 

independent assessment of our effectiveness 

conducted by Audit North to provide us with a level of 

assurance on our approach and help identify where 

and how we should improve.  

In early January, we were awarded with ‘significant 

assurance’ that our systems and processes for patient 

and public involvement (PPI) were effective, and the 

report also identified a number of areas for us to 

improve. Here is an overview of some of the 

recommendations made and how we have responded. 

Recommendations 

 Be clear with people about what was out with our 

remit as well as what they can influence 

 Include named leads for PPI on website  

 Review Quality Performance and Finance 

Committee terms of reference to ensure PPI is 

appropriately included 

 Patient and Public Advisory Group to 

independently review PPI mechanisms and advise 

CCG 

Action we have taken  

 We now include what we don’t do as well as what 

we do in presentations and in reports such as this 

 Names and contact details of CCG leads on 

website  

 Terms of reference reviewed and regular report on 

PPI activity now presented to Committee  

 Patient and Public Advisory Group will advise CCG 

on patient and public involvement mechanisms 

 Revising our approach to communication and 

engagement  

This year we refreshed our Communication and 

Engagement Strategy, which was approved by the 

Governing Body in January 2015, and took into 

account the recommendations from our independently 

commissioned audit.  The strategy sets out how we will 

involve local people in our decision making; how we 

will listen and respond to the views of experts and 

professionals; and how we will work with our members, 

local partners and other stakeholders to achieve our 

vision of improving the health and wellbeing of our 

local people.   

We are developing a detailed action plan which will 

enable us to monitor and continuously improve the 

way we work with local people. This will also help us 

achieve our corporate objectives and support strategic 

engagement by providing a focus for debates on local 

needs and priorities for improvement. 

The year at a glance 

We have undertaken more engagement this year than 

last year and worked at finding ways to reach a greater 

number and diverse range of people with unique 

experiences to share with us.  
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We have held more public events this year, as well as 

establishing the foundations of our Patient and Public 

Advisory Group. This group brings together local 

people to share their views and advise us on what 

matters most to them in a number of different aspects 

of care, treatment and service delivery. More detail 

about the group can be found on the ‘Get Involved’ 

section of our website.

 

Our programme of involvement and engagement: 

Public consultation event on IMProVE proposals 4 June 2014 City Learning Centre, Eston 

Public consultation event on IMProVE proposals 11 June 2014 Freebrough Enterprise Centre, Brotton 

Public consultation event on IMProVE proposals 18 June 2014 Guisborough Methodist Church, 

Guisborough 

Changes to Skelton Walk-in Service 30 June 2014 Skelton Medical Centre, Saltburn  

Public consultation event on IMProVE proposals 2 July 2014 Acklam Green Centre, Middlesbrough 

Public consultation event on IMProVE proposals 9 July 2014 Sacred Heart RC School, Redcar 

Commissioning Intentions Event 8 August 2014 Middlesbrough and Stockton Mind 

Community Hall, Middlesbrough 

Annual General Meeting and Health Fair 3 September 

2014 

City Learning Centre, Eston 

Commissioning intentions ‘you said, we did’ 

feedback event and consultation on equality 

priorities 

21 November 

2014 

Tuned In, Redcar 

Changes to Langbaurgh Walk-in Service 3 December 

2014 

Langbaurgh Medical Centre  

Primary Care Co-Commissioning Call to Action  8 January 2015 Tuned In, Redcar 

Loftus Accord   21 January 2015

  

Loftus Town Hall 

Saltburn 41 Club 25 March 2015 The Ship Inn, Marske 

Mental Health Strategy Engagement Event 26 March 2015 Trinity Centre, Middlesbrough  

Patient and Public Advisory Group Launch  31 March 2015 City Learning Centre, Eston 

 

Public Events and Groups   

The health of people in our local communities is 

influenced by many factors which can be complex. The 

actions that we take as a CCG to address these are key 

enablers to promoting health improvement, creating 

sustainable good health and tackling health 

inequalities. Public events provide a valuable 

mechanism for meeting and engaging with local 

populations to talk about some of our priorities for the 

year, and sometimes beyond. Engaging and involving 

local people helps us to analyse local community needs 

and requirements, but also to work with established 

community groups and organisations that have 

expertise and local knowledge that help us hold 

meaningful discussions that can influence the services 

we commission. 

 

At our public events we have the opportunity to share 

some of the work we are doing and to gauge local 

people’s opinions and views which inform our work 

going forward. We have worked with colleagues from 

Middlesbrough Council’s Community Hub team to 

share information within the hubs, and colleagues have 

attended locally organised events such as 

Middlesbrough Community PRIDE, Middlesbrough 

MELA, and the Redcar and Middlesbrough runs. 

In addition to our public events, we have been invited 

to attend local groups to discuss our work and the 

things that matter most to local people. These have 

included the Loftus Accord event in Loftus on 21 

January 2015.  This was an opportunity to discuss the 

care closer to home project IMProVE, listen to access 



Strategic Report: Listening, engaging and involving to improve health 

51 

 

concerns and hear the views of local people in relation 

to health and social care matters.   

On 7 May 2014, we visited the Living Sober project to 

see how our innovations fund is supporting the group’s 

work and on 25 March 2015 we attended the Saltburn 

41 Club.  The invite followed one of the members 

attending a CCG event; we were asked to share 

information on the NHS structure regionally and 

nationally and to clarify the roles and responsibilities of 

NHS organisations.   

We value the opportunity to meet with local groups 

and this also enables us to share the work of the CCG 

as well as details about the Patient and Public Advisory 

Group (PPAG) and MY NHS. 

2014 Annual General Meeting (AGM) and Health 

Fair  

Our AGM, held on 3 September 2014 provided an 

opportunity to reflect with partners and the public on 

our first year. The meeting was well attended and 

began with a health fair enabling members of the 

public to find out more about us, our community 

innovations fund and receive some basic health checks 

and advice.  Our Chief Officer gave an overview of the 

CCG's priorities and noted some of the challenges we 

had faced and highlighted some of the achievements 

made in such a short time.  

Our Chief Finance Officer presented the Annual 

Accounts followed by the launch of our Community 

innovations and Mental Health innovations funds.  

There was also an open question and answer session 

for the public and an opportunity for networking at the 

end of the meeting.   

Sponsorship 

This year we were approached to sponsor the 

Middlesbrough 5k run and the Redcar 2k Fun Run.  We 

were delighted be part of such fun and health focused 

local events. We have also sponsored the Evening 

Gazette Community Champion Award and the South 

Tees Excellence in Volunteering Award. 

Commissioning Priorities for 2015/16 

Commissioning is the process of planning and paying 

for services to meet the health needs of the local 

population.  

This year we shared our proposed commissioning 

plans, which we call our ‘commissioning intentions’, for 

2015/16 in a number of ways, with our members and 

partners as well as with members of the public.   

In August 2014 we invited members of the public, 

patients and carers to share their views on what they 

thought we should commission.  We reviewed the 

comments and feedback we received, and used this to 

inform the ongoing development of the 

commissioning intentions within our clinical 

workstreams.  We published the intentions on our 

website and shared them at a public event which was 

2014 Health Fair 

Our first Annual General 

Meeting 

Chief Officer Amanda 

Hume, and Governing 

Body GP, Dr Vaishali 

Nanda at the 

Middlesbrough 2k Fun 

Run and 5k run at the 

Riverside Stadium 
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advertised in the press and through social media. 

Partners including Healthwatch and the voluntary 

development agencies also promoted the event 

through their networks.    

We have also worked with, and through, our local 

voluntary and community development agencies in the 

development of our intentions. They have been 

engaging with local communities on our behalf 

enabling local people to have a voice in health service 

commissioning. This work included those who we 

consider to be seldom heard or under-represented in 

relation to commissioning decision-making, such as 

people with a learning disability and people from black 

and minority ethnic communities.  The reports and 

findings from these discussions have been taken 

forward through our clinical workstreams and have 

informed our commissioning.   

Supporting local GP Patient Participation Groups 

Most GP practices have patient participation groups 

(PPGs) which meet regularly or communicate by email. 

While groups have been established for the purpose of 

supporting practice improvements, we are recognising 

the value and expertise of the patient experts that 

attend these PPG meetings.   

We established regular PPG and CCG meetings with 

the Redcar and Cleveland and Eston Practice 

representatives, and we are developing a similar model 

with Middlesbrough PPGs.  These meetings have 

enabled us to understand more about what matters to 

patients and share our plans. They are also an 

opportunity to discuss how the practices could work in 

partnership with the CCG, to influence future 

commissioning intentions and to build meaningful 

relationships with each other.    

We are keen to continue to engage and involve PPGs 

more and we are delighted that many are keen to work 

with us. 

Innovation in health services  

For the second year, local people were also involved in 

reviewing submissions to each of our community 

innovations fund and we also had public 

representation in our new Primary Care Research and 

Innovation Fund (see page 14 for more details). 

Members of the public reviewed proposals alongside 

clinicians and operational staff and shared their views 

enabling collective prioritisation areas for investment.  

My NHS 

My NHS is our online membership scheme, designed 

to enable people to get involved in local 

commissioning decisions.  In particular, it has been 

developed as a mechanism to allow those who may 

find it difficult to get involved in more traditional ways,  

to have their say. This might include young people, 

those in full-time employment, shift workers or people 

with family or other commitments. 

Our membership has grown this year with 45 new 

people signing up to MY NHS taking membership to a 

total of 670 people. However, we would like there to 

have been more and we will work on growing our 

membership in 2015/16.  

By becoming a member of MY NHS people will: 

 receive regular updates about the work of the CCG 

 receive invitations to events 

 have opportunities to give your views about areas 

of healthcare that interest you 

 be able to participate as much or as little as they 

like by choosing their own level of membership 

More detail about the group can be found on the ‘Get 

Involved’ section of our website. 

www.southteesccg.nhs.uk 

Our CCG website 
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Our website has been re-developed this year 

responding to recommendations from our 

independent audit and regular review by the CCG 

team. This had made it more accessible and provides 

information about what we do and how to get 

involved. The site acts as a key source of information 

on our engagement activities.  

Governing Body meetings 

Our Governing Body meetings are open to the 

public so that they can observe the Governing Body 

at work and we offer a ‘question time’ when 

members of the public can ask questions and make 

comments on items on the agenda. 

Listening, Engaging and 

Involving Local People    

Calling all critical friends 

This year the CCG established its new Patient and 

Public Advisory Group.  The group will comprise of 

members of the public who will come together to 

advise the CCG on aspects of its commissioning 

activities and enable local people to help shape 

existing commissioning plans and influence future 

plans.  

Members of the public were invited to apply to 

become members and ‘critical friends’, as well as help 

prioritise the group’s work.  

Commissioning Intentions – Public Engagement 

Meetings  

In August and November 2014, we held public 

meetings to share our draft proposals for new 

commissioning intentions and seek suggestions for 

future priorities.   

The events were an opportunity for clinicians to share 

the work of our clinical leads and workstreams, as well 

the challenges that the CCG would like to tackle in the 

coming year and beyond.  

This is an overview of how we typically engage with 

patients, the public, partners and our membership 

when developing commissioning plans.  

Twitter  

We recognise that social media is a great way to 

interact with people and it is rapidly growing in 

popularity. We have worked hard this year to improve 

Members of the public meet with CCG staff and 

discuss their priorities at the Patient and Public 

Advisory Group launch event 

Timeline for development of commissioning intentions, 

including patient and public engagement 
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our use of Twitter to share key messages and stimulate 

discussion. For example we have begun ‘tweeting’ an 

overview of the discussion from our weekly Executive 

meeting.  We also share information such as the CCG 

team’s activities in support of charity. 

You can follow us @SouthTeesCCG 

https://twitter.com/SouthTeesCCG 

Life Store - Health advice in the heart of the 

community  

We work closely with Pioneering Care Partnership who 

manage the Life Store, a health advice and information 

service in Middlesbrough’s shopping centre on our 

behalf. 

Open six days a week, it provides a range of health 

advice and information and connects the public to 

sources of expert health and wellbeing advice and 

support. The Life Store’s team of qualified health 

trainers deliver high quality health and wellbeing 

support for South Tees residents through ad-hoc 

advice, classes and one-to-one sessions. 

This year, we have embarked upon a review of this 

service, mindful that it is not used by our Redcar and 

Cleveland population as frequently as it is by our 

Middlesbrough residents. We plan to better 

understand the needs of our population and explore 

how the service could best support people in both 

Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland. 

Healthwatch 

Healthwatch is an independent consumer champion 

created to gather and represent the views of the 

public. Local Healthwatch organisations were launched 

on 1 April 2013. Their role includes: 

 to ensure that providers of health and social care in 

the community listen and take account of patient 

views 

 share information about the choices people have 

as a patient, carer or future user  

 listen and feedback patient experiences and views 

on their behalf  

 take up concerns or issues as an independent, 

influential organisation committed to improving 

standards and experience of patient care 

 

The CCG has positive working relationships with 

Healthwatch Middlesbrough and Healthwatch Redcar 

and Cleveland with quarterly meetings to share issues 

and progress. Recent Healthwatch reports on IAPT and 

cancer have been presented to the Governing Body 

along with the actions taken by the CCG in response to 

Healthwatch’s recommendations. 

Healthwatch Redcar and Cleveland held an event in 

March 2015 to showcase their achievements over the 

year and they featured work undertaken in 

collaboration with the CCG around cancer and 

psychological therapy services. This was in response to 

Healthwatch reports present to the CCG and other 

partners.   

The event, which was attended by CCG Chair Dr Janet 

Walker and David Brunskill, Lay Member for Patient 

and Public Involvement, was also an opportunity to 

help Healthwatch prioritise future work plan activities, 

Empowering carers 

This year, we have worked with our two local 

authorities and members of the voluntary and 

community sector, along with carers themselves, to 

develop two joint strategies to better inform, empower 

and support carers. The joint Redcar and Cleveland 

Carers strategy, led by the local authority and the 

Carers Partnership, was approved at our Governing 

https://twitter.com/SouthTeesCCG
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Body in January. In 2015/16 we will publish for 

consultation our joint strategy for caring in 

Middlesbrough. We are working in partnership with 

Middlesbrough Local Authority and Middlesbrough 

Voluntary Development Agency and we have involved 

a number of local organisations representing carers.  

Our plans for engagement in 2015/16 

Locally we have some of the most deprived 

communities in England with some of the worst health 

outcomes. We also know we have some fantastic assets 

in these communities, not least the people themselves 

and we want to hear from local people, understand 

their experiences and work in partnership with them to 

improve local health.  

We are always impressed by the amount of people 

who take time to share their views with us, by 

attending meetings, emailing us, tweeting us or when 

we meet face-to-face.  We hope however, once again, 

to increase our engagement for the year ahead, and 

plan more creative ways of seeking people’s 

experience of NHS services.    

Key elements of the CCG engagement framework 

for the year ahead include: 

 Engaging people who don’t traditionally share their 

views with us - we want to get a broader view from 

our local population so we will be reviewing the 

way we deliver key messages and think about how 

we can target messages; for example, through local 

employers or by working with established 

communities across South Tees. 

 

 Strengthen relationships with partner organisations 

and groups to enable us to work more efficiently 

together and with communities to improve services 

for local people. 

 

 Develop the Patient and Public Advisory Group     

(PPAG), empowering people to take part in 

discussions and decision relating to shared 

priorities and areas of interest, drawing on their 

expertise as patients and carers. 

 

 Encourage more people to sign up to MY NHS, our 

membership scheme.  

 

 We will also improve the information we share with 

stakeholders through MY NHS, on our website and 

via social media. 

 

Kind words from doctor                                               

RE: Dr Janet Walker, South Tees Clinical Commissioning 

Group chairman’s article in The Gazette (03.04.15). I had the 

pleasure of sitting on the same table as Dr Walker at the 

recent Healthwatch event in Redcar.  I am a parent/carer 

and am so pleased to read her article and to learn that she is 

a “listener”.  

It warms my heart to think that some professionals are 

beginning to listen to us lay people. Her points that she 

listened to, and commented on, in this article are about 

communication and taking the time to communicate better.  

We focussed on people with sensory impairments-

individuals who need hearing aids, glasses, etc. Why would 

staff member remove someone’s hearing aid before surgery 

or even simply to clean it and then begin asking that person 

questions? It does happen! 

 I suggested basic awareness training and putting the 

professional in another person’s shoes, i.e. having the 

opportunity to wear glasses for tunnel vision to get a feel for 

how that feels, etc. 

I know everyone can’t get to these types of meetings but we 

can also learn more and help to make a difference by visiting 

www.southteesccg.nhs.uk 

As Dr Walker said “taking small steps can make all the 

difference to a patient’s experience”.            

Linda Dickinson, Normanby.  

From letter sent to and printed in the Evening Gazette, 8
th
 

April 2015 

 

http://www.southteesccg.nhs.uk/
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Partnership Working  

Our vision is ‘improving health together’ and we have a 

strong commitment to developing meaningful 

partnerships with local organisations to ensure we 

collectively deliver excellent services for the people of 

South Tees.   

This ethos has been instrumental in our organisation 

taking a leadership role on our local approach to 

integration and our Chief Officer chairs both the 

Integration Programme Board and the Mental Health 

Crisis Care Task Group. It has also enabled us to 

progress plans for the Better Care Fund and managing 

surge and winter pressures. 

Partners from a range of provider trusts and the 

voluntary and community sector are also members of 

our clinical workstreams and initiatives such as our 

Deep End work (see page 34). This year we have 

worked with local authorities, the Carers Partnership 

and voluntary and community development agencies 

on the development of strategies for carers.  

Delivering Health and Wellbeing Strategies  

We are active partners in our local Health and 

Wellbeing Boards; we have one in Middlesbrough and 

one in Redcar and Cleveland and together we have 

developed health and wellbeing strategies for local 

people.  We have ensured that our plans across the 

partnership are developed jointly to deliver the best 

possible health and wellbeing opportunities and 

services across the South of Tees. 

There are a number of ways in which we contribute to 

the delivery of the joint health and wellbeing strategies. 

One way is through the Boards themselves and this 

year, with partners from a range of local organisations, 

we have explored the following within the context of 

health and wellbeing and our individual and collective 

responsibilities: health and social care integration; the 

Better Care Fund; IMProVE; winter, demand 

management; seven day services, data sharing across 

partner organisations; giving children the best start in 

life; troubled families; child sexual exploitation; obesity 

and physical activities; and consultation on local GP 

practices and walk-in-centres.  

We have not only attended the Boards themselves, we 

have also taken a role in the delivery groups which are 

focused on taking forward the joint health and 

wellbeing strategies. This work includes wellbeing, 

financial inclusion, children and young people, older 

people, carers and public health. With partners we 

have also responded to key reports such as Due North, 

a national enquiry into health equity.  

We are also in the process of developing a CCG health 

inequalities strategy, to support delivery of key 

elements of the joint health and wellbeing strategies 

and we are being supported in this by local authority 

colleagues who are members of our Health Inequalities 

Workstream.  We also have a number of clinical leads 

taking forward agendas supporting delivery of the 

strategies such as maternal and child health, and 

cancer; for more information about our clinical leads 

see pages 23 to 25. 

We look forward to continuing to work with our 

partners throughout 2015/16. 

The Better Care Fund 

In June 2013 the Government announced  the ‘Better 

Care Fund’ which is a budget to improve the way 

health services and social care services work together, 

focusing initially on services for older people and 

people living with long term conditions. The Better 

Care Fund is considered a real opportunity for change, 

streamlining the care patients receive with a greater 

emphasis on quality of life and wellbeing; and more 

service provision in the community with less reliance on 

hospitals. 

Along with both local authorities, we have developed 

initial two year plans.  The plans are in line with our 

vision for improving care for the vulnerable and elderly 

(IMProVE Programme).  

They include: 
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 The development of a single point of access for 

health and social community services – making it 

easier for patients and health professionals to 

access services. 

 Supporting independence – investing more in 

reablement services, which support people to 

regain independence following a crisis or hospital 

episode. 

 Further development of carers’ services. 

The plan has been informed by the views of patients, 

service users, carers and the people who work with 

them.  

Working with the voluntary and community sector  

We know that the voluntary and community sector has 

knowledge, resource, relationships and experience that 

we do not have.  Over the last year we have been 

further developing our relationships with our VCS 

organisations, working with Middlesbrough Voluntary 

Development Agency, and Redcar and Cleveland 

Voluntary Development Agency. We know that we 

need to do more and the feedback from the sector 

provided by the Voluntary Development Agencies will 

inform our approach going forward.  

We recognise the vital role voluntary and community 

based services play in supporting local people and 

indeed this was the direct motivation for establishing 

our Community Innovations Fund. As we are now 

beginning to receive evaluations of some of the 

schemes funded we will, in 2015/16, reflect on the fund 

and listen to the feedback that some of our local 

voluntary and community organisations have shared 

with us. For more details about this year’s fund see 

page 62. 

Working with our neighbouring CCGs 

The clinical commissioning groups in the North East 

regularly meet via the Northern CCG Forum having 

identified mutual interests and opportunities for 

collaborative working. We are also part of the same 

academic health science network and clinical senates. 

We have found these to be useful ways in which we 

can share challenges and ideas to get the best for 

patients from the new commissioning system. 

Real choice and control for 

patients – personal health 

budgets   

A personal health budget (PHB) is an amount of 

money allocated by the NHS to meet an individual’s 

health and wellbeing needs. From April 2014, everyone 

living in the community receiving continuing health 

care funding has the right to request a personal health 

budget. The budgets can be used creatively to meet a 

set of health outcomes agreed between the individual 

and the NHS.  

The PHB programme was first launched by the 

Department of Health in 2009, following a national 

pilot which both Middlesbrough and Redcar and 

Cleveland were part of. This showed that personal 

health budget were cost effective and led to better 

outcomes for patients, including fewer hospital 

admissions.  

Feedback from patients involved in the initial pilot was 

extremely positive. Patients embraced the freedom and 

control which came with having a Personal Health 

Budget. They provide a way of delivering highly 

personalised care packages to individuals with long-

term physical and mental health conditions. Ultimately, 

PHBs give people the chance of living more 

independently in their own communities and relying 

less on conventional health services. 

Local authorities have been successful in providing 

personal budgets for social care clients for a number of 

years. Rather than ‘reinventing the wheel’, there has 

been a joined up approach to implement the systems 

and processes to ensure a seamless experience to 

budget holders. 
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Personal health budgets making a difference for Dan 

As a youngster, Daniel Woodhouse from Stainton, now 26 was diagnosed 

with Morquio’s Syndrome - a rare genetic disorder that allowed his organs 

to develop but stopped his skeleton growing. It was hoped that surgery 

carried out in November 2003 would strengthen the bones in his neck and 

protect his spinal cord, but tragically the surgery was unsuccessful and Dan 

was left quadriplegic and permanently ventilated. Dan therefore requires 

daily round the clock care. Thanks to the NHS Personal Health Budget 

scheme (PHB), Dan was able to choose his own carers and has a care 

package in place which enables him, with the support of his family, to be as 

independent as possible. PHB’s give people greater freedom to buy 

services and other items which help them achieve their desired health 

outcomes and stay independent.   

 

Daniel Woodhouse with his family enjoying the Paralympics at Queen 

Elizabeth Olympic Park 

The early feedback has been excellent and we have been sharing best practice 

across the North-East and promoting Personal Health Budgets to local people. 

For more information visit http://www.southteesccg.nhs.uk/local-services/personal-

health-budgets/  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Though there have been 

some challenges getting the 

care package in place it has all 

been worth it.  Previously I 

had agency carers in place 

and they would cancel at the 

last minute which put lots of 

pressure on my family and 

made me worry a lot.  With 

the PHB I have employed my 

own carers which means I 

have consistent care in place 

24/7” 

Daniel Woodhouse, holder of 

a Personal Health Budget 
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Strategic Report: Our role in the community  
Community Innovation Fund  

This year we invested in research and innovation 

through a number of innovation funds. This year we 

invested over £400,000 in community based services 

for local people, doubling our investment from 

2013/14 with £200,000 allocated exclusively for mental 

health innovation initiatives. See feature on page 62 for 

more information. 

Sustainability and Social Responsibility  

Sustainability means meeting the needs of today 

without compromising the needs of tomorrow; in other 

words, using resources wisely in order that they will still 

be available in the long term.  The environment around 

us is important and we understand the effect it can 

have on people’s everyday lives.  Access to green 

spaces and a sense of community are some things we 

know have a positive impact on people’s wellbeing. 

Our aim is to create lasting social benefits, safeguard 

the health and safety of employees, patients and 

providers whilst commissioning safe, cost efficient 

services to the community.   

We will ensure that we comply with our obligations 

under the Climate Change Act 2008, including the 

Adaptation Reporting Power, and the Public Services 

(Social Value) Act 2012. We are also taking proactive 

steps to protect the environment by reducing carbon 

emissions, conserving energy and materials where 

possible and mitigating any negative effect our 

activities which the CCG may have on the local 

environment. 

We are an organisation with a small number of staff 

but we have worked to embed sustainable principles in 

our work. We have a Governing Body lead for 

sustainability and a Sustainable Development Strategy 

which we refreshed this year. The strategy sets out the 

actions we will take to deliver not only our legal duties 

regarding sustainability, but also our responsibilities as 

part of the Middlesbrough and Redcar communities as 

commissioner of a vast range of NHS services and as a 

local employer.   

The strategy will ensure we focus on:  

 Commissioning and procuring sustainably. 

 Reducing energy and waste. 

 Reducing unnecessary transport and travel. 

 Training enabling staff to be more sustainable.  

For example, where possible and proving good value 

for taxpayer’s money we use local organisations to 

supply our business services; we ‘reduce, reuse and 

recycle’ where we can; and we car share, use 

teleconferencing, and promote active travel.  We offer 

shower facilities and cycle parking where we can to 

promote active travel. We work hard to minimise the 

creation of waste and have a robust approach to 

recycling. Paper, cardboard, glass, metal, ink cartridges, 

batteries and confidential waste are all recycled. We 

are also actively commissioning care closer to home 

and support home working opportunities where 

possible to reduce unnecessary NHS staff travel time.  

NHS Sustainability Day & Green Office Week 

We took part in NHS Sustainability Day and Green 

Office Week, which provided an opportunity to engage 

and enthuse staff in sustainability issues, and to begin 

to develop work to reduce the impact of business 

travel. 

We hope through initiatives such as these we will build 

on these achievements in 2015/16 and further 

strengthen our commitment and indeed our outcomes 

with regards to sustainability development and 

corporate responsibility. 
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Policy Information   

Does your organisation have a current Board-approved Sustainable Development Management Plan 

(SDMP) or Carbon Reduction Management Plan (CRMP)? 

Yes 

Was the SDMP reviewed or approved by the Board in the last 12 months? Yes 

Does your organisation have a healthy or green transport plan? No 

Does your organisation promote healthy travel? Yes 

Do your commissioning, tendering and procurement processes include:  

An assessment of the environmental impacts? No 

An assessment of the social impacts? Yes 

A consideration of the suppliers' sustainability policies? No 

Are you in a strategic partnership with other organisations on sustainability? Yes 

Does your organisation use the Good Corporate Citizenship (GCC) tool? No 

Does your organisation promote sustainability to its employees? Yes 

Do you use eClass for procurement? Yes 

Performance Information   

Does your organisation have its own carbon reduction target? No 

Is there a Board Level lead for Sustainability on your Board? Yes 

Does your board consider sustainability issues as part of its risk management process? No 

Does your board approved plans address the potential need to adapt the delivery of your organisation's 

activities and organisation's infrastructure as a result of climate change and adverse weather events? 

No 

Our consumption* and spend on utilities and waste 

 2013/14 2014/15 

 Consumption  Cost £ Consumption  Cost £ 

Gas kw/h 62,069.18 Data not available 61,753.02 3,290.52 

Electricity kW/h 23,632.29 6,136.21 37,259.01 4,735.29 

Water (m3) 207.80 531.34 403.31 1,031.25 

Confidential 

Waste (Tonnes) 

9.41  2,323.17 7.68  1,896.43 

Total carbon 

emissions from 

electricity and gas 

23,161.88 Not applicable 29,838.47 Not applicable 

*Figures estimated by NHS Property Services from total building consumption based on proportion of building occupied by the CCG.  

Water Consumption Calculation - calculated from costs on the basis of using a conversion factor of £2.55696 per 

cubic meter. This conversion figure is an average of ten water company charges for both Fresh Water supply and 

Sewerage processing from 2013 and 2014 that supply NHS PS properties.      

Electric Consumption Calculation - where no details are available for electric consumption the consumption 

figures have been estimated using a conversion factor of 12.8 pence per unit. This conversion figure is based on 

an average taken from a representative sample of NHS PS properties. 

Gas Consumption Calculation - where no details are available for gas consumption the consumption figures have 

been estimated using a conversion factor of 2.4978 pence per KWh. This conversion figure is based on an 

average taken from a representative sample of NHS PS properties.  

Waste Weight - the weight of all waste categories has been estimated based on cost using an appropriate 

conversion factor. Please note that as the waste data was not broken down into categories for 2013/14, this 

breakdown has been estimated based on 2014/15 information. 

Finance information - provided on the understanding that it is based on the information available at the time of 

the report’s release.  

Carbon emissions – conversion factor for electricity 0.494625 and conversion factor for gas 0.184973 
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Equality, diversity and human rights  

We are a CCG with a small number of directly 

employed team members. We are based in the heart 

of North Ormesby Health Village, and we are 

supported by a commissioning support unit (North of 

England Commissioning Support). 

NHS South Tees CCG complies with the Equality Act 

2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty.  We have 

demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality and 

Human Rights into account in everything we do, 

whether that is commissioning services, employing 

people, developing policies, communicating, consulting 

or involving people in our work through the 

development of our Equality Strategy, our corporate 

objectives and our mission to provide  “Seamless, high 

quality, safe healthcare for all”. 

We promote a human rights based approach to our 

work, with the belief that individuals should be treated 

with fairness, respect, equality, dignity, and autonomy 

in all that we do.  We have a robust induction policy in 

place which details our commitment to this agenda. 

We have a dedicated Diversity Lead and nominated 

Lay Member - Equality and Diversity Lead within the 

CCG. Our Diversity Manager and Human Resources 

support are provided by our commissioning support 

unit to provide proactive advice and guidance on all 

equality matters. 

Equality and Diversity is governed by and reports into 

the Governance and Risk Committee. The committee is 

accountable to the NHS South Tees CCG Governing 

Body (GB) and has responsibility for overseeing and 

reporting to the Governing Body and providing 

assurance to the Audit Committee on governance and 

risk management, information governance, research 

governance and equality and diversity issues.  

The committee ensures we are compliant with 

legislative, mandatory and regulatory requirements 

regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers 

national and regional diversity-related initiatives within 

the CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues and 

opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for 

information dissemination and escalation, monitors 

progress against the Equality Strategy and supports us 

in the achievement of key equality and diversity 

objectives.
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Focus on: Grass roots innovation 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

“There are some fantastic 

innovative ideas in this year’s 

bids which will have a positive 

impact on the health of local 

people.”  

Dr Janet Walker,                                          

Chair of NHS South Tees 

CCG  

 

 

 

 

 

 

“This investment will enable 

The Junction to support more 

vulnerable young people and 

enable them to rise above life’s 

challenges, building their 

emotional resilience and 

improving their mental 

health.” 

Lawrence McAnelly, 

The Junction Foundation 

The CCG has a duty to promote innovation. 

 Following the success of our Community Innovations Fund last year, we once 

again welcomed our partners in the voluntary and community sector to apply for 

funding for innovative schemes that would support the CCG in delivering its 

primary purpose of improving the health and wellbeing of the population of 

Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland. We asked local voluntary groups from 

the community and mental health sector to submit innovative applications aimed 

at improving the health of people from across South Tees. We received over 50 

applications which were shortlisted to receive a portion of the £400,000 fund. One 

of the successful projects, Cleveland Alzheimer’s Residential Centre offers care 

for people with dementia at Kirkdale Care Home, one of the first facilities of its 

kind in the UK, as well as at Allison House and an Outreach Day Centre in 

Uppergarth Gardens, Guisborough. Their aim is to treat those affected by 

Alzheimer’s disease and other related dementias, support the family and friends of 

those with dementia and promote research into possible cures and prevention of 

Alzheimer’s disease.  With the £36,540.21 funding they will work with partners 

from across Middlesbrough to develop the area as a nationally recognised 

dementia friendly community. 

Gayle Tweed, Chief Executive, Cleveland Alzheimer’s Residential Centre, said, “We 

are very thankful for this opportunity. By taking a number of low cost, achievable 

steps, local businesses and other organisations can make a big difference to the 

lives of people with dementia and their carers. With more people living in the 

community with dementia, becoming dementia friendly can help organisations to 

attract and maintain customers in the future”. 

The Junction Foundation 

based in Redcar, successfully 

bid for £33,758 from the 

Mental Health Innovation 

Fund. They plan to deliver a 

project aimed at 16 – 25 year 

olds to reduce social isolation 

and anxiety, establish positive 

and strong support networks 

and nurture self-belief. 

Lawrence McAnelly of The 

Junction Foundation, said, “It 

is excellent news, this investment will enable The Junction to support more 

Staff at the Junction Foundation in Redcar 
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vulnerable young people and enable them to rise 

above life's challenges, building their emotional 

resilience and improving their mental health". 

Seventeen local projects from Middlesbrough and 

Redcar and Cleveland have received funding and the 

successful local community projects this year were: 

Sporting Memories Network, North Riding County 

Football Association, Carers Together, Living Sober, 

Mommy’s Little Helper, Friends of Skelton Library, 

Trinity Holistic Centre, Middlesbrough Library Services 

(books on prescription for dementia), ME North East 

and Cleveland Alzheimer’s Residential Care.  

Successful projects in the mental health category were: 

MFC Foundation; Middlesbrough and Stockton MIND; 

Wellbeing for All the Well Being Recovery College; 

Garth Surgery, Garth Health and Wellbeing Service; 

Victim Support Mental Health Innovation Project; The 

Junction Foundation; The LINK (Redcar) CIC and EVA 

Women’s Aid.
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Strategic Report: Equality and Diversity 
Equality Delivery System 2 

In order to ensure compliance with the Public Sector 

Equality Duty and the Equality Act 2010, we use the 

Equality Delivery System 2 framework designed by NHS 

England as a tool to enable us to deliver our duties. 

Using this framework has ensured that we can fully 

assess the areas for improvement with regards to 

Equality and Diversity; it has enabled us to shape our 

new Equality Objectives which are: 

 Continuously improve the way we commission 

patient centred, quality and safe services.  

 Improve the way the CCG and partners involve and 

engage service users from protected groups 

enabling improved access to health and care 

services. 

 Continue to review and monitor team values to 

empower and engage staff. 

 Ensure the CCG Governing Body actively leads on 

Equality and Diversity throughout the organisation.  

The objectives will be followed up and reported on 

through the Governance and Risk Committee using an 

internal action plan on a quarterly basis. 

In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the 

information around the implementation of EDS2, 

engagement of stakeholders during this process and 

the new objectives are published on our website.  

Promoting Equality and Diversity 

We have access to an online and paper based copy of 

a multi-faith Diversity Calendar for both 2014 and 2015 

designed by our Equality and Diversity Manager. This 

calendar highlights key dates in order to promote the 

positive work that can be achieved when Equality and 

Diversity principles are embedded within an 

organisation. 

We also receive the Diversity Matters newsletter on a 

quarterly basis from our commissioning support unit to 

keep all staff up-to-date on current diversity issues, 

news and key dates for our diaries.  

Accessibility and Communications 

Equality Analysis (EA) ensures that we can identify the 

impact or effect, either positive or negative, of our 

policies, procedures and functions on various sections 

of the population we serve. For any negative impacts 

identified we will take immediate steps to deal with 

such issues and make sure equity of service delivery is 

available for all.  

Our EA Toolkit and Guidance process covers all 

equality groups offered protection under the Equality 

Act 2010 (Race, Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual 

Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil 

Partnership and Gender Re‐assignment) as well as 

Human Rights and Carers. We ensure that our public 

buildings are accessible for people with a disability.  

We use Everyday Language Solutions when an 

interpreter is required by telephone and when face‐to‐

face interpreting may be needed. Information for 

patients and the general public is available in other 

languages or formats such as large print or Braille and 

audio upon request.  

We have also earned the two tick ‘positive about 

disabled people’ symbol awarded by Jobcentre Plus 

which demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain 

and develop the abilities of disabled staff. 

 This year, the CCG is proud to have taken part in 

Stonewall’s Healthcare Equality Index 2014. Stonewall 

works to achieve equality and justice for lesbians, gay 

men and bisexual people. The Stonewall Assessment 

helps healthcare organisations benchmark and track 
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progress on equality for lesbian, gay and bisexual 

patients and communities.  

We are pleased to have taken part in the 

benchmarking, however there is still much work to do 

and the CCG welcomes Stonewall’s support in this area 

especially in relation to policy and practice, staff 

training and communications and engagement.   Over 

the next year we plan to improve awareness and skills 

in how we commission services for lesbian, gay and bi-

sexual patients living in Middlesbrough and Redcar and 

Cleveland. 

“Ensuring everyone gets fair access to health services is 

best for patients. It makes sense for the health economy 

too; if we diagnose earlier, and ensure patients’ needs are 

met sooner, it helps to make best use of resources” 

Simon Gregory, Chief Finance Officer for South Tees CCG 

Equal Opportunities and Training for Staff  

Our staff are our most vital asset, and they perform at 

their best when they can be themselves. We ensure 

that all staff are aware of their requirements around 

equality and diversity through mandatory training, we 

have additionally offered staff training in completing 

Equality Analysis (previously Equality Impact 

Assessments) as a way of finding out whether an 

existing or proposed policy, function or service has 

differential impact on particular people and, if so, 

whether the differential impact is adverse or positive 

and whether it can be justified or not. 

Staff involved in the recruitment of new staff are also 

required to undertake recruitment and selection 

training which includes awareness of equality and 

diversity legislation as it relates to the recruitment and 

induction process. 

We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, 

workforce engagement and employment terms and 

conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms 

and conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with 

staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal 

value, being entitled to equal pay. Any employee who 

feels that they have been discriminated against on any 

grounds set out within our Equal Opportunities policy 

should initially raise their concerns with their line 

manager.   

Where an employee’s concerns relate to their line 

manager, the employee should raise their concern with 

the next more senior officer. Alternatively, employees 

may wish to discuss their concern with a member of 

the Human Resources Department.    

Where resolution cannot be achieved through informal 

discussion, an employee may put forward a grievance 

in line with the guidelines set down in the CCG’s 

Grievance Procedure. Alternatively, the CCG’s 

Prevention of Harassment and Bullying at Work policy 

may be followed. At all stages of the procedure, 

employees can be accompanied by a Trade Union 

representative or work colleague.  

As a CCG we recognise the importance of completing 

Equality Analysis, as a way of finding out whether an 

existing or proposed policy, function or service has 

differential impact on particular people and, if so, 

whether the differential impact is adverse or positive 

and whether it can be justified or not.    

Completing an equality analysis is a necessary step to 

ensure opportunity for all is achieved with a new 

service or project or a ‘significant’ change to an existing 

service. It will show where there are gaps in services or 

projects and can be used to ensure that services are 

commissioned which are right for local communities 

and cater to the needs of our diverse and ever 

changing population. 

Staff training is a mandatory requirement for all our 

staff. Senior managers are also required to undertake 

recruitment and selection training which includes 

awareness of equality and diversity legislation as it 

relates to the recruitment process.  All new employees 
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are taken through an induction process which covers equality and diversity awareness, CCG policies and the 

CCG’s approach to equality.  

Sickness Absence 

During 2014/15, the CCG has monitored workforce sickness. We are committed to taking steps to improve the 

health and wellbeing of our staff, offer support and reduce the levels and cost of sickness absence.  

The CCG has an annual absence rate of 2.05%, which is below the overall North of England CCG’s rate of 2.97%. 

Whilst there are noticeable peaks and troughs across the year, it is not recommended that any significance is 

attached to this, as the small number of staff within the CCG does result in an exaggerated picture.  

Sickness Absence               (rolling year) 13/14 14/15 

Annual Sickness Absence Rate 1.59% 2.05% 

Short Term Absence <4 wks 0.52% 0.6% 

Long Term Absence >=4 wks 1.07% 1.4% 

Calendar Days Lost 95 132 

FTE Days Lost 95.00 129.1 

Estimated Cost £28,573 £10,267 

 

Staff Gender Profile 

The CCG staff gender profile for employees (including Governing Body) can be seen below, alongside the number 

of senior managers within the CCG of each sex that are at the grade “Very Senior Manager” (VSM). A breakdown 

of the number of people of each sex is within the CCG on the Governing Body is shown in the rightmost graph.
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Strategic Report: Looking to the Future 
An Integrated Approach 

The year ahead will be both exciting and challenging.   

Patients will start to benefit from our IMProVE work 

which will see new and enhanced services including:  

 Centralised stroke services in line with national best 

practice offering the same high quality services to 

all patients regardless of where they live 

 Implementation of a community assessment hub 

where elderly patients will be quickly assessed and 

diagnosed  

 ‘Step up’ care which includes beds for elderly 

patients requiring stabilisation or treatment in 

order to avoid deterioration and potential acute 

hospital admission.  

The impact of joint health and social care Better Care 

Fund plans will be experienced by patients and 

professionals in 2015/16. This will include: 

 Phase 1 of our Single Pont of Access work which 

will enable all stakeholders in an individual’s care to 

have one contact number. This will record essential 

information from which referrals can be made to 

existing services.  We will also start the second 

phase of this work which will align all scoped 

services and agree common IT data sharing 

systems with a central point of access. This may 

result in the development of an access hub, co-

location or full integration with pooled budgets 

 Greater support for independence through 

enhanced reablement activity with assistive 

technology to help people remain in their own 

home 

 Increased recognition of the role of carers as a 

partner in care and decision making with improved 

choice of services to enable carers to maintain their 

own health and wellbeing 

 Integrated approach to delivering assessment and 

meeting continuing health care needs to ensure 

there is a single, joined up process without 

unnecessary delays.  

The year ahead will bring new opportunities for us to 

have a greater say in how primary care services are 

commissioned; as a result we will enter in joint 

commissioning arrangements with NHS England who 

are responsible for commissioning GP services.  This is 

important for us as a strong primary care infrastructure 

is vital if we are to deliver our vision of more care 

closer to home, with more services out in our 

communities where people live.  

In addition, we developed a range of strategies in 

2014/15 which we will take forward in the year ahead 

to enable us to focus our energies and direction of 

travel as commissioners on improving aspects of care 

and service delivery in the areas of mental health, 

reducing health inequalities, primary care and urgent 

care. These strategies will focus on the short, medium 

and long term alongside the achievement of better 

health outcomes and experience for patients. 

We still want to engage more - not only with local 

people and partners such as the voluntary and 

community sector but also with our member practices. 

We want to develop creative, innovative and appealing 

ways of working with local communities to shape 

health services. We also want to gain greater clinical 

input, engage more widely and learn from the 

knowledge and experience of the hundreds of 

clinicians and non-clinical staff across our member 

practices. 

We will continue to be open and transparent, enabling 

local people and partners to attend our Governing 

Body meetings with all information publicly available 

on our website; we will involve local people in our 

innovation funds; and the development of our Patient 

and Public Advisory Group will enable us to engage 

with more local people than ever before bringing 

people together on matters of mutual interest and 

experience to act as our critical friends.  

Figure 1: Staff Gender 

Profile 
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Co-commissioning  

During 2014/15, the CCG engaged with stakeholders 

to seek views on changing the arrangements for 

commissioning of primary medical services. 

NHS England, who were previously the sole 

commissioners of primary medical services, invited 

CCGs to indicate their preferred degree of involvement 

in commissioning of primary medical services, offering 

three options: 

 Option A - Greater involvement in primary care 

decision making; 

 Option B - joint commissioning arrangements with 

NHS England; and 

 Option C - full delegation of the commissioning of 

primary medical services to the CCG. 

Within our CCG localities we engaged with our 

member practices, members of the public, partners 

and stakeholders on the options available. The majority 

of our member practices and stakeholders supported 

the joint commissioning model with NHS England, 

recognising this as an opportunity to formally influence 

redesign decisions across pathways of care, and more 

effectively plan and improve the provision of out-of 

hospital services for the benefit of patients and local 

populations.  

Consequently, our joint commissioning submission to 

NHS England was approved and our first joint 

committee took place in April 2015. 

 

 

Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for 

NHS South Tees CCG 

28 May 2015 
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Areas for 

improvement  
We are proud of what we have achieved this year and 

there is much to celebrate, however there are a 

number of areas in which we know we need, and 

indeed want, to improve.   

In the year ahead we are committed to improving by 

 Reducing healthcare acquired infection in 

commissioned services; our antibiotic work in 

primary care will also contribute to this work.  

 

 Reducing health inequalities, developing our 

strategy and new ways of working with public 

health and other partners.  

 

 Implementing our strategy for primary care to 

deliver our care closer to home plans and work to 

ensure we have a sustainable primary care service 

now and in the future  

 

 Progressing the next phase of our IMProVE 

programme brining care closer to home. This year 

we will focus on the provision of more therapy 

services in the community and at home, and we’ll 

see a shift with more outpatient activity and day 

therapy taking place in the community. 

 

 Further strengthening our engagement with local 

people though our newly established Patient and 

Public Advisory Group whilst maintaining our 

ongoing commitment to regular public meetings 

and opportunities for discussion. 

 

 Listening to feedback from the voluntary and 

community sector to strengthen our relationships 

and opportunities to work together to best meet 

the needs of local people. 

 

 

 Reviewing the processes underpinning our 

community innovation fund to give schemes that 

robustly demonstrate benefits to patients and 

alignment with CCG priorities the best chance of 

being commissioned in the longer term. 

 

 Identifying innovation and unlocking barriers to 

delivery through our two ‘Innovation Scouts’ that 

are supported by the Academic Health Science 

Network.
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Members’ Report 
Amanda Hume, Chief Officer 

This year we have continued to deliver on our statutory duties which include improving 

quality; involving local people in the decisions we make and enabling choice; reducing health 

inequalities; and promoting research and innovation. Further details of how we have fulfilled our duties can be 

found in our Strategic Report (pages 8-69).  Some significant areas of work for us this year have been 

strengthening our partnerships to deliver on our ambition for integrated care and services; monitoring quality in 

our commissioned services, managing winter pressures and the implementation of our IMProVE programme, 

bringing care closer to people’s homes, which followed extensive public consultation.  

This report shares details of our membership and Executive Team, as well as details of the requirements placed 

upon us with regards to finance, accounting and corporate social responsibilities. 

The members of NHS South Tees CCG are:  

Practice Location Locality Date of Visit 

Albert House Low Grange Health Village,  Middlesbrough  Eston 11 Dec 2014 

Bentley Medical Practice Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar Langbaurgh 28 Nov 2013 

Borough Road and Nunthorpe 

Medical Group 

Borough Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 2 Dec 2013 

Brotton Surgery Alford Road, Saltburn Langbaurgh 15 Jul 2013 

Cambridge Medical Group Cambridge Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 24 Oct 2013 

Coatham Surgery Coatham Health Village, Redcar Langbaurgh 30 Jan 2015 

Coulby Medical Practice Cropton Way,  Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 17 Mar 2015 

Crossfell Health Centre Berwick Hills, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 3 Feb 2015 

Discovery Practice Cleveland Health Centre,  Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 16 Jan 2014 

Erimus Practice Cleveland Health Centre,  Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 13 Nov 2013 

Eston Grange Health Centre Low Grange Health Village, Middlesbrough Eston 18 Jul 2013 

Eston Surgery Low Grange Health Village, Middlesbrough Eston 8 Jan 2015 

Fulcrum Medical Acklam Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 12 Mar 2015 

Garth Surgery Rectory Lane, Guisborough Langbaurgh 23 Sep 2014 

Haven Medical Centre Harris Street, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 30 Jun 2014 
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Practice Location Locality Date of Visit 

Hemlington Health Centre Viewley Centre, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 24 Oct 2013 

Hillside Practice Windermere Drive, Skelton Langbaurgh 10 Feb 2015 

Hirsel Medical Centre North Ormesby Health Village, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 12 Dec 2013 

Huntcliff Surgery Bath Street, Saltburn Langbaurgh 18 Jul 2013 

Kings Medical Centre North Ormesby Health Village, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 2 Oct 2013 

Lagan Surgery Kirkleatham Street, Redcar Langbaurgh 9 Sep 2014 

Linthorpe Surgery Linthorpe Road, Middlesbrough  Middlesbrough 16 Jan 2015 

Manor House Surgery Braidwood Road, Middlesbrough Eston To be visited 

Marske Medical Centre Hall Close, Marske by the Sea Langbaurgh 27 Jun 2013 

Martonside Surgery  Martonside Way, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 24 Feb 2015 

Newlands Medical Practice Borough Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 31 Mar 2015 

Normanby Medical Centre Low Grange Health Village, Middlesbrough Eston 13 Aug 2013 

Oakfield Medical Practice North Ormesby Health Village, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 9 Jan 2014 

Park Avenue Surgery Park Avenue, Redcar Langbaurgh 28 Nov 2013 

Park Surgery One Life, Linthorpe Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 1 Jul 2014 

Parkway Medical Centre Cropton Way, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 8 Nov 2013 

Prospect Surgery Cleveland Centre, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 19 Jun 2014 

Rainbow Surgery Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar Langbaurgh 15 Jan 2014 

Ravenscar Surgery Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar Langbaurgh 7 Jul 2014 

Resolution Health Centre North Ormesby Health Village, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 23 Oct 2014 

Saltscar Surgery Kirkleatham Street, Redcar Langbaurgh 23 Oct 2014 

South Grange Medical Centre Trunk Road, Middlesbrough Eston 12 Sep 2013 

Springwood Surgery Rectory Lane, Guisborough Langbaurgh 7 Oct 2013 

The Endeavour Practice Cleveland Health Centre Middlesbrough 6 Jun 2014 

The Green House Surgery Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar Langbaurgh 10 Jun 2014 
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Practice Location Locality Date of Visit 

The Village Medical Centre Linthorpe Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 30 Sep 2013 

Thorntree Surgery Beresford Buildings, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 1 Jul 2014 

Westbourne Medical Centre North Ormesby Health Village,  Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 5 Dec 2015 

Woodlands Road Surgery Woodlands Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 30 Sep 2013 

Woodside Surgery High Street, Loftus Langbaurgh 11 Aug 2014 

Zetland Medical Practice Windy Hill Lane, Marske Langbaurgh 26 Nov 2013 

 

In 2013/14 there were 49 member practices in Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland; following review and 

public consultation led by NHS England, the number of practices across Middlesbrough and Redcar and 

Cleveland was reduced to 46 with patients from these practices registering at nearby GP surgeries.   

Governing Body membership 

The members of our Governing Body are: 

Dr Janet Walker, GP Member and Eston Locality Lead and Chair from 26th November 2014 

Dr Henry Waters, Chair (until 26th November 2014) 

Mrs Amanda Hume, Chief Officer 

Dr Mike Milner, GP Member, Langbaurgh Locality 

Dr Vaishali Nanda, GP Member and Middlesbrough Locality Lead 

Dr Nigel Rowell, GP Member, Middlesbrough Locality 

Dr Ali Tahmasebbi, GP Member and Langbaurgh Locality Lead 

Dr Rajesh Khapra, Middlesbrough Locality (from December 2014) 

Ms Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse  

Mr Simon Gregory, Chief Finance Officer 

Dr John Drury, Secondary Care Doctor 

Mr Peter Race MBE, Lay Member 

Mr David Brunskill, Lay Member 

 

The members of the Audit Committee for the year and the period up to the signing of the accounts were: 

 

Mr Peter Race MBE, Lay Member (Audit Committee Chair)  

Dr John Drury, Secondary Care Doctor 

Mr David Brunskill, Lay Member 

 

Further details of the Governing Body members including details of their roles on all committees are contained in 

the Governing Body section, on pages 93 to 97. 

Declarations of interest are recorded in the remuneration report on pages 77 to 83. 
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The Executive Team 

The executive team addresses operational issues and is responsible for implementing CCG strategies and policies, 

day-to-day management and performance monitoring. The executive tem reviews business cases, draft plans and 

commissioning intentions prior to their presentation to the formal corporate meetings. With the exception of the 

Chair, the inclusion of all of our Governing Body GPs in the executive team means that all our weekly meetings 

retain a clinical focus. The Governing Body members and senior managers who regularly attend the executive 

team are shown below. 

 

Amanda Hume 

Chief Officer 

 

Simon Gregory 

Chief Finance Officer 

 

Jean Golightly 

Executive Nurse 

 

Dr Rajesh Khapra 

Middlesbrough Locality 

 

Dr Vaishali Nanda 

Middlesbrough Locality 

 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

Langbaurgh Locality 

 

Dr Nigel Rowell 

Middlesbrough Locality 

 

Dr Mike Milner 

Langbaurgh Locality 

 

 

 

 

Craig Blair 

Associate Director of 

Commissioning, Delivery 

and Operations 

 

Alex Sinclair 

Head of Programmes 

and Delivery 

 

In addition to our own staff the executive team is supported on a regular basis by members of our commissioning 

support unit staff who are subject matter experts for specific issues. 

The remainder of this report provides details on further requirements placed upon us with regards to finance, 

accounting and corporate social responsibilities.  
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Relevant Disclosures 

Since the end of the financial year there have been no major new developments that will have any impact or 

change our plans for 2015/16. We do, however, note that the local elections in May will lead to potential changes 

in the organisation of the Health and Wellbeing Boards in Redcar and Cleveland as well as Middlesbrough. We 

will continue to work with all our partners on these boards.  

The significant issues for the future were already known at the end of March. These include the plans for: 

 Realignment of the primary care, community and unplanned care interfaces driven by the successful bid for 

Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund monies to establish the South Tees Access and Response (STAR) service. 

 Continue with the implementation of the IMProVE programme to modernise the provision of community 

services for the benefit of our vulnerable and elderly people.  

 Working with all care providers to transform urgent care services locally, making the most of our opportunities 

for integration of services using the better care fund. 

It is important that the three areas above are not seen as discrete programmes. They all form part of the 

integration and modernisation agenda for 2015/16. 

Contractual Information 

The CCG holds contracts with a range of commissioned service providers who deliver NHS care to the local 

population. A summary of our significant contracts negotiated is set out below. 

Category Provider 

Acute South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  

Mental Health & Learning 

Disability  

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

Community Health South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  

Acute North East Ambulance Services Foundation Trust - 999 

Acute Ramsey  

Acute North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust  

Primary Care Teesside Urgent Care  - Out of Hours 

Acute Nuffield 

Acute Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals Foundation Trust   

Acute BMI Woodlands 

Mental Health & Learning 

Disability 

Specialist packages of care  - Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 

Trust 

Community Health Teesside Hospice  

Employee Consultation 

At the end of March 2015 there were 15 directly employed staff involved in the administration of the CCG. With a 

small team we are still able to meet with the entire CCG office staff on a fortnightly basis to: 

 be briefed on any relevant issues; 

 raise any relevant issues; and 

 be involved in decisions that directly involve themselves. 

The scale of the organisation also means that all the office staff can have regular contact with the CCG’s 

Governing Body members. The CCG has an employee working in the Middlesbrough town centre Life Store, who 

has regular meetings with CCG managers. 
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Disabled Employees 

Our Equality Report set out details of our policy in relation to disabled employees on page 64-66 of this report. 

Sickness Absence Data 

Days lost to sickness are shown in the staff sickness absence note 4.3 to the financial statements on page 140. 

Staff sickness absence is managed in line with our policy on absence management. 

Health and Safety  

South Tees CCG has legal obligations under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and subsequent regulations 

to ensure the Health, Safety and Welfare of its employees and those visiting its premises. To ensure compliance 

with health and safety, fire and security South Tees CCG has a Health and Safety Strategy which sets out the 

framework for health and safety within the organisation; annual health and safety audits to ensure compliance 

against all relevant legislation; and policies and procedures in place detailing organisational and individual 

responsibilities as well as processes for seeking assurance on the requirements.  The CCG is compliant with legal 

and statutory obligations under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and subsequent regulations. 

Serious Untoward Incidents Involving Data 

There have been no serious untoward incidents involving data loss and breaches of confidentiality 2014/15 or 

since the end of the financial year. There were also no incidents in 2013/14. 

Preventing Fraud 

We have a specific anti-fraud policy – its overall aims are to: 

 Outline the CCG’s responsibilities in terms of delivering a comprehensive approach to managing related risks 

 Improve collective understanding of engaged work undertaken at the CCG to systematically counter 

economic crime. 

 Support a broadly based, transparent and supportive anti-fraud culture where staff feel able to raise 

legitimate concerns sensibly and responsibly. 

 Ensure that all suspected economic crime is referred appropriately in accordance with specified reporting lines 

and that substantiated enquiries are always conducted solely by professionally accredited NHS Counter Fraud 

Specialists or the police. 

 Enable all parallel criminal, disciplinary and civil sanction disposal options to be properly and consistently 

considered in the course of investigations; as an essential pre-requisite for fairness and optimising deterrence. 

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 

We have undertaken a self-assessment against required areas of the NHS England core standards for Emergency 

Preparedness, Resilience and Response. In this self-assessment we demonstrated substantial compliance against 

the core standards. We collaborate with other local CCGs in the Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP)  where 

NHS Darlington CCG represents us. Actions required for full compliance with cores standards include more 

training for senior staff within the organisation, and we will be working with the LHRP on this. 

Pension Liabilities 

Our pension liabilities are reported within the remuneration report (page 82), and in the accounting policy note 

on page 141 of the financial statements in this report. 
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Exit Packages and Severance Payments 

There were no exit packages agreed or severance payments made during 2014/15. 

Off-payroll Engagements 

A summary of ‘off-payroll’ engagements is included in the remuneration report on page 81. 

Cost Allocation and Setting of Charges for Information 

We certify that the CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and the setting of charges 

for information. 

Better Payments Practice Code 

The CCG signed up to the Better Payments Practice Code in March 2014. As a signatory to the code we; 

1. Pay suppliers on time:  

 within the terms agreed at the outset of the contract. 

 without attempting to change payment terms retrospectively. 

 without changing practice on length of payment for smaller companies on unreasonable grounds. 

2. Give clear guidance to suppliers:  

 providing suppliers with clear and easily accessible guidance on payment procedures.  

 ensuring there is a system for dealing with complaints and disputes which is communicated to suppliers.  

 advising them promptly if there is any reason why an invoice will not be paid to the agreed terms.  

3. Encourage good practice: 

 by requesting that lead suppliers encourage adoption of the code throughout their own supply chains 

“details of compliance with the code are given in note x to the accounts”.  

Principles for Remedy 

Our complaints policy, available on the CCG website reflects the Parliamentary Health Services Ombudsman’s 

Principles for Remedy. 

External Audit 

Our appointed external auditors are Deloitte LLP; the cost of the work performed by the auditors for 2014/15 is 

£102,000 (£104,000 2013/14). We have not purchased any other services from Deloitte LLP. 

Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ Report was approved, 

confirms: 

 So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the Clinical Commissioning 

Group’s external auditor is unaware; and 

 That the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make them 

self-aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Clinical Commissioning Group’s auditor 

is aware of that information. 

 
Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for NHS South Tees CCG 

28 May 2015 



 

 

Remuneration Report 
Remuneration committee 

The remuneration committee was established to advise the Governing Body about pay, other benefits and terms 

of employment for the Chief Officer and other senior staff.   

The remuneration committee is established in accordance with NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group’s 

constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegation, the committee is made up as follows: 

Dr Henry Waters 

Dr J Walker 

Chair (April 14 – November 14) 

Chair (December 14 – March 15) 

Dr John Drury Secondary Care Doctor 

Mr Peter Race MBE Lay Member 

Mr David Brunskill Lay Member 

The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make recommendations on 

determinations about pay and remuneration for employees of the Clinical Commissioning Group and people who 

provide services to the Clinical Commissioning Group. 

Self-Assessment in 2014-15 

During the year it became clear that the committee would need to consider the local market conditions for 

remuneration. This information would be sourced by the Chief Officer and Chief Financial Officer benchmarking 

salaries with other local organisations. 

Remuneration Report 

The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is determined in accordance with 

relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.   

Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory performance. Performance in post 

and progress in achieving set objectives is reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review 

payments made to any senior managers during the year. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and 

conditions of service and guidance issued by the Department of Health.  

Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the Clinical Commissioning Group are 

permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either party.   

Lay members and the Secondary Care Doctor are appointed for a period of two years in the first instance, and 

can serve for a maximum of two terms. 

Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for within NHS terms and 

conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme Regulations for those who are members of the scheme.  

No awards have been made during the year to past senior managers. 

For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of “senior managers” is as per the Clinical 

Commissioning Group Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England: 

Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities 

of the Clinical Commissioning Group.  This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole 

rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments. 
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It is considered that the Governing Body members represent the senior managers of the Clinical Commissioning 

Group.  

NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group Senior Officers 2014/15 Declarations of Interests: 

 

Name Title Declaration detail 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi Governing Body Member 

Locality Lead 

(Langbaurgh) 

Partner Bentley Medical Practice. 

Partner Park Avenue Surgery. 

Director Slaters Bridge. 

Dr Mike Milner Governing Body 

Member, Urgent Care 

Lead 

Out of hours GP for Northern Doctors Out of hours GP service. 

GP Huntcliff Surgery. 

Mr David Brunskill PPI Lay Member None. 

Dr John Drury Secondary Care Doctor, 

Lay Member 

Wife undertakes voluntary work in Oncology Unit at South Tees 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Governor, Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust. 

Ms Jean Golightly Executive Nurse Executive Nurse for NHS Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees CCG. 

Mr Simon Gregory Chief Finance Officer Partner works for Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust -  

Finance Team. 

Mrs Amanda Hume Chief Officer None. 

Mr Peter Race Lay Member Governance Governor, South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Brother is elected Governor with South Tees Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust. 

Dr Nigel Rowell Governing Body Member Director, Endeavour Practice Ltd. 

Primary Care Lead, North of England Cardio Vascular Network. 

GPSI in heart  failure, South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Live : Life study Principle Investigator, Servier Laboratories Ltd. 

AF Clinical Champion, Living Longer Lives Team. 

Clinical Assistant in Cardiology, South Tees Foundation Trust. 

Dr Janet Walker Governing Body Member 

Locality Lead (Eston) 

(April – November 14) 

Governing Body 

Chairman (December – 

March 15) 

Partner, Dr Royal and Partners Manor House Surgery, Normanby. 

Dr Henry J Waters Governing Body 

Chairman (April – 

November 14) 

GP, Village Medical Centre. 

Non Exec Director, North East & Cumbria Academic Health Science 

Network. 

Trustee, Providence Baptist Church, Hemlington. 

Dr Vaishali Nanda Governing Body Member 

Locality Lead 

(Middlesbrough) 

GP, Discovery Practice. 

Husband owns Nanda Medical Services for private orthopaedic work. 

Husband is a consultant in orthopaedics at North Tees & Hartlepool 

NHS Foundation Trust. 

Dr Rajesh Khapra Governing Body Member 

Locality Lead (January – 

March 15) 

Partner Crossfell Medical Practice. 
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South Tees CCG Senior Officers Salaries and Allowances 2014/15 

Name 

  

Title 

  

2014/15 

Salary & Fees 

(bands of 

£5,000) 

Expense 

payments 

(taxable) to 

nearest £100 

Performance pay 

and bonuses 

(bands of £5,000) 

Long-term 

performance pay and 

bonuses (bands of 

£5,000) 

All Pension 

related benefits 

(bands of 

£2,500) 

Total 

(bands of 

£5,000) 

    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

Governing Body  Member, Locality 

Lead (Langbaurgh) 
75-80 N/A N/A N/A N/A 75-80 

Dr Mike Milner 

Governing Body Member, Urgent 

Care Lead 
30-35 N/A N/A N/A 0-2.5 30-35 

Mr David Brunskill PPI Lay Member 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 

Dr John Drury Consultant 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 

Ms Jean Golightly Executive Nurse  40-45 N/A N/A N/A N/A 40-45 

Mr Simon Gregory Chief Finance Officer 95-100 N/A N/A N/A 5-7.5 100-105 

Mrs Amanda 

Hume 

Chief Officer 
120-125 N/A N/A N/A 2.5-5 125-130 

Mr Peter Race Lay Member, Governance 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 

Dr Nigel Rowell Governing Body Member 30-35 N/A N/A N/A 20-22.5 50-55 

Dr Janet Walker 

Governing Body Member (April – 

November 14) 

Governing Body Chairman 

(December – March 15) 

70-75 N/A N/A N/A 50-52.5 125-130 

Dr Henry Waters 

Governing Body Chairman (April – 

November 14) 
65-70 N/A N/A N/A N/A 65-70 

Dr Vaishali Nanda Governing Body Member 75-80 N/A N/A N/A N/A 75-80 

Dr Khapra 

Governing Body Member (January – 

March 15) 
5-10 N/A N/A N/A N/A 5-10 
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South Tees CCG Senior Officers Salaries and Allowances 2013/14 

Name 

  

Title 

  

2013/14 

Salary & Fees 

(bands of 

£5,000) 

Taxable 

Benefits 

(Rounded to 

the nearest 

£000) 

Annual 

Performance 

Related Bonuses 

(bands of £5,000) 

Long-term 

Performance 

Related Bonuses 

(bands of £5,000) 

All Pension 

Related 

Benefits 

(bands of 

£2,500) 

Total 

(bands of 

£5,000) 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

Governing Body  Member, Locality 

Lead (Langbaurgh) 
65-70 N/A N/A N/A 80-82.5 145-150 

Dr Mike Milner 

Governing Body Member, Urgent 

Care Lead 
35-40 N/A N/A N/A 87.5-90 120-125 

Mr David Brunskill PPI Lay Member 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 

Dr John Drury Consultant 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 

Ms Jean Golightly Executive Nurse from 25th April 2013 30-35 N/A N/A N/A N/A 30-35 

Mr Simon Gregory Chief Finance Officer 95-100 N/A N/A N/A 77.5-80 170-175 

Mrs Amanda 

Hume 

Chief Officer 
120-125 N/A N/A N/A 115-117.5 235-240 

Mr Peter Race Lay Member, Governance 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 

Dr Nigel Rowell Governing Body Member 25-30 N/A N/A N/A 307.5-310 335-340 

Dr Janet Walker Governing Body Member 60-65 N/A N/A N/A 117.5-120 175-180 

Dr Henry Waters Governing Body Chairman 105-110 N/A N/A N/A N/A 105-110 

Dr Vaishali Nanda Governing Body Member 75-80 N/A N/A N/A N/A 75-80 

Notes: 

The following senior officers are not directly employed by the CCG. The amounts disclosed above are paid to the respective GP practices to provide the services of the 

individuals on a sessional basis (this only applies to Drs Nanda & Tahmassebi):  

Ms Jean Golightly is employed by NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG but also works for NHS South Tees CCG as part of a 50/50 staff sharing arrangement. 

The salary disclosed above shows the CCG’s share of remuneration. Their banded total remuneration in the financial year 2014/15 was £80,000 to £85,000. 

Dr Janet Walker was employed as Governing Body Member from April 14 to November 14 and as Chair from December 14 to March 15. The above is the total of both 

positions. 
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For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six 

months: 

The CCG has carried out a risk-based assessment for assurance the individual is paying the right amount of tax for 

the period 2014/15. 

Pay Multiples: 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director 

in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation's workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in NHS South Tees Clinical 

Commissioning Group in the financial year 2014/15 was £120,000 - £125,000.  This was 5.0 times the median 

remuneration of the workforce, which was £24,799. 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind.  It does not 

include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.   

 Pay Multiples 2014/15 2013/14 

  

 

 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 120-125 120-125 

    

Median Total Remuneration (£) 24,799 31,254 

    

Ratio 5.0 3.8 

The movement in the ratio between the two years is attributed to the recruitment of GP clinical leads to the CCG 

payroll in 2014/15. The CCG employs GPs to provide clinical commissioning advice for a few sessions each month. 

They are included in the calculation above as well as our three lay members. A version of the pay multiple 

calculations excluding these payments is shown below. 

Revised Pay Multiples (excluding Lay Members and GP Clinical Leads) 

 Pay Multiples 2014/15 2013/14 

  

 

 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 120-125 120-125 

    

Median Total Remuneration (£) 30,764 41,332 

    

Ratio 4.0 2.9 

  Number 

  Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015 2 

  Of which, the number that existed: 

     for less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

    for between one and two years at the time of reporting 2 

    for between two and three years at the time of reporting 0 

    for between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 

    for four or more years at the time of reporting 0 
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South Tees CCG Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2014/15 

Name and Title 

Real increase / 

(reduction) in 

pension at age 

60 (bands of 

£2500) 

Real increase 

/ (reduction) 

in pension 

lump sum at 

aged 60 

(bands of 

£2500) 

Total accrued 

pension at 

age 60 at 31 

March 2015 

(bands of 

£5000) 

Lump sum at 

aged 60 related 

to accrued 

pension at 31 

March 2015 

(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer Value 

at  31 March 

2014 

Real increase 

in Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer Value 

Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer 

Value at 31 

March 2015 

Employer’s 

contribution 

to 

stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

Governing Body Member Locality Lead 

(Langbaurgh) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Dr Mike Milner 

Governing Body Member, Urgent Care Lead 
0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 25-30 172 10 187 N/A 

Mr David Brunskill 

PPI Lay Member 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Dr John Drury 

Consultant 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Ms Jean Golightly 

Executive Nurse  
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Mr Simon Gregory 

Chief Finance Officer 
0-2.5 0-2.5 35-40 105-110 580 30 626 N/A 

Mrs Amanda Hume 

Chief Officer 
0-2.5 2.5-5 35-40 110-115 597 33 645 N/A 

Mr Peter Race 

Lay Member, Governance 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Mr Nigel Rowell 

Governing Body Member 
0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 55-60 362 34 405 N/A 

Dr Janet Walker 

Governing Body Member (Apr – Nov 14) 

Governing Body Chairman (Dec – Mar 15) 

2.5-5 7.5-10 5-10 25-30 97 44 144 N/A 
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Name and Title 

Real increase / 

(reduction) in 

pension at age 

60 (bands of 

£2500) 

Real increase 

/ (reduction) 

in pension 

lump sum at 

aged 60 

(bands of 

£2500) 

Total accrued 

pension at 

age 60 at 31 

March 2015 

(bands of 

£5000) 

Lump sum at 

aged 60 related 

to accrued 

pension at 31 

March 2015 

(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer Value 

at  31 March 

2014 

Real increase 

in Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer Value 

Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer 

Value at 31 

March 2015 

Employer’s 

contribution 

to 

stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Henry J Waters 

Governing Body Chairman (Apr – Nov 14) 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Dr Vaishali Nanda 

Governing Body GP 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Dr Khapra 

Governing Body Member (Jan – Mar 15) 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The 

benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme 

or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued 

in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension 

scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits 

in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the 

member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework 

prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  

Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 

employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of 

the period. 

 

Amanda Hume, Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for NHS South Tees CCG    

28 May 2015 
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Statement of Accountable Officer‘s 

Responsibilities  
 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group shall have an 

Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS 

England has appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and regularity of the 

public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper accounting records (which 

disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 

enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for 

safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 

Officer Appointment Letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical 

Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis set out 

in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 

fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in 

taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 

Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in particular to: 

 observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and disclosure 

requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts issued by the 

Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial 

statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in my Clinical 

Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 

 

 

 

Amanda Hume 

Chief Officer and Accountable Officer  

for NHS South Tees CCG 

28 May 2015 
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Governance Statement  
Amanda Hume, Chief Officer

Governance Statement 

The CCG was licenced without conditions from 1 April 

2013 under provisions enacted in the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National 

Health Service Act 2006. During 2014/15 the CCG has 

continued to operate on the same basis. 

Scope of Responsibility 

As the Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for 

maintaining a sound system of internal control that 

supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims 

and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds 

and assets for which I am personally responsible, in 

accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in 

Managing Public Money2. I also acknowledge my 

responsibilities as set out in my Clinical 

Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 

Appointment Letter.  

I am also responsible for ensuring that the CCG is 

administered prudently and economically and that 

resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 

safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.  

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance 

Code 

Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate 

Governance Code are not mandatory for public 

sector bodies, compliance with relevant principles of 

the code is considered to be good practice.  This 

Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate 

how the CCG had regard to the principles set out in 

the code considered appropriate for CCGs for the 

financial year ended 31 March 2015. 

This guidance has enabled a detailed review of 

Governing Body effectiveness against the following 

criteria: leadership, effectiveness, accountability, 

remuneration and relations with stakeholders on a 

                                                 
2
 Managing Public Money, HM Treasury 2013 

‘comply or explain’ basis. This 

review has been supported by an 

external assessment of our governance arrangements 

for the Governing Body. In particular, having 

reviewed the effectiveness of our governance 

framework and arrangements in relation to The UK 

Corporate Code of Governance, I consider that the 

organisation complies with the appropriate principles 

and standards of best practice contained within the 

guidance on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. I can confirm 

that the arrangements in place for the discharge of 

statutory functions have been checked for any 

irregularities, and that they are legally compliant. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance 

Framework 

The National Health Service Act 2006 states: 

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure 

that the group has made appropriate arrangements for 

ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted 

principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 

Information about the Membership Body (the Clinical 

Council of Members) and Governing Body, their 

committees, including membership, attendance 

records and coverage of their work, is set out on 

pages 90 to 104 of this report. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk 

Management Framework 

The Governing Body is responsible for determining 

the nature and extent of the significant risks it is 

willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives, and 

for maintaining sound risk management and internal 

control systems. The Governance and Risk Committee 

has overall responsibility for reviewing the CCG 

Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Registers 

together with the Audit Committee. In our early years, 

as CCG our risks are influenced by the system 

changes within the health service and these 

environmental factors are set out below. 
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Whilst this has been the CCG’s second year there is 

still an ongoing process of change in the overall NHS 

commissioning and social care landscape. There have 

been some minor amendments to the organisation’s 

responsibilities for commissioning services. Prior to 

the establishment of CCGs, services were 

commissioned under a single contract; services are 

now commissioned by multiple bodies with their own 

distinct responsibilities for commissioning. This means 

that the CCG has to assure itself that contracts 

identify the correct commissioner as much by the 

nature of the service as by the patient’s GP practice.  

In April 2013, the estate that was previously owned by 

Primary Care Trusts was transferred to a new 

organisation, NHS Property Services Ltd. Our CCG is 

still currently required to provide additional funds for 

these premises in our area where costs exceed the 

revenues received from tenants. This is effectively the 

same position as the former Primary Care Trusts, but 

presented in a more transparent manner. 

The CCG, like most CCGs nationally, has a significant 

amount of its administrative services delivered by a 

commissioning support unit. These services are in 

their own early years of operation and we continue to 

review and evaluate which specific functions are best 

delivered directly by ourselves or the support unit. 

During 2014/15 we have collaborated with our local 

health and social care partners Middlesbrough 

Council; Redcar and Cleveland Council; South Tees 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; Tees, Esk and Wear 

Valleys NHS Foundation Trust; and the Cleveland 

Local Medical Committee to establish an Integration 

Programme Board. This board will support the two 

local authorities’ Health and Wellbeing Boards in the 

development of the Better Care Fund plans and the 

local integration of services as outlined in NHS 

England’s ‘Five Year Forward View’3. 

Our approach to Risk Management is set out on 

pages 110 to 114 of this report.  

                                                 
3
 NHS England (2014) Five Year Forward View 

The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal 

Control Framework 

The system of internal control is a set of processes 

and procedures in place in the CCG to ensure that we 

deliver our strategy, aims and objectives. It is 

designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to 

evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 

and the impact should they be realised, and to 

manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be 

managed to a reasonable level rather than 

eliminating all risk, therefore it can only provide 

reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness. Our internal control framework is set 

out on pages 111 to 112 of this report. It describes 

the overarching controls of the CCG, including how 

we maintain a system of information governance and 

manage our obligations for staff pensions, equality, 

diversity, human rights and sustainability. 

Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk 

Management & Internal Control 

Our approach to risk assessment and a summary of 

the most significant risks that we face is set out on 

pages 115 to 116 of this report.  

None of the risks have been assessed as impacting 

upon the CCG’s Licence. 

Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness 

of the Use of Resources 

The key processes that we have applied to ensure 

that resources are used economically, efficiently and 

effectively are set out on pages 117 to 119 of this 

report. 

Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk 

Management and Internal Control 

As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for 

reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control within the CCG. 

Capacity to Handle Risk 

Our staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in 

a way appropriate to their authority and duties. Our 
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Risk Management Policy and Strategy sets out our 

approach and our small management team reviews 

all risks on a regular basis. 

Review of Effectiveness 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of 

internal control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors and the executive managers and 

leaders within the CCG who have responsibility for 

the development and maintenance of the internal 

control framework. I have drawn on performance 

information available to me. My review is also 

informed by comments made by the external auditors 

in their management letter and other reports. 

The Governing Body Assurance Framework itself 

provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 

controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its 

principal objectives have been reviewed. I have been 

advised on the implications of the result of my review 

of the effectiveness of the system of internal control 

by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and the 

Governance and Risk Committee. These committees 

reflect on their role each year and amend their terms 

of reference and membership to reflect changing 

requirements. 

The process of maintaining and reviewing the 

effectiveness of the system of internal control is set 

out in this report on pages 120 to 121. In addition, 

the section on the work of the Governing Body and 

its committees include an assessment on how they 

have developed during the year and what is expected 

to be improved in the future. 

Following completion of the planned audit work for 

the financial year for the CCG, the Head of Internal 

Audit issued an independent and objective opinion 

on the adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s 

system of risk management, governance and internal 

control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that:  

The purpose of our annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute 

to the assurances available to the Accountable Officer 

and the Governing Body which underpin the 

Accountable Officer’s own assessment of the 

effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal 

control. This opinion will, in turn, assist the Accountable 

Officer in the completion of the Annual Governance 

Statement. 

Our opinion is set out as follows: 

1. Overall opinion; 

2. Basis for the opinion; 

3. Commentary. 

 

Our overall opinion is that Significant Assurance can be 

given that there is a generally sound system of internal 

control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, 

and that controls are generally being applied 

consistently. However, some weakness in the design and 

inconsistent application of controls put the achievement 

of particular objectives at risk.  

 The basis for forming our opinion is as follows: 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of 

the underpinning Assurance Framework and supporting 

processes;  

2. An assessment of the range of individual 

opinions arising from risk based audit assignments, 

contained within internal audit risk-based plans that 

have been reported throughout the year. This 

assessment has taken account of the relative materiality 

of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 

addressing control weaknesses; 

3. Any reliance that is being placed upon third 

party assurances. 

The commentary below provides the context for our 

opinion and, together with the opinion, should be read in 

its entirety. 

The design and operation of the Assurance Framework 

and associated processes 
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During 2014/15 we have provided significant challenge 

and support to the CCG regarding the assurance 

framework in terms of the format and content, including 

discussions at Audit Committee meetings. We have also 

provided horizon scanning support and prompted the 

CCG to undertake assurance mapping to source 

providers to enable the CCG to effectively manage the 

process. The assurance framework has existed 

throughout        the year and although it may require 

some development it is generally ‘fit for purpose’. Risk 

management processes have been in place throughout 

the year and detailed discussions have been held at 

Audit Committee meetings. 

CCG management processes have highlighted a number 

of issues throughout the year that have been addressed 

directly with NECS management as part of their routine 

meetings.    

The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based 

audit assignments, contained within risk-based plans 

that have been reported during the year 

During the year 2014/15 we have undertaken our work 

in accordance with the Internal Audit annual plan. 

Throughout the year we have reported our findings to 

the Chief Finance Officer and Chief Officer (and other 

Executive colleagues where applicable). Our internal 

audit progress reports to the Audit Committee have set 

out the areas covered by internal audit work during the 

year, our results and matters arising.  

The majority of this work would indicate that significant 

assurance opinions have, or will be assigned to the 

majority of the CCG’s systems and processes. There is 

one audit that we have not completed at the time of 

writing this annual report; 

• Business Continuity Planning (BCP) 

We will seek to place reliance upon the Type II service 

auditor report from NECS which will cover BCP testing.  

By way of commentary it should also be noted that there 

have been no ‘no assurance’ final reports issued for 

2014/15, and only one ‘limited assurance’ opinion 

relating to Continuing Healthcare.  

In undertaking our duties we have identified some 

weaknesses in the design or effectiveness of controls in 

certain systems. We have reported these issues during 

the year, and post the year end, and would specifically 

bring the following to the Accountable Officer’s attention 

for potential disclosure within the Annual Governance 

Statement: 

Third party assurances  

As a result of the support service arrangements provided 

by NECS under a signed service level agreement, the 

CCG will receive a number of assurance reports covering 

the 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015, some of which 

post date this opinion.  

The CCG has received a Service Auditor Report from 

NECS covering the period 1st April 2014 to 30th 

September 2014. The report covers 123 controls relating 

to 39 control objectives in Payroll, Business Intelligence, 

Information Governance, Finance, IT and Quality in 

relation to those services provided to the CCG. The 

Deloitte audit opinion was a qualified one, on account of 

5 exceptions noted in the control environment. These 

exceptions related to Payroll, Finance Training, 

Management Accounts, Finance and routine reports. The 

report provides reasonable assurance that the specified 

control objectives would be achieved if the described 

controls operated effectively throughout the year.  

At the time of writing this report, initial results of the SAR 

covering the period 1st October 2014 to 31st March 

2015 had been issued. Across the 26 key control 

objectives tested, issues were identified in 5 areas and 

NECS had identified actions that would be implemented. 

The CCG will also receive a Service Auditor Report on 

continuing healthcare controls operated by NECS on a 

specific date which has not yet been determined. We 

understand that the report will not be available until 

June 2015. In providing our overall assurance opinion, 

we can place no reliance on unseen Service Auditor 

Report(s). However, following the issue of these reports, 
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we would suggest that the CCG takes appropriate action 

with NECS if there are any reported weaknesses in NECS 

operating controls.  

The CCG will also have access to a service auditor 

reports from Shared Business Services for finance and 

accounting and procurement controls; and a separate 

service auditor report for payroll. An assurance letter was 

received from Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation 

Trust on 29th April 2015 which provided significant 

assurance with no issues of note on the payroll processes 

that are undertaken on behalf of the CCG. At the time of 

finalising this report, the remaining assurances are not 

available to us and as such have not been considered as 

part of our opinion. 

The CCG has also received support from the NECS 

governance team. Although we have no significant 

issues, we have discussed some concerns that exist (from 

our perspective) regarding the effectiveness of 

arrangements which will require review and clarification 

in 2015/16. 

Audit North 

May 2015 

 

Where we receive audit reports, we accept the 

agreed recommendations of Internal Audit to ensure 

that we continue to develop and refine our controls 

and processes. We recognise the weaknesses in 

continuing healthcare processes identified by Internal 

Audit and we are taking action to implement their 

recommendations 

Data and business critical models 

Our approach to data quality, data security and the 

validation of critical modelling tools is set out in the 

internal control framework section of this report on 

pages 111 to 114. 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

During establishment, the arrangements put in place 

by the CCG and explained within the Corporate 

Governance Framework were developed with 

extensive expert external legal input, to ensure 

compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal 

advice also informed the matters reserved for 

Membership Body and Governing Body decision and 

the scheme of delegation. 

In light of the Harris Review4, the CCG has reviewed 

all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it 

by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 

amended) and other associated legislation and 

regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCCG 

is clear about the legislative requirements associated 

with each of the statutory functions for which it is 

responsible, including any restrictions on delegation 

of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been 

clearly allocated to a lead Governing Body member. 

Senior officers have confirmed that their structures 

provide the necessary capability and capacity to 

undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 

Conclusion 

My review confirms that NHS South Tees Clinical 

Commissioning Group has a generally sound system 

of internal control that supports the achievement of 

its policies, aims and objectives.  We continue to 

reflect and assess our own progress. Where 

weaknesses have been identified, actions have been 

put into place for 2015/16. 

 

 

Amanda Hume 

Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for 

NHS South Tees CCG 

28 May 2015

                                                 
4
 Independent review of the arrangements made by SHAs 

for the approval of registered medical practitioners and 

approved clinicians under the Mental Health Act 1983. 
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Governing Body

Where does NHS South Tees CCG 

commission health services and 

which rules apply to it? 

NHS South Tees CCG is an NHS Clinical 

Commissioning Group established under provisions 

enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which 

amended the NHS Act 2006. The CCG commissions a 

range of health services for the population registered 

with GP practices within the boundaries of both 

Middlesbrough Council and Redcar and Cleveland 

Council. 

We have a Constitution based on the Department of 

Health’s model template.  A review of our Constitution 

confirms that it complies with the elements of the self-

certification checklist, including; 

 Specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for 

the discharge of its functions. 

 Specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for 

the discharge of the functions of the Governing 

Body. 

 The procedures to be followed by the CCG in 

making decisions. 

 The arrangements it has made to secure that 

individuals to whom health services are being or 

may be provided pursuant to its commissioning 

arrangements are involved. 

 Arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its 

duties in respect of registers of interests and 

management of conflicts of interests. 

 Arrangements made by the CCG for securing that 

there is transparency about the decisions of the 

group and the manner in which they are made. 

The NHS England regulations allow us to amend the 

constitution on two occasions throughout the year; any 

changes first being approved by the Clinical Council of 

Members and the Governing Body. The Constitution 

was reviewed twice during 2014/15 to ensure it 

remained legally compliant and reflected latest 

guidance. In addition we established a small team to 

simplify and rationalise some aspects of our 

Constitution.  

One of the main issues to resolve was an issue relating 

to the quoracy of the Governing Body when all GP 

members declared an interest in an item for decision. 

The original quoracy required three GP members 

remain as the standard requirement for all matters not 

impacted upon by conflict of interests issues. To ensure 

continued high levels of governance and probity, the 

CCG had previously adopted the use of the 

‘emergency powers and urgent decisions’ process 

provided for in the Constitution. The amendments 

made to the Constitution mean that the Governing 

Body now remains quorate when all GP members have 

a conflict of interest; clinical advice to the other board 

members is provided by the Secondary Care Doctor 

and Executive Nurse. This provision is an ‘alternative 

quoracy’ arrangement and ensures that if a significant 

number of Governing Body members are prevented 

from participating in discussion or voting due to 

declared conflicts of interest, an alternative quorum of 

50% of the remaining members present will apply.  This 

must include at least one Lay Member, a clinician and 

either the Chief Officer or Chief Finance Officer 

The second set of changes prepared the CCG for 

primary care co-commissioning functions in 2015/16. 

NHS England have formally reviewed and approved 

both changes. 

What is NHS South Tees CCG’s 

Governance Structure? 

The CCG has continued to operate with a committee 

structure which reflects guidance and best practice, 

including: Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee, Governance and Risk Committee, Audit 

Committee, Remuneration Committee and a Funding 

Panel.  Terms of reference have been agreed for these 

committees which support the organisation in the 
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delivery of effective governance.  The organisational 

structure including key committees is set out below: 

 

Committees of the Governing Body 

Details of the NHS South Tees CCG Governing Body 

and committee governance structure are set out on 

pages 92-104. The terms of reference for each of the 

committees of the Governing Body, which have been 

approved by the Governing Body are available on the 

NHS South Tees CCG website 

www.southteesccg.nhs.uk. Membership and activities of 

the various committees are summarised on pages 93 

to 96 of this report. Provided below is an overview of 

our key committees. 

Quality, Performance and Finance Committee 

Chaired by Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

Number of meetings in the year: 6 

Role of the committee 

The Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee has responsibility for overseeing and 

monitoring the overall performance of the CCG 

and its contracts. 

For more information see page 103 
 

Audit Committee 

Chaired by Mr Peter Race MBE 

Number of meetings in the year: 5 

Role of the committee 

The Audit Committee reviews our financial 

reporting and internal control principles and 

ensures an appropriate relationship with both 

internal and external auditors is maintained. 

For more information see page 105 

 

Remuneration Committee 

Chaired by Mr David Brunskill 

Number of meetings in the year: 2 

Role of the committee 

The Remuneration Committee advises the 

Governing Body about pay, other benefits and 

terms of employment for the Chief Officer and 

other senior staff. 

For more information see page 108 
 

 

Governance and Risk Committee 

Chaired by Mr Simon Gregory 

Number of meetings in the year: 5 

Role of the committee 

The Governance and Risk Committee is 

responsible for the development, 

implementation and monitoring of integrated 

risk and governance. 

For more information see page 108 

 

Funding Panel 

Chaired by Mr Peter Race MBE 

Number of meetings in the year: 11 

Role of the committee 

The Funding Panel approves the funding of 

specific treatments in exceptional 

circumstances working jointly with other 

CCGs. 

For more information see page 108 

Clinical Council of Members 

The Clinical Council of Members is established by NHS 

South Tees CCG in accordance with its Constitution, 

standing orders and scheme of delegation.  The 

Clinical Council of Members is made up of the 46 

member practices and is the mechanism through 

which the member practice representatives come 

together for collective decision making as a member 

organisation, ensuring active participation by each 

practice. 

The Clinical Council of Members holds our Governing 

Body to account through communication about the 

overall performance of the CCG. In line with the 

Council of Members 

Governing Body 

Quality, Perfomance 

and Finance 

Audit 

Governance and Risk 

Remuneration 

Funding Panel 
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Constitution, the Clinical Council of Members 

determines how it operates; sets the process of 

appointment and dismissal of Governing Body 

members through the Nominations Panel; elects GP 

Governing Body members; considers and approves 

changes to the Constitution; determines the 

overarching scheme of delegation; determines 

delegation of powers to localities and determines any 

matter in full session of the Council.  

The Clinical Council of Members has met on five 

occasions during 2014/15 and the main areas of 

discussion are summarised on page 14. 

Our Governing Body 

This body is appointed under the NHS Act 2006; with 

the main function of ensuring that a CCG has made 

appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies 

with its obligations under the NHS Act 2006 and the 

generally accepted principles of good governance that 

are relevant to it. 

As at 31 March 2015, the Governing Body was made 

up of 12 members consisting of the Chair and five 

other GP Members, three Executive Directors (including 

the Chief Officer), two Lay Members and a Secondary 

Care Doctor.  

The six GP members of the Governing Body are 

elected by the member practices. The Chair is elected 

from within the six elected GPs by the Governing Body 

members. The Chief Officer is appointed by NHS 

England following nomination by the CCG. The other 

officers, Lay Members and Secondary Care Doctor are 

recruited to the Governing Body. Biographical details 

for each of the Governing Body members in office as at 

31 March 2015 are shown on pages 94 to 96. 

The Lay Members and Secondary Care Doctor are 

each considered by the Governing Body to be 

independent and free of any relationship which could 

materially interfere with the exercise of their 

independent judgement. 

Who attends Governing Body Meetings? 

Each Governing Body member is required to attend all 

meetings of the Governing Body and committees of 

which they are a member. In addition, other senior 

management of the CCG and advisors attend some of 

the meetings for the discussion of specific items in 

greater depth. 

The Governing Body met regularly during the year. 

There were nine Governing Body meetings held during 

the year ended 31 March 2015. The attendance record 

of the Governing Body for 2014/15 members is shown 

in the table below:  

Member         Attended   

Dr Henry Waters – Chair     5/5 

(Retired November 2014) 

Amanda Hume, Chief Officer     8/9 

Dr John Drury, Secondary Care Doctor    7/9 

Peter Race MBE, Lay Member     9/9 

David Brunskill, Lay Member     8/9 

Dr Janet Walker, GP Member     9/9  

(Chair from November 2014) 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi, GP Member     6/9 

Dr Mike Milner, GP Member/Caldicott Guardian 9/9 

Dr Vaishali Nanda, GP Member     4/9 

Dr Nigel Rowell, GP Member     6/9 

Dr Rajesh Khapra, GP Member     4/4   

(Joined November 2014)  

Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse     8/9 

Simon Gregory, Chief Finance Officer    8/9 

 

Most of our Governing Body meetings are held in 

public, six of our nine meetings last year were held in 

public. Details of meetings in public are available on 

our website www.southteesccg.nhs.uk  
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Dr Henry Waters 

Chair 

Appointed on 1 April 2013 and retired in 

November 2014. 

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Waters has a specialist interest in rheumatology and 

musculoskeletal (MSK) medicine. Dr Waters has also worked in 

neurology and the probation and prison services and in a 

community musculoskeletal clinic. 

Experience 

Dr Waters has been a GP for 36 years and was a leading figure 

and board member of Middlesbrough PCT. 

Other committee membership 

Member of Executive Group, Remuneration Committee. 

 

Dr Janet Walker 

GP Member and Chair 

Appointed as Governing Body member 

on 1 April 2013 and elected as 

Governing Body Chair in November 

2014.  

 

Dr Walker will seek reappointment in 

October 2015. 

Key strengths 

Dr Walker has specialist interests in medicines optimisation, 

palliative care and children and young people. Dr Walker is 

passionate about partnership working with other 

organisations. 

Experience 

Dr Walker has been a Teesside GP for 15 years. She played 

an active role in Practice Based Commissioning (PBC) as 

group chair, before becoming the lead for Greater Eston 

Pathfinder.  Janet was elected as Chair of the CCG in 

December 2014 following Dr Waters’ retirement. Dr Walker 

is the Governing Body lead for Equality and Diversity.  

Other committee membership 

Until taking up the role as Governing Body Chair, Dr Walker 

was a member of the Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee. Member of Tees Governace group.  

 

 

Dr Vaishali Nanda 

GP Member  

 

Appointed on 1 April 2013 and will seek 

reappointment in October 2015. 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Nanda has vast understanding of quality in primary care and 

has specialist interests in gynaecology and obstetrics having led 

on pathway changes for laparoscopic sterilisation. 

Experience 

Dr Nanda is a GP at Discovery Practice, Middlesbrough and has 

practiced as a GP since 2005. She is passionate about improving 

services; this passion has led to working beyond her own 

practice and is the GP Quality Lead for the CCG.  Within this role 

Dr Nanda works with the CCG’s major providers, the two local 

authorities, NHS England Area Team and primary care.    

Other committee membership 

Locality Clinical Lead for Middlesbrough; Member of the Quality, 

Performance and Finance Committee; Chair of Clinical Quality 

Review Groups. 

 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

GP Member 

 

Appointed on 1 April 2013 and will seek 

reappointment in October 2015. 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Tahmassebi has a specialist interest in improving quality 

in primary care, and providing challenge so to ensure that 

quality is a leading driver for change.  Dr Tahmassebi 

encourages innovation and promotes a culture of joint 

working between organisations and general practices. He 

also has extensive knowledge of service redesign. 

Experience 

A GP since 1999, Dr Tahmassebi has led Langbaurgh locality 

since 2006, engaging closely with all practices and clinicians 

in making Practice Based Commissioning (PBC) and later the 

CCG successful. He has played a key role in the 

development of a number of services including community 

services, MSK integration, medicine management and the 

role of pharmacists. Quality in primary care is a particular 

area of interest and Dr Tahmassebi is also the clinical lead 

for the CCGs IMProVE (Integrated Management and 

Proactive Care for the Vulnerable and Elderly) programme 

Other committee membership 

Chair of Quality, Performance and Finance Committee and 

Contract Management Board, Locality Lead for Langbaurgh.  
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Amanda Hume 

Chief Officer 

 

Appointed on 1 April 2013  

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mrs Hume has significant experience working within 

commissioning, workforce development, organisational 

development and HR. Mrs Hume’s skills include strategic 

planning and expertise in contracting and performance. 

Experience 

Mrs Hume has over 20 years NHS experience, having worked 

across primary and secondary care, mental health and 

education. Her roles have included Director of Commissioning, 

planning and performance, strategy, workforce, HR and OD. She 

has managed a number of major change programmes across 

the N.E health system. She graduated with joint honours in 

Management and Psychology from Leeds University, is a 

chartered fellow of the Institute of Personnel Development and 

has an MBA from Durham University.  Mrs Hume is passionate 

about partnership and collaborative working.  

Other committee membership 

Chair of Executive Group;  Member of IMProVE Advisory Group; 

Member of Quality, Performance and Finance Committee. 

 

Jean Golightly 

Executive Nurse  

 

Appointed on 25 April 2013  

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Ms Golightly has extensive healthcare experience including 

management of clinical services, clinical governance, risk 

management and education.  

Experience 

Ms Golightly has over 20 years’ experience in a variety of 

healthcare and geographic settings, including Europe and 

the United States. More recently she was working in acute 

hospital trusts prior to joining the CCG. She is the Executive 

Lead for Learning Disability.  

Other committee membership 

Member of Quality, Performance and Finance Committee; 

Member of Governance and Risk Committee. 

  

Dr Nigel Rowell 

GP Member  

 

Appointed on 1 April 2013 and will seek 

reappointment in October 2015. 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Rowell is the National Clinical Lead in Heart Failure for NHS 

Improvement and is a GP with a specialist interest in cardiology. 

Dr Rowell was the founding member of Cardio Vascular General 

Practitioners and is an undergraduate teacher. 

Experience 

Qualified in 1988 and a GP in the same Middlesbrough practice 

since 1989, Dr Rowell has had several lead roles in the Tees area 

including Chair of Middlesbrough PBC Group for two years, 

Chair of the Service Development Committee of the PCG and 

non-executive Director and Vice Chairman of Tees Health 

Authority. His other roles within the NHS are as Primary Care 

Lead for the Northeast Cardiovascular Network. Dr Rowell is a 

clinical champion for the Living Longer Lives team and is a GP 

with a Special Interest in Heart Failure.  

Other committee membership 

Member of Quality, Performance and Finance Committee; 

Member of Clinical Quality Review Group; and is the Urgent 

Care Workstream Executive Sponsor. 

Dr Mike Milner 

GP Member 

 

Appointed on 1 April 2013 and will seek 

reappointment in October 2015. 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Milner has extensive experience in out of hours care 

services and general medical practice. 

 

Experience 

Dr Milner has been a GP since 1982 and has special interests 

in epilepsy and urgent care. Involved in the Langbaurgh 

Pathfinder and PCG for many years, he is the Clinical Lead 

for the NHS South Tees CCG Systems Resilience Group 

workstream and is actively involved in the development of 

the Urgent Care Strategy. Dr Milner is the Caldicott 

Guardian for the CCG. 

Other committee membership 

Member of Governance and Risk Committee; 

Member of Urgent Care Chairs’ Network 
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Dr Rajesh Khapra 

GP Member 

 

Appointed on 2nd January 2014 and will 

seek reappointment in 
 
December 2017. 

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Khapra has worked in the NHS 1997 and has worked in 

hospitals across the country within surgical specialities. His 

particular area of interest is musculoskeletal conditions.  

Experience 

Dr Khapra has been a GP since 2005 and has spent a number of 

years working in South Tees.  Having previously represented his 

practice within the CCG Dr Khapra developed an interest and 

was appointed as a Governing Body GP in January 2015.  Dr 

Khapra is passionate about improving patient care and 

maintaining and developing good relationship with colleagues. 

Dr Khapra is the Clinical Lead for Back Pain for the CCG and 

works with the regional teams and partners. 

Other committee membership 

Member of the Quality, Performance and Finance Committee.  

 

Simon Gregory 

Chief Finance Officer  

 

Appointed on 1 April 2013  

 

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mr Gregory has extensive knowledge of NHS finance, with 

expertise in NHS tariff mechanisms, contracting and funding 

systems. 

Experience 

Mr Gregory is a qualified accountant with over 30 years’ 

experience in the NHS. 

He trained as an accountant at a London teaching hospital 

and has previously worked in district general hospitals, large 

trusts and Middlesbrough PCT. He previously worked at 

South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as the finance 

lead for commissioning.  Mr Gregory is the Governing Body 

lead for Mental Health for the CCG 

Other committee membership 

Member of Quality, Performance and Finance Committee; 

Chair of Governance and Risk Committee 

 

Dr John Drury       Secondary Care 

Doctor 

 

Reappointed in March 215 for second term 

and will serve for two years. 

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Extensive experience at management and board level in 

healthcare and broad knowledge of NHS landscape.   

Experience 

Dr John Drury is retired, having previously worked for South 

Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a Consultant. John 

came to Middlesbrough in 1983 as Consultant Chemical 

Pathologist. He was General Manager of Middlesbrough General 

Hospital and was Medical Director of South Tees Hospital Trust 

from 1992 to 1997; other NHS roles included Chair of a Policy 

Advisory Group – NHS Litigation Authority and the local 

research ethics committee. 

Other committee membership 

Member of Audit Committee; Chair of Clinical Professional 

Forum; Remuneration Committee 

 

Mr David Brunskill 

Lay Member 

 

Reappointed in March 215 for second 

term and will serve for two years. 

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mr Brunskill has extensive knowledge of public partnership 

working and executive level management experience.  

Experience 

Mr Brunskill was a police officer for 30 years working mainly 

in uniform in Redcar and Middlesbrough and in the force 

Communications Department.   Having attained the rank of 

Superintendent he retired in 2010 as District Commander 

for Stockton-on-Tees having previously been the Head of 

the force Professional Standards Department.   Mr Brunskill 

has extensive experience working within public sector 

organisations as well as the voluntary and community 

sector. He is the Lay Member for Patient and Public 

Involvement. 

Other committee membership 

Chair of the Patient and Public Advisory Group; Vice Chair of 

NHS South Tees CCG; Chair of Remuneration Committee; 

Member of Audit Committee; Member of Governance and 

Risk Committee. 
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Mr Peter Race MBE 

Lay Member 

 

Reappointed in March 215 for second term 

and will serve for two years. 

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mr Race has extensive senior management experience in the 

public and private sector. 

Experience 

Mr Race joined the NHS after retiring from the gas industry in 

2005 after 35 years’ service. He joined Redcar and Cleveland 

PCT as a Non-Executive Director, and was appointed Audit 

Chair. Mr Race contributed to and witnessed the evolving health 

service and supported the single management team concept 

when initially, Redcar and Cleveland PCT and Middlesbrough 

PCT shared their Board meetings and finally when all four PCTs 

shared their resources within NHS Tees. Mr Race is Lay Member 

for Governance. 

Other committee membership 

Chair of Audit Committee; Member of Quality Performance and 

Finance Committee; Chair of Funding Panel. 

 

 

How does the Governing Body operate and how are decisions made? 

Certain strategic decision making powers are reserved to the Governing Body. The formal schedule of these 

powers is within the CCG Constitution. The principal matters reserved for the Governing Body are set out below. 

Where appropriate, matters are delegated to a committee that will consider them in accordance with its terms of 

reference. Details of each of these committees’ membership and terms of reference are set out on pages 103 to 

109 of this report. 

Day-to-day operational decisions are managed by the executive group, led by the Chief Officer, Amanda Hume. 

The Governing Body members and senior managers who regularly attend the executive group meetings are listed 

on page 73 of this report.  

Principal matters reserved for the Governing Body 

The member practices form our Clinical Council of Members and hold the Governing Body to account for its 

fulfilment of the following duties 

Strategy, Commissioning Plan and Budgets 

Our Governing Body sets the strategic aims and objectives for the CCG. It identifies the key strategic risks and 

ensures adequate responses are in place and are monitored, including approval of our strategy for the 

management of risk. It also approves our annual commissioning plan and the application of the CCG’s financial 

resources to meet the plan’s objectives and formally sets our budget for each year. Capital plans, organisational 

development proposals and the Annual Report and Accounts have to be approved by the Governing Body. 



Governing Body Committee Reports 

 97 

Policy Determination 

Management policies, including human resource policies, are approved by one of the Governing Body’s sub-

committees (Governance and Risk). Proposals for ensuring quality and developing clinical governance in services 

provided by the CCG or its constituent practices are also subject to the Governing Body’s approval. In addition, it 

will also approve any proposals for action on litigation against or on behalf of the CCG. 

Regulation and Control 

Our Governing Body approves amendments to our Constitution, Standing Orders and Scheme of Delegation. It 

also adopts the organisation structures, processes and procedures including the approval of the establishment of 

its sub committees, their terms of reference and reporting requirements.  Where a committee does not have 

executive powers, the Governing Body will confirm its recommendations, including proposals of the Remuneration 

Committee regarding senior employees. 

We also have processes for managing conflicts of interests and complaints that are established and monitored by 

the Governing Body. Urgent decisions taken by the Chair of the CCG and Chief Officer are ratified by the 

Governing Body. 

Finance and Audit 

There are some specific areas of finance that are reserved to the Governing Body in addition to setting the annual 

budget. These are the opening of bank accounts and approval of contracts and payments above the limits of the 

Chief Officer and Chair, as well as any individual compensation payments. The body also authorises the use of the 

CCG seal. Subject to the arrangements for managing conflicts of interest the Governing Body approves payments 

for practice incentive schemes. The appointment and dismissal of External Auditors is approved by the Governing 

Body. 

Appointments or Dismissal 

The Governing Body appoints its Chair and Vice Chair as well as other committees (and individual members) that 

are directly accountable to the Governing Body. It also has the authority to appointment or dismiss officer 

members. It may discipline members of the Governing Body or employees who are in breach of statutory 

requirements or standing orders. We also confirm the appointment of members of any committee of the CCG as 

representatives on outside bodies at the Governing Body. 

What has the Governing Body done during the year? 

During the year 2014/15 our Governing Body met on nine occasions; of which two were not in public and seven 

in public, and for which there was an annual cycle of business. 

 

 Governance 
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During the year the Governing Body considered: 

How do we maintain an effective Governing Body? 

Governing Body relationships 

The effective working of the Governing Body is crucial to the strategic aims of the CCG. This is achieved through 

strong and open working relationships between Governing Body members, whose roles are agreed and set out in 

writing. In addition to the core six GP Members of the Governing Body there are six other roles. A short summary 

of all roles is set out below 

Chair 

 Responsible for overall leadership and governance of the Governing Body. 

 Ensures that the Governing Body Members have an understanding of the views of the CCG’s major 

stakeholders. 

Quality 

 Regular quality reports which include quality 

performance (including health care acquired 

infections),safeguarding, Francis 2, Winterbourne 

Review, incidents and complaints. 

 Winter preparedness assurance. 

 Looked after children briefing. 

 Sexual exploitation. 

 HealthWatch reports. 

 Considered national report on complaints Review 

of the NHS Complaints System: Putting Patients 

Back in the Picture. 

 Primary care schemes. 

 

Governance 

 Register of Interests. 

 Constitution updates. 

 Human Resources policies. 

 Annual Cycle of Business. 

 Standards of Business Conduct. 

 Governance Assurance Framework. 

 Minutes of other committees. 

 Renewed Terms of Reference for committees. 

 Office accommodation. 

 

Strategy 

 Strategic vision. 

 Corporate objectives for 2014/15. 

 Better Care Fund. 

 IMProVE updates and plans. 

 Commissioning Intentions. 

 Strategic links between health and housing. 

 Reports from the Directors of Public Health. 

 Carers’ Strategy. 

 Risk Management Strategy and Policy. 

 Health and Safety Strategy. 

 Information Governance Strategy. 

 Urgent Care Strategy. 

 Research and Innovation Strategy. 

 Communication and Engagement Strategy. 

 Joint working with partner organisations. 

 

Performance and Finance 

 Regular reports on the CCG’s financial position. 

 Regular reports on performance monitoring. 

 Winter Planning and Resilience. 

 

Engagement 

 360 stakeholder survey. 

 Communications updates. 

 Feedback from the Clinical Council of Members. 

 Locality issues. 

 Feedback from public engagement events. 
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 Ensures a healthy culture of challenge and debate at Governing Body and committee meetings. 

Chief Officer 

 Responsible for the effective leadership of the CCG. 

 Implementation of the CCG’s objectives and strategy agreed by the Governing Body. 

 Maintaining good relationships and communications with GP practices and other stakeholders. 

 Working closely with the Chief Finance Officer to ensure prudent financial controls. 

 Developing and implementing policies integral to improving the business, including in relation to health and 

safety and sustainability. 

Lay Members 

 Lay members bring specific expertise and experience, as well as their knowledge as a member of the local 

community, to the work of the Governing Body. 

GP Members 

 Give a strategic clinical view on all aspects of CCG business. 

 Clinical leader, beyond the boundaries of a single practice or profession – demonstrably able to think beyond 

their own professional viewpoint. 

 In-depth understanding of a specific locality. 

 Take a balanced view of the clinical and management agenda and draw on their specialist skills to add value. 

 Contribute a generic view from the perspective of a member practice in the CCG, whilst putting aside specific 

issues relating to their own practice circumstances. 

Secondary Care Doctor 

 This clinical member of the Governing Body will bring a broader view, on health and care issues to underpin 

the work of the CCG. In particular, they will bring to the Governing Body an understanding of patient care in 

the secondary care setting. 

Executive Nurse 

 This clinical role of Registered Nurse includes bringing a broader view, from their perspective as a registered 

nurse, on health and care issues to underpin the work of the CCG especially the contribution of nursing to 

patient care. 

Chief Finance Officer 

 The Governing Body’s professional expert on finance and ensuring, through robust systems and processes, 

the regularity and propriety of expenditure is fully discharged. 

 Advise the Governing Body on the effective, efficient and economic use of the CCG’s allocation to remain 

within that allocation and deliver required financial targets and duties. 

There was detailed planning throughout the year with the CCG’s governance team to consider and review the 

Governing Body’s annual rolling agenda programme. This ensured that all matters reserved for the Governing 

Body and other strategic issues were discussed at the appropriate time.
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Refreshment and Development 

of the Governing Body 

Leadership 

The Governing Body saw a change of leadership 

during the year with the retirement of Dr Henry 

Waters as both the CCG’s clinical Chair and as a local 

GP. Taking up the reins from Dr Waters is Dr Janet 

Walker, our Eston Locality Lead GP, who has been a 

Governing Body member since the CCG was in 

shadow form. 

Dr Walker’s appointment as Chair resulted in a 

vacancy for a GP on the Governing Body and, 

following a process managed by the Local Medical 

Committee on behalf of the Clinical Council of 

Members, we were pleased to appoint Dr Rajesh 

Khapra onto the Governing Body. 

We also reappointed our Lay Members and 

Secondary Care Doctor to serve a further term of 

office on the Governing Body.  Together, they bring 

a wealth of experience to the CCG and ensure that 

we continue to operate with high levels of 

transparency and patient engagement. 

Governing Body Development Sessions 

The Governing Body is committed to ensuring that 

sufficient time is dedicated to allow members to 

discuss key strategic issues as well as being able to 

reflect on its own performance and ensure that 

arrangements are in place to allow for further 

development and improvement. 

During 2014/15, our Governing Body reviewed its 

effectiveness to ensure that it is composed of the 

right people, had strong and effective leadership, 

demonstrated effective behaviours and values and 

also promoted constructive relationships with 

management and stakeholders.  One of the key 

requirements of our Governing Body is the ability for 

members to challenge thinking and critically analyse 

decisions.  Work was undertaken to ensure our 

Governing Body is developing and promoting our 

collective vision of the CCG including our purpose, 

our culture, our values and our behaviours.   This 

internal review of effectiveness also prompted us to 

commission an external review of our governance 

arrangements, and this is summarised at 111. 

During the year we have held five development 

sessions with the Governing Body members. The 

focus of these sessions included: 

 A reflection of the first 12 months as a statutory 

organisation and what actions we needed to 

take to move forward. 

 The strengths and opportunities for 

development of the Governing Body members; 

 A review of the ways the ‘executive’ part of the 

organisation worked. 

 Health inequalities affecting the South Tees 

population and how we could work more closely 

with Public Health. 

 Corporate Objectives. 

 Primary Care Schemes. 

 Financial pressures of our main acute services 

provider. 

Other bodies 

Members of the Governing Body are also members 

of other boards and bodies related to health. 

Amanda Hume 

Member of Middlesbrough Health and Wellbeing 

Board  

Member of Redcar and Cleveland Health and 

Wellbeing Board  

Member of Northern Clinical Commissioning Group 

Forum  

Chair of Integration Programme Board  

Chair of Mental Health Crisis Care Task Group 

Member of Tees Valley Strategic Forum 

Dr Henry Waters 

Non-executive Director, Academic Health Science 

Network for the North East and North Cumbria  

Member of Northern Clinical Commissioning Group 

Forum  

Dr Janet Walker 
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Vice Chair of Redcar and Cleveland Health and 

Wellbeing Board until her appointment as CCG Chair  

Member of Tees Medicines Governance Group 

Member of Northern Clinical Commissioning Group 

Forum 

Dr Nigel Rowell 

Primary Care Lead for the North of England 

Cardiovascular Network 

Dr Vaishali Nanda 

Member of Middlesbrough Health and Wellbeing 

Board 

Member of Durham, Darlington and Tees Primary 

Care Quality Surveillance Group 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

Member of Redcar and Cleveland Health and 

Wellbeing Board  

Director of Slaters Bridge; a social enterprise looking 

at patients in primary care  

Member of the North East Community Health 

(NECH) social enterprise of General Practices in 

Langbaurgh 

Dr Mike Milner 

Member of Urgent Care Chairs’ Network   

Dr Rajesh Khapra 

Member of Academic Health Science Network Back 

Pain Network 

Ms Jean Golightly 

Executive Nurse for Hartlepool and Stockton-on-

Tees Clinical Commissioning Group 

Member of Hartlepool and Stockton CCG Governing 

Body 

Member of Primary and Secondary Care Quality 

Surveillance Groups  

Member of Local Safeguarding Boards 

Dr John Drury 

Partnership Governor for Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust 

Mr Peter Race MBE 

Partnership Governor for South Tees Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust 

What are the Governing Body’s 

priorities for 2015/16? 

Membership 

The terms of office for five of our Governing Body 

GPs will come to an end in the autumn of 2015 and 

we will, therefore, be working with the Local Medical 

Committee and our member practices to hold a 

selection process to ensure that we maintain our 

high level of clinical involvement. 

Strategy  

The Governing Body will continue to develop 

strategy and provide leadership in 2015/16. In 

addition to the delivery of core national strategies, 

there will also be a focus on specific local issues. 

A significant area for 2015/16 will be the focus on 

how better integration and system transformation 

can reduce the historical levels of unplanned 

emergency care within local health and social care 

services. The three principal components will be: 

 The Better Care Fund working across health and 

social care reallocating funds from acute hospital 

care to those services where more timely 

interventions and increased prevention can avoid 

the need for an emergency admission. 

 The Prime Minister’s challenge fund (STAR) to 

bring changes to way primary care is delivered 

 The implementation of the IMProVE programme 

modernising community services, bringing care 

closer to home 

We will also build on work in 2014/15 with regards 

to mental health services to ensure that we are able 

to deliver our obligations under the parity of esteem 

agenda. We plan to invest an additional 1.7% on the 

2014/15 levels of expenditure on mental health 

services. 

Development 

In 2015/16 the Governing Body will continue with its 

development sessions, we expect five will be held in 

2015/16.  
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Following a thorough review of our governance arrangements we were pleased to receive an 

overall view that: 

 The CCG was well-led and capable. 

 There was strong GP Governing Body member commitment and involvement. 

 Strong and effective leadership by the Chair and Chief Officer. 

 The CCG has a strong and clear strategic direction (via, for example, IMProVE) and the Governing 

Body focus was set at an appropriate strategic level. 

 Strong member practice engagement. 

 Strong commitment to transparency and accountability with active encouragement and 

involvement of members of the public. 

 Governing Body membership was well balanced with a broad mix of competencies and skills. 

 Strong commitment to ensuring that conflicts of interests were identified and managed. 

In addition, there were a number of recommendations that we are taking forward: 

 Ensuring an effective spread of responsibilities across the roles of Governing Body GPs and Lay 

Members to ensure that we continue to fulfil our statutory duties. 

 Ensuring there are more opportunities for greater open debate and questioning by considering 

the roles of individuals; the reporting arrangements and the make-up of committees. 

The internal and external reviews of Governing Body 

effectiveness have identified a need to continue to 

ensure clear distinctions between reporting of 

subjects that are reviewed both by the Governing 

Body and the Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee.  

We will be implementing the recommendations from 

the external review in terms of identifying additional 

ways of ensuring greater levels of challenge and 

debate within the Governing Body; this includes 

redefining the roles of our GPs, Lay Members and 

Secondary Care Doctor. 

The Governing Body and its committees will again 

review their terms of reference and membership 

structures in 2015/16. These reviews will ensure that 

the CCG maintains is focus on the quality and 

relevance of its governance.  

Review of Effectiveness  

Last year the Governing Body, assisted by the 

Commissioning Support Unit governance expert, 

carried out an internal review of its governance 

arrangements using the UK Code of Governance as 

a guide.  This highlighted some areas for 

improvement which we addressed.  

However, this year, we wanted to go a step further 

and have an external view of our governance 

arrangements as to whether they continued to be fit 

for purpose and to place a particular emphasis on 

ensuring that the original vision for clinical 

engagement in decision making was being 

maintained and to take account of governance 

issues highlighted as part of the Francis II 

recommendations.    

We were pleased with the feedback that the CCG 

was well-led and capable, with strong GP Governing 

Body member commitment, and commitment to 

transparency and accountability with active 

encouragement and involvement of members of the 

public.  

As a result, we have moved to a greater degree of 

separation between executive and non-executive 

roles of our GPs, with at least one of our GPs 

assuming a non-executive role in addition to the 

Chair, neither of whom will have an executive 

portfolio. The Chair no longer attends Executive 

meetings.  
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Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 

March 2015 

Member    Attended 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi, Chair   6/6 

Amanda Hume, Chief Officer   5/6 

Peter Race MBE, Lay Member   6/6 

Dr Janet Walker, GP Member   3/4  

(Until Nov 2014) 

Dr Rajesh Khapra, GP Member   2/2  

(Joined Nov 2014) 

Dr Vaishali Nanda, GP Member   3/6 

Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse   6/6 

Simon Gregory, Chief Finance Officer  5/6 

What has the QPF Committee done during the 

year? 

During the year 2014/15 our QPF Committee met on 

six occasions and for which there was an annual cycle 

of business.  Agendas are structured to deal with 

performance, quality assurance and finance issues. 

 Quality Performance Finance 

April    

June    

Aug    

Nov    

Jan    

Mar    

During the year the Quality, Performance and 

Finance Committee has considered: 

In addition to reviewing its Terms of Reference and the 

Minutes of Committees such as the Clinical Quality 

Review Groups, the committee’s work included: 

Quality 

 Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQIN) 

scheme. 

 Medicines optimisation. 

 Patient surveys. 

 Healthcare Associated Infections. 

 Risk profiling and care management in primary 

care. 

 Mental health and learning disability. 

 Foundation Trust Quality Accounts. 

 Quality impact of Cost Improvement Plans. 

 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 

(QIPP) plans. 

 Provider quality information supporting assurance 

visits. 

 Compliance with recommendations from National 

enquiries, e.g. Winterbourne. 

 Serious Untoward Incidents (SUIs). 

 Complaints. 

Performance 

 Clinical Workstreams. 

 Continuing Health care. 

 Constitutional Indicators including ambulance 

response times and cancer waiting times. 

 Payment by Results. 

 Planning – strategic and operation plans, Better 

Care Fund, financial plan. 

Finance 

 Financial position and risks. 

 Prescribing budgets. 

Audit Committee Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 

March 2015 

Member    Attended 

Peter Race, MBE, Chair    5/5 

Dr John Drury, Secondary Care Doctor  3/5 

David Brunskill, Lay Member PPI  5/5 

What has the Audit Committee done during the 

year? 

During the year 2014/15 the Audit Committee met on 

five occasions and for which there was an annual cycle 

of business.   

During the year the Audit Committee has 

considered: 

 

 

Audit Committee 



Governing Body Committee Reports 

 104 

 Considered terms of reference and Audit 

Committee effectiveness. 

 Received updates on the Audit Committee 

Handbook. 

 Agreed the Audit Committee’s annual report to the 

Governing Body. 

 Received the Annual Accounts. 

External Audit 

 External Audit annual plan for previous year. 

 Progress report including consideration of 

emerging findings for external audit work. 

 Approval of External Audit plan and fees. 

Internal Audit 

 Review of Internal Audit provision. 

 Advice on the Internal Audit strategy and the work 

plan for the beginning of the new financial year. 

 Approval of Internal Audit Plan. 

 Consider mid-year report on emerging findings 

from Internal Audit. 

 

 

Counter Fraud 

 Counter Fraud progress report. 

 Counter Fraud annual report. 

 Counter Fraud annual plan. 

Governance 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

 Annual Report. 

 Review CCG Annual Report. 

 Review Assurance Framework. 

 Statutory duties. 

 Assurance report from Governance and Risk 

Committee regarding compliance with statutory 

duties and effectiveness of policies. 

 Review of losses and special payments 

 Use of company seal. 

 Aged Debtors and Creditors. 

 Ensure systems for financial reporting to the 

Governing Body including budgetary control, are 

subject to review regarding completeness and 

accuracy of information. 

 Consider reviews by bodies or regulatory 

organisations.
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Audit Committee – Annual Report 

2014/15 
 

Peter Race MBE, Audit Committee Chair 

This report to the Governing Body covers the year to 1 

April 2014 - 31 March 2015 and is submitted as a 

requirement under the Terms of Reference of the Audit 

Committee. 

The principal purpose of the report is to give the 

Governing Body assurance as to the work carried out to 

support the Annual Governance Statement given by 

the Accountable Officer on its behalf. 

 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is established under Governing 

Body delegation with approved terms of reference that 

are aligned with the NHS Committee Handbook, 

published by the Healthcare Finance Managers 

Association, and the Department of Health.  The 

Committee, which consists of two Lay Members and 

our Secondary Care Doctor, has met on five occasions 

formally in the period 2014/15, and has discharged its 

responsibilities for scrutinising the risks and controls 

which affect all aspects of the CCG’s business. 

The work programme of the Audit Committee is 

guided by a cycle of business programme agreed 

annually by the Committee. The programme enables 

the Audit Committee to carry out the key objectives 

necessary to support its assurances in respect of the 

Annual Governance Statement. 

 

Principal Review Areas 

This annual report is divided into five sections reflecting 

the five key duties of the Committee, as set out in the 

terms of reference. 

 

1 Governance, Risk Management and Internal 

Control: 

 

 The committee has reviewed relevant disclosure 

statements, in particular the Annual Governance  

 Statement, together with the Head of Internal Audit 

Opinion, external audit opinion; and other 

appropriate external independent assurances. It 

was considered that the Annual Governance 

Statement was consistent with the Audit 

Committee’s view on the CCG’s system of internal 

control.  Accordingly, we supported the Governing 

Body’s approval of the Annual Governance 

Statement. 

 

 The committee reviewed the Assurance Framework, 

and believe that it was fit for purpose, and has 

reviewed evidence to support this.  The framework 

is in line with Department of Health expectations, 

and has been reviewed by internal and external 

audit to give additional assurance for our opinion. 

 

 The committee has reviewed the completeness of 

the risk management system and the extent to 

which it is embedded within the organisation.  This 

included a regular review of the organisation’s risk 

management arrangements and, in particular, its 

risk registers. 

 

 

 

2 Internal Audit:  throughout the year the 

Committee has worked effectively with Internal 

Audit to review and strengthen the CCG’s 

internal controls and, in particular:   

 Reviewed and approved the internal audit strategy, 

operational plan, and detailed programme of work.  

The formal meetings always include at least one 
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member of their team.  We consider their reports, 

agree their programmes, and consider their 

effectiveness.  They also deliver our fraud 

protection programmes and we consider the 

reports to be aware of any issues requiring further 

action.  In this connection there were no major 

incidents which required additional time allocation. 

 Considered the findings of internal audit, and 

sought assurance that management had 

responded in an appropriate way, and that the 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion and Annual 

Governance Statement reflected any significant 

control weaknesses. 

 

 

 

3 External Audit: 

 The Committee reviewed and agreed external 

audit’s annual plan. 

 The Committee reviewed and commented on the 

reports prepared by external audit. 

 

As with internal audit, we always have at least one 

member of their team present at out formal meetings.  

We review their work and findings, follow up their 

management requests, and agree their fee proposals.  

They keep us informed in respect of the ever-changing 

nature of Department of Health requirements, and 

have arranged briefing sessions where necessary. 

The Audit Committee again met with the auditors (both 

Internal and External) on two occasions without 

Management present.  Following examples of best 

practice, the committee also meets with the auditors 

immediately prior to each of the formal meetings 

without a Management presence and this proves most 

useful for the Members. 

 

4 Management:   

 Whilst the committee meets formally five times a 

year we also have informal meetings with the Chief 

Finance Officer (CFO).  These are mainly 

educational and contain briefings on the monthly 

accounts including comparatives to budget and 

outlining future budget plans.  The Audit 

Committee greatly values these discussions, which 

also give the CFO an informal setting to highlight 

issues and concerns.  We are able, as a result, to 

give the Governing Body assurances of 

independent scrutiny of items submitted to it. 

 

 

Value for Money is important to the organisation as it is 

an important part of outside monitoring.  We take our 

responsibilities seriously and are involved in scrutiny of 

both the external auditor’s report, and in helping the 

CFO formulate his plan and budgets.  The time 

allocated to these meetings permits a greater degree 

of scrutiny and understanding than is possible at a full 

meeting of the Governing Body and has helped inform 

the reporting of progress to make this more readily 

accessible. 

5 Financial Reporting: 

We would again like to thank the CFO for his openness 

and co-operation in sharing information with the 

Committee, and taking the extra time to provide 

explanations and debate key areas with us. 

 

Other Matters Worthy of Note 

In addition to reviewing in detail the Annual Accounts, 

in order to give assurance to the Governing Body we 

also reviewed the Annual Accounts process in detail.  

Linked to this, we also reviewed and approved the 

CCG’s Annual Report. 

Self-Assessment of Effectiveness 

We confirm that we have carried out our self-

assessment, strengthening our model of assessment, 

and discussed it in detail with our Internal Auditors.  

Following the outcome of the assessment there were 

no concerns to be actioned. 
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Conclusion 

We trust the Governing Body will accept that this report 

demonstrates that the work we have carried out is 

consistent with opinions on the Annual Governance 

Statement, and that the committee has complied with 

its Terms of Reference.  Finally, I am pleased to record 

that members of the Audit Committee are grateful for 

the openness and commitments of all the management 

team and, on a personal note, I must thank my 

colleagues on the Audit Committee for their willing 

support and expertise. 

 

 

 

Peter Race MBE 

Audit Committee Chair 

13 May 2015 
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Remuneration Committee Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 

March 2015 

Member    Attended 

Dr Henry Waters, Chair    1/2 

Dr John Drury, Secondary Care Doctor  2/2 

Peter Race MBE, Lay Member Audit  1/2 

David Brunskill, Lay Member PPI  2/2 

 

What has the Remuneration Committee done 

during the year? 

During the year 2014/15 the Remuneration Committee 

met on two occasions and for which there was an 

annual cycle of business.   

During the year the Remuneration Committee has 

considered: 

 the Chief Officer’s performance against objectives;  

 appraisal arrangements for the CCG Chair; 

 salary review for Chief Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer. 

Governance and Risk Committee 

Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 

March 2015 

Member    Attended 

Simon Gregory, 

Chair & Senior Information Risk Officer   5/5 

David Brunskill, Lay Member PPI   3/5 

Dr Mike Milner, GP Member/Caldicott Guardian4/5 

Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse    4/5 

Jacqui Keane, Corporate Gov & Risk Officer  4/5 

Ben Murphy, Senior Governance Manager  2/2 

(Until 30 November 2014) 

Liane Cotterill, Senior Governance Manager      3/3 

(Joined December 2014) 

 

What has the Governance and Risk Committee 

done during the year? 

During the year 2014/15 the Governance and Risk 

Committee met on five occasions and for which there 

was an annual cycle of business.   

During the year the Governance and Risk 

Committee has considered: 

 Corporate risk register and assurance framework. 

 Risk Management Strategy. 

 Risk management scoring, risk appetite and 

workstream risk assessment processes. 

 Health and Safety Strategy and assurances. 

 Information Governance Strategy, associated 

policies, processes and documentation leading to 

the submission of the IG Toolkit. 

 Assurance on equality, diversity and human rights 

arrangements and the review of key equality duties 

and objectives. 

 Business Continuity planning, emergency 

preparedness, resilience and response 

arrangements. 

 Horizon scanning and legislative framework 

mapping. 

 Research governance updates and assurances. 

Funding Panel Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 

March 2015 

 

Member     Attended 

Peter Race, Lay Member, Chair   7/11 

Dr Tony Chahal, GP    9/11 

 

This group comprises of clinical representatives from a 

number of local CCGs with specialist advice from public 

health colleagues. Despite not being in attendance at 

all meetings, Dr Chahal clinically reviews all cases 

relating to NHS South Tees CCG’s population.  

What has the Funding Panel done during the year? 

During the year 2014/15 the Funding Panel has met on 

11 occasions.  

During the year the Funding Panel has considered: 

The panel considers individual funding requests for 

treatment not routinely delivered within current NHS 

contracts. They decide whether to support the request 

based on the information provided to the committee 

and discussion with clinical colleagues.  
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The panel formally received 374 completed 

applications to consider; as at 31 March the panel had 

requested additional information for 54 applications 

before they could be fully considered and at the year-

end a decision had not yet been made.  Of the 320 

applications reviewed, 57% (181) of requests for 

individual treatment were supported, with 43% (139) 

not supported.  

There are a wide range of requests considered by the 

panel however some of the most frequently requested 

procedures include varicose vein treatments; breast 

augmentation and reduction; and skin resurfacing 

procedures such as dermabrasion, laser treatments and 

chemical peels.  

The committee also develops and agrees protocols for 

accessing services or treatments not within existing 

contracts either for NHS, or non-NHS providers where 

a service level agreement or contract does not exist.
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Risk Management Framework 
Identifying the risks that matter 

As we respond to new challenges and the continually 

changing demands of the local health economy, so 

does our system of risk management and internal 

control.  

Our risk appetite has been developed by our 

Governance and Risk Committee, responsible for the 

oversight of risk management within the CCG, and 

approved by the Governing Body. It is the view of the 

committee that there is a level of normal risk inherent 

within healthcare commissioning. Risks that are 

regarded as normal business, such as any individual 

budget may become overspent, are not recorded on 

our risk register. Specific issues that arise either 

internally or externally that would lead to significant 

financial pressure or damage our reputation are 

recorded on our risk register. 

How are risks identified and reported? 

Our risk management strategy was reviewed and 

updated during the year. The training plan, procedures 

for the operation of the risk register and the work plan 

were updated. 

The strategy sets out our organisation wide approach 

to managing risk at all levels within the CCG. Our aims 

are; 

 To ensure that risks to the achievement our 

objectives are understood and effectively managed. 

 To maintain a risk management framework to 

assure the Governing Body that strategic and 

operational risks are being effectively managed. 

 To ensure that risk management is a cohesive 

element of the internal control systems within our 

corporate governance framework. 

 To ensure that risk management is an integral part 

of our culture and our operating systems. 

 To ensure that we meet our statutory obligations 

including those relating to health and safety and 

data protection. 

 To assure all stakeholders, staff and partner 

organisations that we are committed to managing 

risk appropriately.  

Risk Management System 

Our risk management system is used to categorise risk 

against nine domains. 

Risks are rated on a matrix that measures the 

combination of the impact of a risk with its likelihood. 
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1 Negligible 1 2 3 4 5 

2 Minor 2 4 6 8 10 

3 Moderate 3 6 9 12 15 

4 Major 4 8 12 16 20 

5 Catastrophic 5 10 15 20 25 

Risks are scored by multiplying the impact by the 

likelihood, and scores in the range of 15 to 25 are 

considered to be high risk. However, all risks scored at 

12 or above are included on the Governing Body 

Assurance Framework. 

Reviewing the risk register also includes the process of 

assessing the effectiveness of the identified controls. 

The residual level of risk is then derived from the 

combination of initial risk and control effectiveness. 
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Risks are reviewed at four levels within the CCG. The 

first level is during the day-to-day operations of the 

CCG, where our staff work within the policies of the 

CCG. Risks are identified within departments, work 

streams and the CCG management team. Our 

Governance and Risk Manager and Chief Finance 

Officer meets with the CCG senior team to assess risks 

at this level. 

During the CCG’s first year of operation, no new risks to 

the CCG at this level were identified by the CCG’s 

commissioning support unit (CSU). Part of developing 

the relationship between the CSU and the CCG will 

enable the better identification of risks by external 

support staff. 

The second level is a full review of the risk register with 

the CCG’s Executive team. This review allows Governing 

Body GPs the opportunity to consider the range and 

severity of the risks the CCG is assessing. This is an 

important step in the consideration of risks as it gives 

the opportunity for a broader discussion on the risks, 

controls and actions. 

The third level is the corporate oversight provided by 

the Governance and Risk Committee. This committee 

reviews the CCG’s risk register and Assurance 

Framework at each meeting, validating the scoring 

identified. 

The fourth level of review is at the Governing Body 

where the Board Assurance Framework is considered at 

each meeting. Risks with a residual level score of 12 are 

automatically included in the Assurance Framework. 

In addition, it has been agreed that greater emphasis 

will be placed on developing the skills of our 

workstreams in their development and scoring of risks.   

This will ensure that risks that come from them will have 

been assessed using the same methodology and 

scoring framework as in the strategic risk register; 

providing greater levels of control and a more robust 

approach.  

Internal Control Framework 

Our system of internal control is the set of policies and 

procedures in place to ensure that we deliver our 

strategic aims and objectives. Combined with the risk 

management framework described above we ensure 

that we manage risk to a reasonable level. Internal 

control is driven by our policies and procedures and 

embedded in our programme of mandatory staff 

training.  

A significant feature of our organisational structure 

continues to be the 60% of the administrative function 

of the CCG that is provided via a contract with a 

commissioning support unit (North of England 

Commissioning Support). Our policies and procedures 

are designed to reflect this organisational arrangement, 

as well as the service level agreement with the North of 

England Commissioning Support unit containing 

performance metrics relevant to their performance of 

this role. The commissioning support unit works with 

NHS Shared Business Services who provide the 

transaction processing services and financial ledger 

facilities for NHS England and all CCGs. 

We work closely with the commissioning support unit 

to ensure tight budgetary control, where we gain a 

good understanding of debtors and creditors to 

facilitate accurate cash-flow forecasting and to ensure 

the NHS Shared Business Services financial ledger is 

accurate to enable NHS England to carry out their 

reporting requirements. We achieve this through twice 

monthly meetings between the CSU and the CCG’s 

CFO, monthly reconciliation sign off controls by the 

CCG and the production of clear, concise and accurate 

reporting. 

We contract with other support service providers and 

their sub-contractors. The CCG’s payroll services are 

provided by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation 

Trust using the electronic staff record service provided 

by McKesson UK. 

These support services commission service auditor 

reports that are available to their clients’ auditors to 
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assess internal control risk for the purposes of planning 

and executing their financial audit. We will not receive 

our final service auditor report until late May 2016. The 

CCG itself continually reviews its financial performance 

and it’s subject to monthly reviews of its ledgers by 

NHS England.  

We also work in partnership with other CCGs in the 

North East. These collaborations are: 

 Arrangements with the CCGs with regard to 

coordinating commissioning arrangements for 

contracts with NHS healthcare providers in the 

North of England. 

 Joint arrangements with the CCGs to determine 

commissioning for health gain policies and to 

review and approve individual funding requests, 

including conducting an appeals process. 

 Joint arrangements with the CCGs to advise upon 

and make recommendations to CCGs on high cost 

cancer drugs and high cost treatments. 

 Joint arrangements with the commissioning support 

unit to provide a HR Partnership Forum through 

which the CCGs work together with Trade Union 

and Professional Organisation representatives to 

discuss issues relating to employment matters 

affecting their employees. The forum also advises 

and makes recommendations on employment 

policies and procedures.   

 

Information Governance 

In common with other NHS organisations the CCG uses 

the NHS Information Governance Framework. This 

defines the processes and procedures by which the 

NHS handles information about patients and 

employees, in particular personal identifiable 

information.   The NHS Information Governance 

Framework is supported by an Information Governance 

Toolkit and the annual submission process provides 

assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to 

individuals that personal information is dealt with 

legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

Our Governing Body delegates the monitoring of 

information governance to the Governance and Risk 

Committee. Two Governing Body members have 

specific responsibilities; Dr Mike Milner is the Caldicott 

Guardian, and Mr Simon Gregory is the Senior 

Information Risk Owner. 

We place high importance on ensuring that there are 

robust information governance systems and processes 

in place to help protect information.  We have an 

Information Governance Framework in place 

comprising an approved strategy and a set of 

approved policies and procedures in line with the 

Information Governance Toolkit.   We ensure that all 

staff undertake annual information governance training 

and have reviewed our staff information governance 

handbook to ensure that staff are aware of their 

information governance roles and responsibilities.  We 

have also started to carry out ‘spot checks’ so we can 

understand staff’s understanding of key IG issues and 

provide support, advice and additional training as 

required. 

We use the Health and Social Care Information Centre’s 

(HSCIC) ‘Checklist for Reporting, Managing and 

Investigating Information Governance Serious 

Untoward Incidents’.  We use a suite of policies to 

mitigate data security breaches including, Information 

Governance Risk Policy, Information Access Policy, 

Information Security Policy and Acceptable Use of 

Email and Internet Policy. 

There is a process for incident reporting and 

investigation of serious incidents. The process outlines 

the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting 

procedures to be used in the event of a data security 

breach. We are continuing to review and develop 

information risk assessment and management 

procedures and we continue to further instil an 

information risk culture throughout the organisation. 

The Information Governance Toolkit is provided by the 

HSCIC to monitor progress on Information Governance 

in the NHS.  The CCG has published its latest HSCIC 

Information Governance Toolkit and has been self-
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assessed as being 71% compliant (68%,  2013/14), 

which confirms our organisation’s rating as overall 

‘satisfactory’ in this regard. The CCG believe there are a 

number of areas where we could have scored ourselves 

higher, however, it is important that we ensure our 

processes and systems are fully embedded and we 

chose to take a cautious approach to scoring in 

2014/15.  Our internal audit plan for 2014/15 included 

an audit of the IG Toolkit self-assessment to provide 

assurance that the process for determining scores 

against individual requirements was adequate. 

Significant assurance has been given in respect of the 

CCG’s Information Toolkit submission following a 

review by Internal Audit. 

Our contracts for the health care services with hospital 

trusts and other providers use the NHS Standard 

Contract. This contract requires them to achieve level 2 

of the NHS Information Governance Toolkit standards 

ensuring satisfactory levels of data quality and data 

protection.  

There have been no reportable information 

governance breaches in year 2014/15.  

The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to 

requests for information. During the year, the CCG 

received 231 requests for information under the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000 and 14 requests for 

information under the Data Protection Act 1998.  All 

the requests were responded to within statutory 

timescales.  

Data Quality 

We rely on a significant number of data and 

information flows. These include: 

 Activity information from providers’ submissions 

into the NHS Secondary Uses Service. 

 Performance and quality information directly 

received from providers. 

 Financial information managed within the national 

Integrated Single Financial Environment. 

 National performance and quality measurement 

systems. 

 

These systems are reviewed by our internal and 

external auditors as part of their routine work. 

Additional scrutiny comes from NHS England as part of 

their assurance process. The Governing Body and its 

committees are satisfied these systems are sufficiently 

robust and can be relied upon. 

Complaints 

The Chief Officer’s private office team responds to 

enquiries, comments and concerns from our local 

population. This service includes the Complaints 

Department which handles complaints in accordance 

with the NHS Complaints Regulations and MP enquiries 

on behalf of the organisation. 

From 1 April 2013 NHS South Tees CCG became 

responsible for managing complaints received from our 

local population in respect of commissioned services. 

The day-to-day management of the complaints 

process is undertaken by the Commissioning Support 

Unit on behalf of the CCG, with overall responsibility 

remaining with the CCG. There were 34 complaints 

received in 2014/15 (21 in 2013/14) that required our 

intervention. Of these, 16 were CCG-led. The remaining 

18 were passed to provider organisations for 

investigation and response. Complaints are managed in 

accordance with the NHS Complaints Regulations.  

Business Critical Models 

In partnership with our commissioning support unit we 

operate a small number of business critical models. 

These include systems that calculate our liabilities for 

expenditure against our contracts with healthcare 

providers. Critical features of these systems are: 

 The calculation of the correct tariffs for the service. 

 The correct application of algorithms that are 

responsible for checking that the appropriate 

commissioner has been assigned on the basis of 

service provided, as well as which GP the patient is 

registered with. 

Systems managed by the NHS Business Services 

Authority are used to assess our liabilities for the costs 

of primary care drugs. 
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These systems have not been fully assessed against the 

five recommendations of the Macpherson report, 

however they have been subject to reconciliation with 

the calculations of our healthcare providers and 

associate commissioners to assure ourselves that they 

are robust and fit for purpose. 

Data Security 

The legal and regulatory environment that we operate 

in does not permit the CCG to have direct access to 

patient identifiable information.  We only deal with 

information at this level when handling patients’ 

complaints and with the explicit permission of the 

patient. 

We do need to be assured that the healthcare that we 

fund is being correctly charged to the CCG. We achieve 

this with data checks that are run directly under the 

control of the Health and Social Care Information 

Centre and supplied to our commissioning support 

unit. 

Pension Obligations 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of 

the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in 

place to ensure all employer obligations contained 

within the scheme regulations are complied with. This 

includes ensuring that deductions from salary, 

employer’s contributions and payments into the 

scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and 

that member pension scheme records are accurately 

updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in 

the regulations. 

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations 

Control measures are in place to ensure that all of our 

obligations under equality, diversity and human rights 

legislation are complied with. This included the review 

of our Equality and Diversity Strategy during 2014/15 

and agreement of, and reports on progress against, 

our equality duties and objectives. Further information 

is contained in the Strategic Report on pages 64 to 66. 

Sustainable Development Obligations 

The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering 

against sustainable development indicators. We have 

implemented plans to assess risks, enhance our 

performance and reduce our impact, including against 

carbon reduction and climate change adaptation 

objectives. This includes establishing mechanisms to 

embed social and environmental sustainability across 

policy development, business planning and in 

commissioning. Further information is contained in the 

Strategic Report on pages 59 to 60. 

We will ensure the CCG complies with its obligations 

under the Climate Change Act 2008, including the 

Adaptation Reporting power, and the Public Services 

(Social Value) Act 2012. 

We are also setting out our commitments as a socially 

responsible employer. 

 



 

 115 

Risk Assessment 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

A key challenge for any organisation is to identify the principal risks it faces and to develop and monitor 

appropriate controls.  The CCG maintains a risk register of the principal risks we face, including the likelihood and 

impact of risks and the controls and procedures implemented to mitigate them.  We have a robust process for the 

identification, discussion and monitoring of risks and their mitigations; this is set out in more detail on pages 110-

111. 

In addition to our own risks, there are additional factors that the Governing Body has agreed should be 

considered and are, therefore, included on the risk register.   These include the reputational risk to the CCG of the 

actions or performance of other organisations, and uncertainty of the impact of changes in national policies in the 

early days of their implementation.  Both of these factors are reflected in our principal risks.  

The table below gives an overview of the risks that the Governing Body consider to be the most significant and 

gives some examples of the actions that have been taken to mitigate against them.   

The risks are not set out in any priority order: 

Principal Risks         Key actions, controls and mitigating factors 

Quality and Safety of Services 

Adverse impact on quality of 

care if providers cannot manage 

the incidences of C. difficile, 

together with the CCG’s 

contribution to reducing C. 

difficile via primary care. 

 Throughout the year the CCG has worked closely with the main providers 

to seek assurances on the delivery of the action plans and external reviews. 

 Announced and unannounced visits are carried out on wards and 

departments and working practices observed. 

 Developed closer working relationships between primary care and 

secondary care clinicians. 

 Provision of specialist advice to GPs about C. difficile and the links to 

antimicrobial prescribing. 

 Monitoring of primary care antimicrobial prescribing. 

Intercollegiate guidance requires 

greater involvement of GPs in 

Children’s Safeguarding 

 Agreement reached with NHS England for funding and support for a 

named GP to fulfil these responsibilities. 

 Children’s safeguarding is a high priority for the CCG and significant work 

has been carried out to ensure high levels of education, training and 

awareness within primary care. 

 Continued involvement in inter-agency meetings. 

 

Staffing pressures and high levels 

of restitution requests in the 

Continuing Healthcare Team 

could impact upon the service 

delivery. 

 Additional investment provided to support staffing levels. 

 CCG senior management ‘walk through’ of CHC service to further 

understand pressure points. 

Surges in activity throughout the 

year could negatively impact the 

 Additional investment provided to our main provider to mitigate against 

potential increased pressures. 
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performance of providers with 

potential impact on service 

quality and the CCG’s reputation. 

 Further investments to provide two additional ambulances for a trial 

period. 

 Multi-agency working to help raise the public profile of services offered by 

pharmacists, GPs, walk-in centres etc. 

 

Reduce waste, increase productivity and deliver financial balance 

Agreed QIPP plans fail to deliver 

reductions in unplanned care 

 Close monitoring of action plans 

 Work with GP Practices to ensure they have the information required to 

help them manage targets. 

 Inter-agency working to develop a broader system approach (eg. acute 

trusts and primary care). 

 

Uncertainty of impact upon the 

CCG of Commissioner 

Requested Service process 

 All actions to develop this process have been undertaken by the CCG in 

readiness for discussions with the local acute trust. 

 Strategic review of services to be carried out. 

 

 

Potential impact on quality and 

access of services across the 

broader health economy as a 

result of main provider’s financial 

challenges. 

 Close working with the main provider so the CCG could fully understand 

the implications of the financial challenges and any potential impact on 

quality of services. 

Establishing innovative and Integrated health and social care 

Inability to transform primary 

care system if the established 

joint working arrangements for 

the Better Care Fund fail to 

deliver agreed schemes. 

 Joint working with all agencies to ensure that all investments have a 

positive health impact for the population. 

 BCF Plan developed and approved. 

Continue and build upon public engagement activities 

Inability to adequately engage 

with the public on the 

development of our 

commissioning intentions and 

subsequent decision making. 

 There have been increasing levels of involvement, engagement and 

consultation with stakeholders and the general public throughout the 

commissioning cycle and on key service change proposals. 

 Establishment of Patient and Public Advisory Group 
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Economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 

use of resources 
Planning 

In March 2014 we finalised our financial and activity 

plans for 2014/15. This plan was an update to the 

second year of our 2014/19 five year plan. The plans 

were reviewed by NHS England. The financial plan 

set out: 

 The financial resources available to us. 

 The anticipated expenditure programme based 

on historic trends and demographic information 

and delivering the commitments of the NHS 

constitution. 

 Planned quality, innovation, productivity and 

prevention measures that would release funds 

for new investment. 

 Planned investments for the year based on our 

commissioning intentions. 

 An assessment of the potential financial risks for 

the year and our options for their mitigation. 

 The clear expectation that we would achieve our 

financial targets for 2014/15, delivering a 1% 

surplus, committing no more than 97.5% of our 

funding to recurrent programmes and not 

spending more than £25 per head of population 

on our administrative costs. 

The CCG’s plans were reviewed by the Executive 

then the plan was agreed by our Governing Body in 

March 2014. The plans included reserves set aside 

that could be used to cover emerging in risks in year. 

Commissioning and Contracting 

During 2013/14 we worked with our workstreams 

and Governing Body GPs to produce a set of 

commissioning intentions for 2014/15 in line with the 

financial and activity plans.  

Contracts were negotiated and signed for nearly all 

of commissioned services at the start of 2014/15. 

The majority of secondary care contracts were 

funded on a cost per transaction basis, using the 

national tariffs and locally agreed prices where there 

was no national tariff. The use of these tariffs means 

that we are effectively paying providers the national 

average cost of the service. 

Contracts for Community Services and Mental Health 

and Learning Disability services were mainly funded 

on fixed sum ‘block’ basis. We have commenced a 

programme of work with our main community 

services provider that is intended to realign the 

service lines in the contract with the new services as 

they are implemented in the IMProVE programme.  

We negotiated a quality incentive scheme for each 

NHS contract linking 2.5% of the contract value to 

the achievement of agreed quality standards. 

Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 

plans were agreed mainly focused on reductions in 

emergency admissions and potential reductions in 

medicine costs. 

We planned additional non-recurring investments 

during 2014/15. These investments included; 

 The double running costs of community services 

as they move from an inpatient setting to more 

care being provided  in patients homes 

 Supporting projects in primary care that are 

focused on reducing the numbers of emergency 

admissions into hospital. 

 Continuing to fund innovative community 

projects and introduced a project to fund 

innovations in primary care. 

 Continued to support education projects in 

community and primary care. 

These investments were in line with our original 

plans or approved in year following a review of the 

business case by the executive and Governing Body 

as appropriate to the level of investment. We 

maintained the process developed in our first year to 

assess bids for small scale projects that involved local 
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partner bodies, patient representatives and our 

executive. 

Performance monitoring 

Our Governing Body has delegated responsibility for 

monitoring performance to its Quality, Performance 

and Finance Committee. The membership and terms 

of reference for this committee are set out on page 

103. 

The Quality, Performance and Finance Committee 

receive at each meeting reports on: 

 The activities of our clinical workstreams.  

 A report on the quality metrics of commissioned 

services at CCG and provider level. 

 A report on performance metrics and issues of 

commissioned services at CCG and provider 

level. 

 A report on financial performance of 

commissioned services including where reserves 

were utilised to cover overspent plans. 

Provider contractual performance is reviewed in line 

with the processes contained in the NHS standard 

contract. The principal meeting for each contract is 

the Contract Management Board that includes 

members of the CCG’s and the Foundation Trust’s 

executive and senior management teams. Quality 

and performance issues are reviewed at Clinical 

Quality Review Group meetings with any significant 

issues escalated to the Contract Management Board. 

Additional operational meetings involve the CCG’s 

and Foundation Trust management teams and deal 

with routine data reconciliation issues. Any issues 

arising are escalated first to the Contract 

Management Board and then into our corporate 

governance system at the Quality, Performance and 

Finance Committee. Any significant issues raised may 

lead to an ‘Executive to Executive’ meeting with the 

relevant provider and potentially lead to the 

application of contract penalties. 

Our Governing Body receives summary reports on 

quality and finance at each Governing Body meeting. 

Assurance 

Our performance is subject to review by our Internal 

Audit service and the oversight provided by NHS 

England’s assurance processes.  

For the year 2014/15 Internal Audit have reviewed 

and found significant assurance in the following 

areas: 

 Patient and Public Engagement. 

 Information Governance Toolkit Review. 

 Financial Planning and Budget Setting. 

 Financial Management and Performance 

Reporting. 

 Data Quality. 

 Medicines Management Arrangements. 

Our Internal Audit report on Continuing Healthcare 

and Funded Nursing Care found only limited 

assurance in 2014/15. This report reviewed the 

design and tested the controls around the financial 

aspects of the delivery of Continuing Healthcare and 

Funded Nursing Care. We have been working with 

our service support unit to resolve the issues raised. 

In addition, we submit monthly financial information 

to NHS England via the integrated single finance 

system.  

The plans and performance of the CCG are reviewed 

by the NHS England Area Team and their directors 

participate in quarterly assurance meetings with 

members of our Governing Body and Executive 

Team. The NHS England Assurance Framework 

covers six domains: 

 Are patients receiving clinically commissioned, 

high quality services? 

 Can the CCG demonstrate active and meaningful 

engagement with patients, carers and their 

communities which is embedded in the way that 

the CCG works? 

 Is the CCG delivering improved outcomes within 

financial resources, supported by clear and 

credible plans which are in line with national 
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requirements (including excellent outcomes), and 

local Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies? 

 Does the CCG have effective and appropriate 

constitutional, corporate, clinical and information 

governance arrangements in place, with the 

capacity and capability to deliver all its duties 

and responsibilities, including financial control, as 

well as effectively commission all the services for 

which it is responsible? 

 Does the CCG have strong collaborative 

arrangements in place for commissioning with 

other CCGs, local authorities and NHS England, 

as well as appropriate external commissioning 

support services and wider stakeholders 

including regulators? 

 Does the CCG have in place great leaders who 

individually and collectively make a real 

difference? 

Performance is assessed against lower level 

indicators within each domain. The final assessment 

for the CCG for 2014/15 will not be completed until 

autumn 2015. 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, 

risk management and internal control 

Review of 2014/15 

In our second year we were able to build on the 

good progress made establishing ourselves during 

2013/14. We have better developed operational 

processes in place, and we have responded to newly 

emerging challenges. We have reviewed our 

governance arrangements with an external challenge 

and have introduced some further refinements. We 

have continued to review our internal capacity and 

capability, and recognised that we have needed 

more ‘in house’ capacity and have needed to realign 

and refocus our commissioning support. The balance 

of in-house versus bought in service remains a 

challenge. 

The Quality, Performance and Finance Committee 

met six times and received the three main 

performance reports at each meeting. From early in 

the year it was clear that the CCG faced one main 

area where expenditure was exceeding plan. This 

was an increase in activity on the main acute hospital 

contract. Costs of elective services were 4% above 

the previous year as the foundation trust focussed 

on maintaining elective capacity and managing 

patient waiting times to acceptable levels.  

In the first half of the year we saw an increase in 

emergency admissions that actually reduced over 

the final seven months of 2014/15. The final activity 

figures for emergency were 3.5% lower than 

2013/14. Towards the end of the year we saw 

growth in demand and costs of continuing health 

care packages.  

These pressures were reported to the Governing 

Body during the year and the CCGs reserves were 

used to mitigate the costs.  

We originally planned a surplus of £3.9 million (1%) 

for 2014/15 in line with national guidance. During 

the year, we had the opportunity to increase this 

figure. Firstly the CCG had some funds that had been 

allocated to a central risk pool for old PCT 

continuing healthcare claims returned. This added to 

£0.93 million our surplus. In addition in partnership 

with NHS Property Services we saw a £2 million 

reduction in estate void costs, this in combination 

with other unused contingencies allowed us to 

increase our total surplus for the year to £8.3 million 

(2.1%). £3.4 million of the additional surplus has 

been returned to the CCG in 2015/16.  

Our administrative budget for 2014/15 was £6.8 

million; we only spent £6.3 million on our 

management costs. We were able to transfer the 

unspent funds to the commissioned services budget. 

Provider Engagement 

We completed and submitted a balanced financial 

plan in March 2014 in line with NHS England’s 

timetable.  

We meet with the two Foundation Trusts where the 

CCG acts as lead commissioner.  During the year 

there were six  Contract Board Meetings with South 

Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and 12 

contract meetings with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust. There were also five Clinical 

Quality Review Group meetings with South Tees 

Hospitals and we participated in six equivalent 

meetings with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys Trust. We 

also participated in the Commissioning Quality 

Review Group meeting with the North East 

Ambulance Foundation Trust. 

We have some smaller contracts with other health 

care providers in the region. Our interests in these 

contracts are represented by the local lead 

commissioner and managers from our 

commissioning support unit. 
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Plans for the future 

As outlined in other parts of the annual report for 

2014/15 the big issues in the coming year are the 

integration and modernisation agenda. The Better 

Care Fund in 2015/16 is a £10.4 million pooled 

budget with Middlesbrough Council and a separate 

£10.4 million pooled budget with Redcar and 

Cleveland. Our contribution to the £20.8 million fund 

is £14.1 million. The purpose of the Better Care Fund 

is to develop better integrated services between 

health and social care, focusing on reducing 

emergency admissions to hospital and the 

improvement of seven day services. 

Our local GP services have been awarded funds from 

the Prime Ministers Challenge Fund to implement 

innovative ways of delivering primary care. This is 

particularly focused on better access to GPs at times 

convenient to patients. 

We will continue with the actual implementation of 

the IMProVE programme modernising community 

services, bringing care closer to home. This also 

involves working with NHS Property Services Ltd to 

resolve the issues surrounding the legacy estate 

facilities on our patch.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of South Tees CCG

 

We have audited the financial statements of South Tees CCG for the year ended 31 March  

2015 under the Audit Commission Act 1998.  The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive 

Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 

Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 44.  The financial reporting framework that has been applied 

in their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with 

the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England. 

 

We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being: 

 

 the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers on page 79; 

 the table of pension benefits of senior managers on page 82; and 

 the table of pay multiples on page 81. 

 

The report is made solely to the members of South Tees CCG in accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission 

Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors 

and Audited Bodies published by the Audit  

Commission in March 2014.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the CCG those 

matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG, as a body, for our 

audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor 

 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is 

responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 

view.  Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 

with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements  

 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 

give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free  from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or error.  This includes an assessment of : 

 

 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed; 

 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable  Officer; and 

 the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material 

inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently material 

incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 

audit.  If we become aware of 

any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
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In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and 

income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the 

financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

 

Opinion on regularity 

 

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial statements have been 

applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which 

govern them. 

 

Opinion on the financial statements 

 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of South Tees CCG as at 31 March 2015 and of its net 

operating costs for the year then ended; and 

 have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS 

Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State. 

 

Opinion on other matters 

 

In our opinion: 

 

 the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in accordance with the 

requirements  directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State; and 

 the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

 

Matters on which we report by exception 

 

We report to you if: 

 in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with NHS England’s guidance;  

 we refer the matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 because 

we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a 

decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a 

loss or deficiency; or 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998. 

 

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

 

Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the 

resources 

 

Respective responsibilities of the CCG and auditor 

 

The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 

effectiveness of these arrangements. 
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We are required under section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made 

proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The Code of 

Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report to you our conclusion relation to proper 

arrangements, having regard to relevant criteria specified by the Audit Commission in October 2014. 

 

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the CCG has 

put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  We 

are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and  

effectiveness in the use of resources 

 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on 

the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in October 2014, as to whether the CCG has proper 

arrangements for: 

 

 securing financial resilience; and 

 challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 

The Audit Commission determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider under its Code of 

Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper 

Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 

March 2015. 

 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our risk assessment, we 

undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG 

had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 

Conclusion 

 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published by the Audit 

Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, South Tees CCG put in place proper 

arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 

March 2015. 

 

Certificate 

 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of South Tees CCG in accordance with the 

requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission. 

 

 

Paul Thomson (Engagement Lead) 

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 

Appointed Auditor 

Newcastle Upon Tyne, United Kingdom 

28 May 2015 
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     Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2015 

    

     

  

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

 

Note £000 

 

£000 

     Total Income and Expenditure 

 

  

  Employee benefits 4.1.1 1,272 

 

1,103 

Operating expenses 5 398,217 

 

387,716 

Other operating revenue 2 (4,281) 

 

(5,343) 

Net operating expenditure before interest 

 

395,208 

 

383,476 

  

  

  Investment revenue 8                    -    

 

            -    

Other (gains)/losses 9                    -    

 

            -    

Finance costs 10                    -    

 

            -    

Net operating expenditure for the financial year 

 

395,208 

 

383,476 

  

  

  Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption 11                    -    

 

            -    

Total net expenditure for the year 

 

395,208 

 

383,476 

  

  

  Of which: 

 

  

  Administration Income and Expenditure 

 

  

  Employee benefits 4.1.1 1,144 

 

970 

Operating expenses 5 5,149 

 

4,914 

Other operating revenue 2                    -    

 

            -    

Net administration costs before interest 

 

6,293 

 

5,884 

  

  

  

  

  

  Programme Income and Expenditure 

 

  

  Employee benefits 4.1.1 128 

 

133 

Operating expenses 5 393,068 

 

382,802 

Other operating revenue 2 (4,281) 

 

(5,343) 

Net programme expenditure before interest 

 

388,915 

 

377,592 

     

     

     

  

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

  

£000 

 

£000 

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure 

 

                   -    

 

            -    

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 

 

395,208 

 

383,476 

     The notes on pages 130 to 155 form part of this statement 
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     Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2015 

    

  

31 March 2015 

 

31 March 2014 

 

Note £000 

 

£000 

Non-current assets: 

    Property, plant and equipment 13                     -    

 

                    -    

Intangible assets 14                     -    

 

                    -    

Investment property 15                     -    

 

                    -    

Trade and other receivables 17                     -    

 

                    -    

Other financial assets 18                     -    

 

                    -    

Total non-current assets 

 

                    -    

 

                    -    

     Current assets: 

    Inventories 16                     -    

 

                    -    

Trade and other receivables 17 616 

 

1,655 

Other financial assets 18                     -    

 

                    -    

Other current assets 19                     -    

 

                    -    

Cash and cash equivalents 20 78 

 

213 

Total current assets 

 

694 

 

1,868 

     Non-current assets held for sale 21                     -    

 

                    -    

Total current assets 

 

694 

 

1,868 

     Total assets 

 

694 

 

1,868 

     Current liabilities 

    Trade and other payables 23 (20,528) 

 

(18,650) 

Other financial liabilities 24                     -    

 

                    -    

Other liabilities 25                     -    

 

                    -    

Borrowings 26                     -    

 

                    -    

Provisions 30 (13) 

 

                    -    

Total current liabilities 

 

(20,541) 

 

(18,650) 

     
Non-current assets plus net current assets 

 

(19,847) 

 

(16,782) 

     Non-current liabilities 

    Trade and other payables 23                     -    

 

                    -    

Other financial liabilities 24                     -    

 

                    -    

Other liabilities 25                     -    

 

                    -    

Borrowings 26                     -    

 

                    -    

Provisions 30                     -    

 

                    -    

Total non-current liabilities 

 

                    -    

 

                    -    

     
Assets less liabilities 

 

(19,847) 

 

(16,782) 

     Financed by taxpayers’ equity 

    General fund 

 

(19,847) 

 

(16,782) 

Total taxpayers' equity: 

 

(19,847) 

 

(16,782) 

     
The notes on pages 130 to 155 form part of this statement 

    

 The financial statements on pages 126 to129 were approved by the Governing Body on 27 May 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by: 

  

   Chief Officer 

    Amanda Hume 
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      Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 31 March 2015 

   

      

  

General 

fund 

  

Total 

reserves 

  

£000 

  

£000 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15 

    

      Balance at 1 April 2014 

 

(16,781) 

  

(16,781) 

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014 

 

(16,781) 

  

(16,781) 

      Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15 

    Net operating expenditure for the financial year 

 

(395,208) 

  

(395,208) 

  

        

Net recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group expenditure for the 

financial  year 

 

(395,208) 

  

(395,208) 

Net funding 

 

392,142 

  

392,142 

Balance at 31 March 2015 

 

(19,847) 

  

(19,847) 

      

            

      

      

  

General 

fund 

  

Total 

reserves 

  

£000 

  

£000 

      Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14 

    

      Balance at 1 April 2013 

 

              -    

  

                -    

Net operating costs for the financial year 

 

(383,476) 

  

(383,476) 

  

  

  

  

Net recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning expenditure for the financial  year (383,476) 

  

(383,476) 

Net funding 

 

366,695 

  

366,695 

Balance at 31 March 2014 

 

(16,781) 

  

(16,781) 

      

      

      The notes on pages 130 to 155 form part of this statement 
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    Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2015 

   

    

  

2014/15 2013/14 

 

Note £000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

   Net operating expenditure for the financial year 

 

(395,208) (383,476) 

Depreciation and amortisation 5                -                  -    

Impairments and reversals 5                -                  -    

Decrease / (increase) in trade & other receivables 17 1,039 (1,655) 

Increase in trade & other payables 23 1,878 18,649 

Provisions utilised 30                -                  -    

Increase in provisions 30 13               -    

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 

 

(392,278) (366,482) 

  

  

 

  

  

 Cash flows from investing activities 

 

               -                  -    

Net cash Inflow / (outflow) from investing activities 

 

              -                  -    

  

  

 Net cash (outflow) before financing 

 

(392,278) (366,482) 

  

  

 

  

  

 Cash flows from financing activities 

 

392,142 366,695 

Net cash inflow from financing activities 

 

392,142 366,695 

    Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 20 (136) 213 

    Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 

 

213               -    

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign 

currencies                -                  -    

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the financial year 

 

77 213 

    

    

    The notes on pages 130 to 155 form part of this statement 
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  Notes to the financial statements 

  1 Accounting Policies 

 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting 

requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following 

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2014/15 issued by the 

Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International Financial 

Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as 

determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for 

Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to 

the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has 

been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They 

have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

  1.1 Going Concern 

 

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. 

 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 

future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. 

 

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be 

provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of 

going concern for the final set of Financial Statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial 

statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 

  1.2  Accounting Convention 

 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 

of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

  1.3 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations 

 

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 

considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 

transfer from one public sector body to another. 

  1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group 

 

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 

Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual 

does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger 

accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in 

the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within 

the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs. 

 

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 

and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries. 

  1.5 Charitable Funds 

 

From 2014/15, the divergence from the Government Financial Reporting Manual that NHS Charitable Funds are 

not consolidated with bodies’ own returns is removed. Under the provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under common control with NHS bodies are consolidated 

within the entities’ accounts. 
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1.6 

 

Pooled Budgets 

 

The clinical commissioning group is party to a pooled budget arrangement in relation to the loan of community 

equipment.  The pool is hosted by Middlesbrough Council.  As a commissioner of healthcare services, the clinical 

commissioning group makes contributions to the pool that are then used to purchase healthcare services.  Annual 

contributions to the pool are £165,000. (2013/14 £167,000). 

 
 

1.7 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 

In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 

apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 

other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates, and the estimates 

and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 

future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

  1.7.1 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical 

commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

financial statements: 

 
 

 

Examples include; prescribing, continuing healthcare, non-contracted activity, work in progress. 

 
 

1.8  Revenue 

 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. 

 

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is 

deferred. 

  1.9 Employee Benefits 

  1.9.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 

from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. 

  1.9.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an 

unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under 

the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 

would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 

scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group 

of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting 

period. 

 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 

scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical 

commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

  1.10 Other Expenses 

  

 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 

They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. 

 

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present 

legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met. 
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1.11 Property, Plant and Equipment 

  1.11.1 Recognition 

 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

 

-  It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 

 

-  It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical 

commissioning group; 

 

-  It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

 

-  The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 

 

-  The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 

 

-  Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, 

where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 

anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or, 

 

-  Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their 

individual or collective cost. 

 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset 

lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

  1.12 Intangible Assets 

  1.12.1 Recognition 

 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from 

the rest of the clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They 

are recognised only: 

 

-  When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical 

commissioning group; 

 

-  Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and, 

 

-  Where the cost is at least £5,000. 

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating 

of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and 

equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is 

capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating 

expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the 

following have been demonstrated: 

 

-  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use; 

 

-  The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it; 

 

-  The ability to sell or use the intangible asset; 

 

-  How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential; 

 

-  The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or 

use it; and, 

 

-  The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

  1.13 Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairments 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not have any depreciation, amortisation or impairment values as at the 

31st March 2015. (2013/14 nil) 

  1.14 Donated Assets 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not have any donated assets as at the 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  1.15  Government Grants 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not have any government grants as at the 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 
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1.16 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 

 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 

sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met when: 

 

-  The sale is highly probable; 

 

-  The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition; and, 

 

-  Management is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within 

one year from the date of classification. 

  1.17 Leases 

 

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to 

the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

  1.17.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee 

 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 

incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. 

 

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed 

as to whether they are operating or finance leases. 

  1.18  Private Finance Initiative Transactions 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no PFI agreements as at 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  1.19  Inventories 

 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is 

considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks. 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not hold any stock as at 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

 
 

1.20 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 

than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition 

and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management. 

  1.21   Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as 

a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the 

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a 

provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting 

period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 

estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s 

discount rate as follows: 

 

-  Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50% 

 

-  Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05% 

 

-  Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20% 

 

-  All employee early departures: 1.30% 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 

third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and 

the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
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1.21 

(cont’d) 

 

 

 

 

 

(Provisions continued) 

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal 

plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring 

by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a 

restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those 

amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the 

entity. 

1.22   Clinical Negligence Costs 

 

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays 

an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The 

contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all 

clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group. 

  1.23   Non-clinical Risk Pooling 

 

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 

Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution 

to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual 

membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 

expenses as and when they become due. 

  1.24 Continuing healthcare risk pooling 

 

In 2014/15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim 

periods prior to 31 March 2013.  Under the scheme clinical commissioning groups contribute annually to a pooled 

fund, which is used to settle the claims.  NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group contribution to this pool in 

2014/15 is £565,000. 

  1.25 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme 

 

Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible 

assets if they are not expected to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are 

valued at open market value. As the clinical commissioning group makes emissions, a provision is recognised with 

an offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the allowances. The asset, 

provision and deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

 

The NHS South Tees clinical commissioning group do not have any EU Emissions Trading scheme allowances as at 

31st March 2015 and therefore this policy does not impact on this set of accounts. 

  1.26 Contingencies 

 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a 

payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently 

reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote. 

 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical 

commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

 

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value. 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no contingencies as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 
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1.27 

 

Financial Assets 

 

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument 

contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are 

derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred. 

 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

 

-  Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss; 

 

-  Held to maturity investments; 

 

-  Available for sale financial assets; and, 

 

-  Loans and receivables. 

 

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition. 

  1.27.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 

 

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with 

embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value 

through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the 

clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned 

on the financial asset. 

  1.27.2 Held to Maturity Assets 

 

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

maturity, and there is a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective 

interest method. 

  1.27.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets 

 

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that 

does not fall within any of the other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with 

changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or 

losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition. 

  1.27.4 Loans and Receivables 

 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not 

quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

 

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques. 

  

 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 

of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset. 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other 

than those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment 

losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred 

after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. 

 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 

asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is 

reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables. 

 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 

is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the 

impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 

recognised. 
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1.28  

 

Financial Liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group 

becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the 

goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been 

discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired. 

 

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially 

recognised at fair value. 

  1.28.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities 

 

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: 

 

-  The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and, 

 

-  The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

1.28.2  Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 

 

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with 

embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical 

commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial 

liability. 

  1.28.3 Other Financial Liabilities 

 

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate 

is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying 

amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

  1.29  Value Added Tax 

 

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 

does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 

expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or 

input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

  1.3 Foreign Currencies 

 

The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions 

denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the 

transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are 

recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise. 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no foreign currency transactions as at 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  1.31 Third Party Assets 

 

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts 

since the clinical commissioning group has no beneficial interest in them. 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no third party assets as at 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  1.32  Losses and Special Payments 

 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 

health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore 

subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different 

categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. 

 

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, 

including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning 

group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue 

expenditure). 

 

The clinical commissioning group has not made any losses and special payments during 2014/15.  (2013/14 nil). 
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1.33 

 

Subsidiaries 

 

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise control so as to obtain 

economic or other benefits are classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains 

and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial 

statement lines. Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting policies 

are not aligned with the clinical commissioning group or where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-

terminus. 

 

Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value 

less costs to sell’. 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no subsidiary arrangement as at 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil) 

  1.34    Associates 

 

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise significant influence so as 

to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in the clinical commissioning 

group’s accounts using the equity method. The investment is recognised initially at cost and is adjusted 

subsequently to reflect the clinical commissioning group’s share of the entity’s profit/loss and other gains/losses. It 

is also reduced when any distribution is received by the clinical commissioning group from the entity. 

 

Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value 

less costs to sell’. 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no associate arrangement as at 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  1.35   Joint Ventures 

 

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other parties so as 

to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the 

equity method. 

 

Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value 

less costs to sell’. 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no joint ventures arrangement as at 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  1.36  Joint Operations 

 

Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with one or more 

other parties but which are not performed through a separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records its 

share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows. 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no joint operations arrangement as at 31st March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  1.37 Research and Development 

 

Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as 

development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as 

assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the 

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit from the 

project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as 

depreciation. 

 

The clinical commissioning group had no research and development expenditure during 2014/15.  (2013/14 nil). 

 
 

1.38 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

 

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be 

applied in 2014/15, all of which are subject to consultation: 

 

-  IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 

 

-  IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement 

 

-  IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

 

-  IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers 

 

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014/15, were 

they applied in that year. 
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        2 Other Operating Revenue 

       

 

2014/15 

 

2014/15 2014/15 

 

2013/14 

 

 

Total 

 

Admin Programme 

 

Total 

 

 

£000 

 

£000 £000 

 

£000 

 

        Non-patient care services to other bodies 3,981   -    3,981   5,043   

Other revenue 300 

 

-    300 

 

300 

 Total other operating revenue 4,281 

 

- 4,281 

 

5,343 

 

        

        

        Administration revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare 

services. 

        Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account 

of the clinical commissioning group and credited to the General Fund. 

        

        

        

        3 Revenue 

       

 

2014/15 

 

2014/15 2014/15 

 

2013/14 

 

 

Total 

 

Admin Programme 

 

Total 

 

 

£000 

 

£000 £000 

 

£000 

 
From rendering of services 4,281 

 

              -    4,281 

 

5,343 

 From sale of goods               -    

 

              -                  -    

 

              -    

 Total 4,281 

 

              -    4,281 

 

5,343 

 

        

        Revenue is totally from the rendering of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from the sale of 

goods. 
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                  4. Employee benefits and staff numbers 

                 

                  4.1 Employee benefits 2014/15 

 

Total 

   

Admin 

   

Programme 

 

Total 

 

Permanent 

Employees 

 

Other 

 

Total 

 

Permanent 

Employees 

 

Other 

 

Total 

 

Permanent 

Employees 

 

Other 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

Employee Benefits 

                 Salaries and wages 1,074 

 

1,064 

 

10 

 

964 

 

961 

 

3 

 

110 

 

103 

 

7 

Social security costs 82 

 

82 

 

- 

 

73 

 

73 

 

  - 

 

9 

 

9 

 

 -   

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension 

scheme 
116 

 
116 

 
       -    

 
107 

 
107 

 
         -    

 
9 

 
9 

 
          -    

Other pension costs          -    

 

       -    

 

       -    

 

        -    

 

       -    

 

        -    

 

        -    

 

         -    

 

     -    

Other post-employment benefits        -    

 

        -    

 

        -    

 

        -    

 

       -    

 

      -    

 

  -    

 

    -    

 

       -    

Other employment benefits -    

 

        -    

 

     -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

  -    

 

    -    

 

       -    

 

          -    

Termination benefits           -    

 

          -    

 

          -    

 

          -    

 

          -    

 

          -    

 

        -    

 

         -    

 

        -    

Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,272 

 

1,262   10 

 

1,144 

 

1,141   3 

 

128 

 

121   7 

                  Employee Benefits Prior-year 2013/14 

                

 

Total 

 

Permanent 

Employees 

              Employee Benefits £000 

 

£000 

              Salaries and wages 927 

 

927 

              Social security costs 73 

 

73 

              Employer Contributions to NHS Pension 

scheme 103 

 

103 

              Other pension costs              -  

 

                 -    

              Other post-employment benefits               -    

 

                 -    

              

Other employment benefits 

                

-    

 

                 -    

              Termination benefits               -    

 

                 -    

              Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,103 

 

1,103 
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         4.2 Average number of people employed 

        

 

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

 

 

Total 

 

Permanently 

employed 

 

Other 

 

Total 

 

 

Number 

 

Number 

 

Number 

 

Number 

 

         Total 20 

 

19 

 

1 

 

18 

 

         There are no whole time equivalent people engaged on capital projects. 

     

         

         

         4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health 

retirements 

        

   

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

   

   

Number 

 

Number 

   Total Days Lost 

  

94 

 

46 

   Total Staff Years 

  

18 

 

16 

   Average working Days Lost 

  

5 

 

3 

   

         

         The 2013/14 sickness figures are for the period April - December 2013 

              

The 2014/15 sickness figures are for the period January - December 2014      

         The clinical commissioning group had no ill health retirement costs during 2014/15.  (2013/14 nil). 

   

         

         4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year 

        

         The clinical commissioning group had no exit packages during 2014/15.  (2013/14 nil). 
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 4.5 Pension costs 

 Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under 

these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions. 

 The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed 

under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 

would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 

 Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning 

group of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period. 

 In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that 

would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that 'the period between 

formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years'.  An outline of these follows: 

 4.5.1 Accounting valuation 

 A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This 

utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial 

data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes.   

 The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2014, updated to 31 

March 2015 with summary global member and accounting data.  In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 

prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 

 The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the 

annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually.  These accounts can be viewed on 

the NHS Pensions website.  Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

 4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into 

account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates. 

 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 

2012. 

 

The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM 

Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as 

deemed appropriate. 

 

4.5.3 Scheme Provisions 

 The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is 

not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these 

benefits can be obtained: 

 -  The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best 

of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year 

of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based 

upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service; 
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-  With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump 

sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules.  This new provision is known as 'pension commutation'; 

 -  Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on 

changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year.  From 2011/12 the 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI); 

  

-  Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the Scheme who are permanently incapable of 

fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in 

service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable; 

 

 

-  For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The 

full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer; 

 

-  Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the 

Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers. 
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       5. Operating expenses 

      

 

2014/15 

 

2014/15 2014/15 

 

2013/14 

 

Total 

 

Admin Programme 

 

Total 

 

£000 

 

£000 £000 

 

£000 

Gross employee benefits 

      Employee benefits excluding governing body members 657 

 

529 128 

 

497 

Executive governing body members 615 

 

615                  -    

 

606 

Total gross employee benefits 1,272 

 

1,144 128 

 

1,103 

       Other costs 

      Services from other CCGs and NHS England 7,337 

 

4,064 3,273 

 

6,768 

Services from foundation trusts 274,948 

 

30 274,918 

 

274,193 

Services from other NHS trusts 664 

 

             -    664 

 

759 

Services from other NHS bodies                     -    

 

             -                     -    

 

75 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 57,015 

 

             -    57,015 

 

46,042 

Chair and Non Executive Members 158 

 

158                  -    

 

149 

Supplies and services – clinical 1,138 

 

             -    1,138 

 

960 

Supplies and services – general 187 

 

74 113 

 

146 

Consultancy services                     -    

 

             -                     -    

 

18 

Establishment 353 

 

189 164 

 

62 

Transport 1 

 

1                  -    

 

1 

Premises 3,462 

 

175 3,287 

 

5,763 

Audit fees 102 

 

102                  -    

 

104 

Other non statutory audit expenditure 

      -  Internal audit services                     -    

 

             -                     -    

 

30 

Prescribing costs 51,917 

 

             -    51,917 

 

51,527 

Pharmaceutical services                     -    

 

             -                     -    

 

12 

General ophthalmic services                     -    

 

             -                     -    

 

100 

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS                     -    

 

             -                     -    

 

671 

Other professional fees excl. audit 317 

 

317                  -    

 

272 

Clinical negligence 6 

 

6                  -    

 

6 

Education and training 32 

 

32                  -    

 

59 

Provisions 13 

 

             -    13 

 

                 -    

CHC Risk Pool contributions 565 

 

             -    565 

 

                 -    

Total other costs 398,215 

 

5,148 393,067 

 

387,716 

       Total operating expenses 399,487 

 

6,292 393,195 

 

388,819 

       

       Administration expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare 

services. 

       Other professional fees of £317,000 (2013/14 £272,000) relate to: 

     

        - GP clinical engagement £254,000 (2013/14 £228,000) 

       - Patient engagement Improve Project £23,000 (2013/14 £10,000) 

      - Legal £11,000 (2013/14 £34,000) 

       - Audiology review £8,000 (2013/14 nil) 

       - Mental Health £28,000 (2013/14 nil) 

       - Other fees (£7,000) (2013/14 nil) 
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        6.1 Better Payment Practice Code 

       

        Measure of compliance 2014/15 

 

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

 

2013/14 

 

Number 

 

£000 

 

Number 

 

£000 

Non-NHS Payables 

       Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 5,382 

 

63,881 

 

6,485 

 

47,278 

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 5,308 

 

63,027 

 

6,376 

 

46,703 

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.63% 

 

98.66% 

 

98.32% 

 

98.78% 

        NHS Payables 

       Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,015 

 

278,526 

 

1,319 

 

285,063 

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1,997 

 

278,197 

 

1,302 

 

284,967 

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.11% 

 

99.88% 

 

98.71% 

 

99.97% 

        

    

        

        6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 

       

        During 2014/15, the clinical commissioning group had no late payment of Commercial Debts.  (2013/14 nil). 

        7 Income Generation Activities 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not undertake any income generation activities. 

  

        8. Investment revenue 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any investment revenue as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  
        9. Other gains and losses 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any other gains and losses as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

        10. Finance costs 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any finance costs as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  

        11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption 

       

        The clinical commissioning group has no net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil).  
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          12. Operating Leases 

         

          12.1 As lessee 

         

          
12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 

   

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

 

  

Buildings 

 

Other 

 

Total 

 

Total 

 

  

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 Payments recognised as an expense 

         Minimum lease payments 

 

3,457 

 

17 

 

3,474 

 

5,737 

 Contingent rents 

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

          -    

 Sub-lease payments 

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

          -    

 Total   3,457   17   3,474 

 

5,737 

 

          

          Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for 

future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these 

arrangements. 

          12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 

     

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

 

  

Buildings 

 

Other 

 

Total 

 

Total 

 

  

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 

£000 

 Payable: 

         No later than one year 

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

          -    

 Between one and five years 

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

          -    

 After five years 

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

                  -    

 

          -    

 Total                     -                        -                        -    

 

          -    

 

          

          12.2 As lessor 

         

          The clinical commissioning group has no lessor arrangements as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 
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        13 Property, plant and equipment 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any property, plant or equipment as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil).  

 

        13.1 Additions to assets under construction 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any assets under construction as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

        13.2 Donated assets 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any donated assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

        13.3 Government granted assets 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any government granted assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

        13.4 Property revaluation 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any property revaluation as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

        13.5 Compensation from third parties 

       

        The clinical commissioning group does not have any compensation from third parties as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

        13.6 Write downs to recoverable amount 

       

    The clinical commissioning group does not have any assets which have been written down as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 

nil). 

        13.7 Temporarily idle assets 

       

        The clinical commissioning group had no temporarily idle assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

        13.8 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets 

       

        The clinical commissioning group had no fully depreciated assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 
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       14 Intangible non-current assets 

      

       The clinical commissioning group had no intangible assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

 

       14.1 Donated assets 

      

       The clinical commissioning group does not have any donated assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

 

       14.2 Government granted assets 

      

       The clinical commissioning group does not have any government granted assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

       14.3 Revaluation 

      

       The clinical commissioning group does not have any intangible asset revaluation as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

       14.4 Compensation from third parties 

      

   The clinical commissioning group does not have any compensation from third parties as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

       14.5 Write downs to recoverable amount 

      

   The clinical commissioning group does not have any assets which have been written down as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 

nil). 

       14.6 Non-capitalised assets 

      

   The clinical commissioning group does not have any non-capitalised assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

       14.7 Temporarily idle assets 

      

       The clinical commissioning group had no temporarily idle assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

 

       14.8 Cost or valuation of fully amortised assets 

      

       The clinical commissioning group had no fully depreciated assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

 

       15 Investment property 

      

       The clinical commissioning group had no investment property as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

  

       16 Inventories 

      

       The clinical commissioning group had no inventories as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

    

       



 

 148 

NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2014/15 

     

        17  Trade and other receivables 

  

Current 

 

Current 

  

   

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

  

   

£000 

 

£000 

  NHS receivables: Revenue 

  

92 

 

1,172 

  NHS prepayments and accrued income 

  

56 

 

              -    

  Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 

  

455 

 

406 

  Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income 

  

8 

 

67 

  VAT 

  

5 

 

10 

  Total Trade & other receivables 

  

616 

 

1,655 

  

        Total current and non current  

  

616 

 

1,655 

  

        The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by the Government to provide funding to clinical 

commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary. 

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 

  

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

  

   

£000 

 

£000 

  By up to three months 

  

                  -    

 

154 

  By three to six months 

  

                  -    

 

6 

  By more than six months 

  

                  -    

 

             -    

  Total 

  

                  -    

 

160 

  

        The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil) . 

17.2  Provision for impairment of receivables 

       The clinical commissioning group did not make any provision for impairment of receivables during 2014/15.  (2013/14 nil). 

        18 Other financial assets 

       The clinical commissioning group had no other financial assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

    

        19 Other current assets 

       The clinical commissioning group had no other current assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

    

        20 Cash and cash equivalents 

       

 

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

    

 

£000 

 

£000 

    Balance at 1 April 2014 213 

 

                  -    

    Net change in year (135) 

 

213 

    Balance at 31 March 2015 78 

 

213 

    

        Made up of: 

       Cash with the Government Banking Service 78 

 

213 

    Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 78 

 

213 

    

        Balance at 31 March 2015 78 

 

213 

    

        21 Non-current assets held for sale 

       The clinical commissioning group had no non-current assets held for sale as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 
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      22 Analysis of impairments and reversals 

     

      The clinical commissioning group had no impairments or reversals of impairments recognised in expenditure during 2014/15.  

(2013/14 nil). 

      

23 Trade and other payables 

Current 

  

Current 

 2014/15 

  

2013/14 

 

 

£000 

  

£000 

 

      NHS payables: revenue 221 

  

358 

 NHS accruals and deferred income 4,550 

  

3,485 

 Non-NHS payables: revenue 950 

  

6,394 

 Non-NHS accruals and deferred income 14,743 

  

8,324 

 Social security costs 12 

  

                  -    

 Tax 17 

  

                  -    

 Other payables 35 

  

89 

 Total Trade & Other Payables 20,528 

  

18,650 

 

      Included in 'other' payables are outstanding pension contributions of £13,000. 

 

      

In 2013/14, Non-NHS accruals were mapped to Non-NHS payables: revenue.  For 2014/15, NHS England has remapped 

these codes to Non-NHS accruals and deferred income. 

 

      24 Other financial liabilities 

     

      

      25 Other liabilities 

     

      The clinical commissioning group had no other liabilities as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

      26 Borrowings 

     

     The clinical commissioning group had no borrowings as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

 

      27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements 

  
     The clinical commissioning group had no PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangements that were excluded from the 

SoFP as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

 

      28 Finance lease obligations 

     
The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease obligations as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

      29 Finance lease receivables 

     
The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease receivables as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 
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30   Provisions 

      

 

Current 

 

Current 

   

 

2014/15 

 

2013/14 

   

 

£000 

 

£000 

   Continuing Healthcare 13 

 

                  - 

   Total 13 

 

                  -    

   

       Total current and non-current 13 

 

                  -    

   
       

 

Continuing 

Healthcare 

 

Total 

   

 

£000s 

 

£000s 

   Balance at 1 April 2014                    -    

 

                  -    

   

       Arising during the year 13 

 

13 

   Balance at 31 March 2015 13 

 

13 

   

       Expected timing of cash flows: 

      Within one year 13 

 

13 

   Balance at 31 March 2015 13 

 

13 

   

       31 Contingencies 

      

       The clinical commissioning group had no contingencies as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

   

       32 Commitments 

      

       32.1 Capital commitments 

             The clinical commissioning group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

       32.2 Other financial commitments 

             
The clinical commissioning group had no non-cancellable contracts (which were not leases, PFI contracts or other service 

concession arrangements) as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 
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33 Financial instruments 

      

       33.1 Financial risk management 

      

       Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in 

creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. 

       Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of 

financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing 

risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical 

commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are 

generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical 

commissioning group in undertaking its activities. 

       
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within 

the clinical commissioning group’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 

activity is subject to review by the clinical commissioning group’s internal auditor. 

        

33.1.1 Currency risk 

      

       The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with all transactions, assets and liabilities being in 

the UK and sterling based. The clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The clinical commissioning 

group therefore has no exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

       33.1.2 Interest rate risk 

      

       The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed 

by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is 

charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group has no 

borrowings and therefore has no exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

       33.1.3 Credit risk 

      

       Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group’s revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the clinical 

commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in 

receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note. 

       33.1.4 Liquidity risk 

      

       The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits agreed with NHS 

England, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down 

cash to cover expenditure, from NHS England, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, 

exposed to significant liquidity risks. 
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        33 Financial instruments cont'd 

       

        33.2 Financial assets 

       

   

   

Loans and 

Receivables 

 

Total 

  

   

2014/15 

 

2014/15 

  

   

£000 

 

£000 

  

        Receivables: 

       -          NHS 

  

92 

 

92 

  -          Non-NHS 

  

455 

 

455 

  Cash at bank and in hand 

  

78 

 

78 

  Total at 31 March 2015 

  

625 

 

625 

  

        

   

Loans and 

Receivables 

 

Total 

  

   

2013/14 

 

2013/14 

  

   

£000 

 

£000 

  

        Receivables: 

       -          NHS 

  

1,172 

 

1,172 

  -          Non-NHS 

  

406 

 

406 

  Cash at bank and in hand 

  

213 

 

213 

  Total at 31 March 2014 

  

1,791 

 

1,791 

  

        

        33.3 Financial liabilities 

       

   

   

Other 

 

Total 

  

   

2014/15 

 

2014/15 

  

   

£000 

 

£000 

  

        Payables: 

       -          NHS 

  

4,771 

 

4,771 

  -          Non-NHS 

  

15,728 

 

15,728 

  Total at 31 March 2015 

  

20,499 

 

20,499 

  

        

   

Other 

 

Total 

  

   

2013/14 

 

2013/14 

  

   

£000 

 

£000 

  

        Payables: 

       -          NHS 

  

3,843 

 

3,843 

  -          Non-NHS 

  

14,718 

 

14,718 

  Total at 31 March 2014 

  

18,561 

 

18,561 
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        34 Operating segments 

       The clinical commissioning group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services. 

        35 Pooled budgets 

       The clinical commissioning group had entered into a pooled budget with: 

    -  Middlesbrough Council 

       -  Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council 

       -  Stockton Council 

       -  Hartlepool Council 

       -  Hartlepool and Stockton clinical commissioning group 

               The pool is hosted by Middlesbrough Council.  Under the arrangement, funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 

2006 for the loan of community equipment.  The memorandum account for the pooled budget is: 

        

  

2014/15 

  

2013/14 

  

  

£000 

  

£000 

  Income 

 

709 

  

719 

  Expenditure 

 

591 

  

514 

  Net Underspend 

 

118 

  

205 

          36 NHS Lift investments 

       The clinical commissioning group had no NHS Lift investments as at 31 March 2015. 

     

        37 Intra-government and other balances 

       

  

Current 

Receivables 

  

Current 

Payables 

  

  

2014/15 

  

2014/15 

  

  

£000 

  

£000 

  Balances with: 

       -          Other Central Government bodies 

 

5 

  

42 

  -          Local Authorities 

 

165 

  

1,739 

          Balances with NHS bodies: 

       -          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 

 

74 

  

562 

  -          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 

 

74 

  

4,209 

  Total of balances with NHS bodies: 

 

148 

  

4,771 

  
        -          Bodies external to Government 

 

298 

  

13,976 

  

        Total balances at 31 March 2015 

 

616 

  

20,528 

  

        

  

Current 

Receivables 

  

Current 

Payables 

  

  

2013/14 

  

2013/14 

  

  

£000 

  

£000 

  Balances with: 

       -          Other Central Government bodies 

 

10 

  

                -    

  -          Local Authorities 

 

194 

  

2,244 

  

        Balances with NHS bodies: 

       -          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 

 

914 

  

293 

  -          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 

 

258 

  

3,550 

  Total of balances with NHS bodies: 

 

1,172 

  

3,843 

  

        -          Bodies external to Government 

 

279 

  

12,563 

  Total balances at 31 March 2014 

 

1,655 

  

18,650 
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      38 Related party transactions 

     
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows: 

Member                                    

Period Related Party 

Payments 

to Related 

Party 

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party 

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party 

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party 

  

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr J Drury                                  

April - March 2015 

Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 

Foundation Trust 42,382   0  156  10  

Dr Khapra                                 

January - March 2015 Crossfell Medical Practice 22  0  101  0  

Dr M Milner                               

April - March 2015 Huntcliff Surgery 111  0  54  0  

Dr M Milner                               

April - March 2015 

Northern Doctors Urgent Care 

(Teesside Urgent Care) 2,436  0  0  73  

Dr V Nanda                              

April - March 2015 The Discovery Practice 67  0  53  0  

Dr V Nanda                              

April - March 2015 

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS 

Foundation Trust 2,726  0  5  30  

Dr N Rowell                             

April - March 2015 Endeavour Practice 68  0  74  0  

Dr N Rowell                             

April - March 2015 

South Tees Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust 208,782  0  3,377  8  

Dr A Tahmassebi                   

April - March 2015 Bentley Medical Practice 72  0  58  0  

Dr A Tahmassebi                   

April - March 2015 Park Avenue Surgery 78  0  128  0  

Dr J Walker                              

April - March 2015 Manor House Surgery 133  0  56  0  

Dr H Waters                             

April - November 2014 Village Medical Centre 78  0  0  0  

Dr H Waters                             

April - November 2014 

North East & Cumbria Academic 

Health Science Network 0  0  8  0  

Ms J Golightly                             

April - March 2015 

NHS Hartlepool & Stockton Clinical 

Commissioning Group 202  4,312  510  67  

Mr S Gregory                            

April - March 2015 

Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 

Foundation Trust 42,382  0  156  10  

Mr P Race                                 

April - March 2015 

South Tees Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust 208,782  0  3,377  8  

      

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a 

significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For 

example: 

-   NHS England (including North England Commissioning Support Unit); 
   

 -   NHS Foundation Trusts; 
    

 -   NHS Trusts; 
    

 -   NHS Litigation Authority;  
    

 -   NHS Property Services. 
    

 
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other 

government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have 

been with Middlesbrough Council and Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council. 
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        39 Events after the end of the 

reporting period 
 

      

        There are no post balance sheet events that will have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical 

commissioning group. 

        40 Losses and special payments 

       

        The clinical commissioning group had no losses and special payments cases during 2014/15.  (2013/14 nil). 

        41 Third party assets 

       

        The clinical commissioning group had no third party assets as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

        42 Financial performance targets 

       

        Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 

The clinical commissioning group’s performance against those duties was as follows: 

        

        

 

2014/15 2014/15 2013/14 2013/14 

 

Target Performance Target Performance 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Expenditure not to exceed income 403,519 395,208 387,308 383,476 

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions -                     -                -                    -    

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 403,519 395,208 387,308 383,476 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions 

                                                                                        

-                     -                -                    -    

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 

                                                                                  

-                     -                -                    -    

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 6,792 6,292 6,850 5,884 

        

        43 Impact of IFRS  
      Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the clinical commissioning group during the 2014/15 financial year.  

(2013/14 nil). 

        44 Analysis of charitable reserves 

        
       The clinical commissioning group had no charitable reserves as at 31 March 2015.  (2013/14 nil). 

 


